
 

 
 

 

CABINET 
 

4.00 pm WEDNESDAY, 17TH JULY, 2019 
 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

This Agenda has been prepared by the  
Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 

contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 
 

Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 
on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 

 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 
Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


 

OPEN SESSION 

Strategic 

3. Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 – Quarter 1   

 To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

5 - 10 

4. Capital Budget Monitoring 2019/20 – Quarter 1   

 To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

11 - 16 

5. Support To The Lord Lieutenants Office Of Mid 
Glamorgan  

 

 To consider report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

17 - 20 

Portfolio 

6. Cwm Taf Carers Annual Report 2018-19   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

21 - 72 

7. Food Enforcement Service Plan 2019/20   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

73 - 126 

8. Changes To The Welsh Government Free 
Swimming Initiative And Grant  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

127 - 132 

9. LMS Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation 2019-20   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

133 - 164 

Information Reports 

10. Support to Special Guardians   

 To receive report of the Chief Officer Social 
Services 
 

165 - 168 



11. Change And Wellbeing Programme Quarter 4 
Progress 2018/19  

 

 To receive report of the Deputy Chief Executive 
 

169 - 174 

CLOSED SESSION 

Exempt 

In order for the following to be considered in private, it is suggested that the 
public be excluded from the meeting on the grounds that it involves the likely 
disclosure of exempt information as defined in Paragraph (14) under Part 4 of 
Schedule 12A Section 100 (A) (4) of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

12. Capita One - Hosting and Technical Support   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Education 
 

175 - 188 

13. Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan – Appointment 
of Design-Led Team  

 

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

189 - 194 

14. YMCA Re-Development   

 To consider report of the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration 
 

195 - 200 

RE-OPENED SESSION 

15. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 

  
COMPOSITION: Councillors     K O'Neill (Chair) 

                       L Mytton (Vice-Chair)  
  
 Councillors     A Barry, C Davies, D Hughes and 

G Thomas 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 – Quarter 1 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The report details the projected revenue outturn for 2019/20 as at 30th June 2019, 

that is the 1st Quarter, and was considered at Budget Board on 3rd July 2019. 
 
1.2 The report advises Cabinet of the projected outturn position for the 2019/20 financial 

year whilst focusing on projected major budget variances. 
 
1.3 A net revenue deficit of £989,000 is projected for the financial year. The main 

projected budget deficits are within the Social Services Department (£625,000), the 
Neighbourhood Service Department (£150,000) and net Corporate Costs 
(£130,000). Measures to address the projected budget deficit are currently being 
identified.  

 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION(S) that 
 
2.1 The third Revenue Budget Monitoring report for the 2019/20 financial year based on 

1st Quarter projections be accepted. 
 
2.2 Budget Virements outlined in Appendix 2 be approved. 
 
2.3 Managers to urgently address projected budget deficits within their respective 

service areas, identifying all possible remedial measures to offset projected deficits, 
be approved.  

 

Date Written 3rd July 2019 

Report Author Steve Jones / Ian Kent / Adam Price 

Service Area Finance 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date *17th July 2019 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



2.4 Managers to continue to monitor all revenue budgets and immediately notify the 
Chief Finance Officer of potential financial difficulties, be approved. 

      
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
   
3.1 Regular planned budget monitoring is crucial in ensuring effective financial 

stewardship and accountability and is governed by the Chartered Institute of Public 
Finance and Accountancy’s recommended best working practices. 

 
3.2 It is considered critical that Budget Monitoring arrangements are continually 

reviewed and enhanced to ensure continued effectiveness with robust challenge 
provided by both the Budget Board and the Change and Wellbeing Programme 
Board. 

  
3.3 This report details the net revenue expenditure position for the period 1st April 2019 

to 30th June 2019 (1st Quarter) and revenue outturn projections for the 2019/20 
financial year, and was considered at Budget Board of 3rd July 2019. 

 
 

4.0 FINANCIAL PROJECTIONS 2019/20 
 
4.1 Detailed in Appendix 1 is the summary Revenue Budget Monitoring statement as at 

30th June 2019, with a net revenue deficit of £989,000 projected for the 2019/20 
financial year. 

 
4.2 Detailed in Appendix 2 are requested Budget virements resulting from budget re-

alignment, required investment and departmental re-configuration. 
 
 

5.0 MAJOR VARIANCES 
 
5.1 A significant net revenue deficit of £625,000 is projected for the Social Services 

Department.  
 

The most significant issue is the additional demand for Children Looked After 
services (Independent Fostering Agencies £281,000, In House, Kinship & 
Emergency/Respite Fostering Services £87,000, and associated Court, Legal and 
Professional costs £70,000).  

 
The Homes for the Elderly budget is projected to overspend by £219,000 due to a 
reduction of income received from self-funding clients, and the Independent 
Commissioned Day Services budget is projected to overspend by £89,000 due to 
additional packages not known about at budget setting.  
 
These pressures are being offset by a projected underspend of £144,000 against the 
Llysfaen Fach Group Home budget, and a projected underspend of £42,000 for 
Integrated Family Support Services. 

Page 6



 
5.2 A deficit of £150,000 is projected for the Neighbourhood Services Department. 
 

The most significant issue is the projected shortfall in Bereavement Services income 
(£101,000). 

 
5.3 A deficit of £152,000 is projected for the Corporate Authority budget.  
 

The most significant issue is a projected overspend of £132,000 against the Council 
Tax Benefit Payments budget resulting from greater demand. Based on data for the 
previous 5 years the projection assumes that the total liability at 31st May 2019 of 
£6.307 million will reduce by £100,000 by the end of the financial year.  
 
There are also unbudgeted costs for security and utilities at the Pengarnddu site 
(£24,000) incurred prior to responsibility for the site transferring to the contractor in 
May 2019.  

 
 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1 A net deficit budget outturn of £989,000 is projected for 2019/20 based on the 

financial position as at 30th June 2019. 
 
6.2 Measures to address the projected budget deficit are currently being identified and 

will be reported to a subsequent Cabinet.  

Page 7



 
7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT  
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4  0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are that the report contributes to the financial sustainability of 
the Council and therefore enables the continued delivery of essential Council services. 
 

 
 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Revenue Budget 
Monitoring Working 
Papers 
 

 
April 2019 to June 2019 

 
Accountancy Department 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report. 

Page 8



 

 

General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 (As at 30 June 2019)

Corporate Summary

01-Apr-19 Vacant 30-Jun-19  

Budget Post Other Budget Outturn

Summary 2019/20 Virements Virements 2019/20 Month 3

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 %

People and Performance

Social Services, Chief Officer Social Services 33,838 -52 -421 33,365 4,859 33,990 625 1.87

Learning, Chief Officer Education 47,469 -8 0 47,461 41,815 47,431 -30 -0.06

81,307 -60 -421 80,826 46,674 81,421 595 0.74

Place and Transformation

Deputy Chief Executive Services 2,250 -25 6 2,231 708 2,217 -14 -0.63

Community Regeneration 3,467 -4 124 3,587 2,246 3,675 88 2.45

Neighbourhood Services 10,997 0 0 10,997 2,350 11,147 150 1.36

Corporate Services 4,346 -29 217 4,534 1,210 4,593 59 1.30

Finance 1,138 0 0 1,138 266 1,155 17 1.49

Legal 1,412 0 75 1,487 256 1,481 -6 -0.40

Human Resources & Organisational Development 752 -6 -1 745 173 715 -30 -4.03

Total 24,362 -64 421 24,719 7,209 24,983 264 1.07

Corporate Costs

Corporate Management - Executive 1,432 0 0 1,432 345 1,410 -22 -1.54

Corporate Authority 18,457 0 0 18,457 7,606 18,609 152 0.82

Total 19,889 0 0 19,889 7,951 20,019 130 0.65

Contributions / Recharges

Non General Fund Allocations -835 0 0 -835 0 -835 0 0.00

Discretionary Non Domestic Rate Relief 94 0 0 94 0 94 0 0.00

Collection Fund Surplus -835 0 0 -835 0 -835 0 0.00

Corporate Vacancy Factor -600 124 0 -476 0 -476 0 0.00

Contribution from Budget Reserve -1,295 0 0 -1,295 0 -1,295 0 0.00

Contribution from Living Wage Reserve -296 0 0 -296 0 -296 0 0.00

Contribution to/from Corporate Investment Fund -188 0 0 -188 0 -188 0 0.00

Contribution to/from General Reserves -483 0 0 -483 0 -483 0 0.00

Centrally funded Teachers/Fire Pensions -827 0 0 -827 0 -827 0 0.00

Total -5,265 124 0 -5,141 0 -5,141 0 0.00

Net Expenditure 120,293 0 0 120,293 61,834 121,282 989 0.82

Variance

Appendix 1

Year End 

Projection

 

P
age 9



 

 

 
General Fund Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 (As at 30 June 2019)

Proposed Budget Virements Appendix 2

Budget

Amount 

£'000 Budget

Amount 

£'000

Client Financial Management Services -218 Benefits 218 CMFS team now consolidated with Benefits 

Compliments and Complaints -77 Legal 77 Team consolidated with Legal team.

Social Care Client Service Strategies -23 Housing Services (RSL's Advice & Strategy) 23 Supporting People grant responsibility now under Housing

ServicesSupporting People -103 Housing Services (RSL's Advice & Strategy) 103 Supporting People grant responsibility now under Housing

ServicesFamily Centre & Contact Services -36 Fostering & Family Placement Team 36 Reconfiguration of Services from Family Centre

Children in Need -212 Child & Family Team 212 Reconfiguration of services into the Child and Family Team

Individual Schools Budget (ISB) -100 EOTAS (PRU) Ty Dysgu 100 Separated to improve budget monitoring of Pupil Referral Unit.

Individual Schools Budget (ISB) -36 Speech Therapists 36 Speech and Language SLA Enhancement

Individual Schools Budget (ISB) -23 Enhanced Provision (1-1 LSA's) 23 UPOSS funding removed

Ynysowen Speech & Language -81 Individual Schools Budget (ISB) 81 Funding new LRB structure

Partial Hearing Classes -39 Individual Schools Budget (ISB) 39 Funding moved to pay for LRB classes 

Individual Schools Budget (ISB) -57 Special Needs Advisory  Teachers 57 Funding for Teacher of the deaf

Strategic Education Projects -14 Multi Agency Adult Safeguarding Hub (MASH) 14 Separated to improve budget monitoring of Strategic Education 

Projects budget line.

Housing Renovation Grants -1

Housing Services (RSL's Advice & Strategy) -1

Corporate Admin -1

Legal -2

Human Resources -1

Waste Depot -114 Depots 114 Centralisation of premises costs budgets as a consequence of

the transfer of waste transfer station to Unit 20.

Virement From Virement To

Reason for Virement

ICT Printing -6 Xerox printers to be paid from one budget for monitoring

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 10



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Capital Budget Monitoring 2019/20 – Quarter 1  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report details the capital expenditure and financing position for the Period 

Ended 30th June 2019 for both core and externally funded capital projects. 
 
1.2    The report details the capital expenditure position for the period 1st April 2019 to 

30th June 2019, together with expenditure projections for the 2019/20 financial year. 
 
1.3 A zero variance budget is projected for both core and grant funded projects for the 

2019/20 financial year based on the financial position as at 30th June 2019, which is 
the end of the first quarter. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that: 
 
2.1     The Capital Monitoring Report for the first quarter of 2019/20 be noted. 
 
2.2 The budget amendments for core funded projects as outlined in 4.1 below, be 

approved. 
 
2.3 The requirement for Officers to continue to rigorously monitor budgets to ensure that 

expenditure remains within approved budgets be approved. 
 
2.4 The requirement for Chief Officers to scrutinise project delivery to ensure 

expenditure remains within approved budgets be approved. 
 

Date Written 2nd July 2019 

Report Author Adele Lewis 

Service Area Finance 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date *17th July 2019 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 The Core Capital Programme as agreed at the Council of 20th February 2019 for the 

2019/20 financial year totalled £14.317 million and was financed through General 
Capital Funding received from the Welsh Government, unsupported borrowing 
through the Prudential Code framework and the utilisation of capital receipts from 
fixed asset disposals. 

 
3.2 Details in respect of core funded projects are outlined in Appendix 1.  
 
3.3 The Council is in the process of securing additional funding through external grants, 

mainly from the Welsh Government and Heritage Lottery Fund totalling £7.208 
million for the 2019/20 financial year. Details in respect of grant/externally funded 
projects are outlined in Appendix 2.   

 

4.0 CORE FUNDED PROJECTS 
 
4.1 Amendments to the budgets of core funded projects, included in appendix 1, are 

required as follows – 
 

 21st Century Schools – Ysgol-Y-Graig – Re-Profiling of the application of WG 
Capital Grants and LGBI funding at the close of 2018/19 has reduced the 
requirement for capital funding of £40,000 in this financial year.  
 

 Schools Capital Maintenance Grant – As per the terms and conditions of the 
grant issued in 2018/19, the Council is required to provide an equivalent 
amount of capital on Schools expenditure in this financial year to that utilised 
on non-school expenditure in 2018/19. An additional £878,000 of core funding 
is therefore needed to meet this requirement. 

 

 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area - Tenders for the development of the Cyfarthfa 
Master Plan have been delayed and the contract is not expected to be 
finalised until August 2019. The remaining budget of £93,000 from 2018/19 is 
therefore requested to be made available in 2019/20 to fund the contract. 

 

 VVP / City Deal - Development of the Heritage Lottery Fund stage 2 initially 
planned for submission in March 2019 has been delayed until May 2019. The 
remaining budget of £22,000 from 2018/19 is therefore requested to be made 
available in 2019/20 to fund the eventual submission. 

 

 Taf Bargoed Area - Contract works planned for the town centre were delayed 
due to emergency works taking priority elsewhere in the Borough. Works 
eventually began on 1st April 2019 and the remaining budget of £26,000 from 
2018/19 is therefore requested to be made available in 2019/20 to fund the 
works. 

 
 
 

Page 12



 Merthyr Vale (Riverside) – An additional £173,000 is required due to the 
following: 

 

o £73,000 to cover the purchase price of the final property which should 
have been completed during 2018/19 but which was delayed until April 
2019. 

o £100,000 to provide for potential home loss claims from former tenants 
of Merthyr Tydfil Housing Association (MTHA) properties vacated 
under the scheme. 
 

 Highways Structural Maintenance – The Capital Funding for Local 
Government Public Highways Refurbishment Grant 2018-21 will provide 
£248,000 towards the programme during 2019/20 resulting in an equivalent 
decrease in the requirement for core capital funding. 

 

 Depot Review Units 3&4 – Negotiation with the landlord of the properties to 
agree a lump sum payment as opposed to undertaking reinstatement works is 
still ongoing. A carry forward of £322,000 being the residual budget for 
2018/19 is requested to provide adequate funding. 
 

 CCTV Upgrades – As per the Cabinet Report of 20th March 2019, £35,000 is 
required to carry out essential works. 

 
4.2 Appendix 1 shows that £241,000 of capital expenditure has been incurred on core 

financed projects up to 30th June 2019. Capital expenditure tends to be weighted 
towards the second half of the financial year. 

 
4.3 There are currently no contributions to the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal included 

within this report, this will be reported during the year as details are known. 
 

5.0 OTHER CAPITAL PROJECTS 
 

5.1  Other capital projects totalling £7.208 million funded from a variety of external capital 
grants together with the related financing profiles are detailed in Appendix 2. It 
should be noted that the funding is in varying stages of approval by the awarding 
bodies and has not been secured in all cases. 

 
5.2 Utilisation of each individual grant is defined by detailed prescriptive terms and 

conditions specific to that grant, including eligibility for carry over to the following 
financial year. 

 

6.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
6.1     A zero variance budget is projected for both core and grant funded projects for the 

2019/20 financial year based on the financial position as at 30th June 2019, which is 
the end of the first quarter. 

 
 

Page 13



7.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4  0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are that the capital budgets support the Council to achieve its 

Well-being Objectives through its Capital Programme. 
 

 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Capital Budget 

Monitoring Reports 
 

  
June 2019 

 
Accountancy Department 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 14



Capital Monitoring Statement 2019/20

(For the period Ended 30th June 2019) Appendix 1

Core Funded Projects Budget

Amendment 

to Budget

Revised 

Budget

Outturn to 

Date

Projection 

2019/20 Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education

21st Century Schools Programme 5,051 (40) 5,011 0 5,011 0

Education Other 90 878 968 0 968 0

Physical Regeneration Programme 1,950 141 2,091 110 2,091 0

Riverside 1,201 173 1,374 76 1,374 0

Engineering & Transport Infrastructure 1,907 (248) 1,659 0 1,659 0

Housing & Corporate 4,118 357 4,475 55 4,475 0

Total 14,317 1,261 15,578 241 15,578 0

Core Funding Available Budget 

Amendment 

to Budget

Revised 

Budget

Outturn to 

Date

Projection 

2019/20 Variance

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

General Capital Grant 1,753 (248) 1,505 165 1,505 0

Supported Borrowing 2,121 (352) 1,769 0 1,769 0

Capital Receipts 600 0 600 0 600 0

Unsupported Borrowing 9,843 1,611 11,454 76 11,454 0

Capital Contribution Reserve 0 250 250 0 250 0

Total 14,317 1,261 15,578 241 15,578 0  

P
age 15



Capital Monitoring Statement 2019/20

(For the period Ended 30th June 2019) Appendix 2

Specified Grant/External Funded Projects

Budget       

£000

Amendment 

to Budget   

£000

Revised   

Budget          

£000

Outturn to 

Date    

£000

Projection 

2019/20  

£000

Variance  

£000

Education

21st Century Schools Programme 1,330 0 1,330 0 1,330 0

Education Other 501 0 501 4 501 0

Physical Regeneration Programme 4,558 0 4,558 0 4,558 0

Engineering & Transport Infrastructure 248 0 248 0 248

Housing and Corporate 571 0 571 56 571 0

Total 7,208 0 7,208 60 7,208 0

Specific Grant/Other Funding Available

Budget       

£000

Amendment 

to Budget   

£000

Revised   

Budget          

£000

Outturn to 

Date    

£000

Projection 

2019/20  

£000

Variance  

£000

Welsh Government 6,537 0 6,537 60 6,537 0

Integrated Care Fund 21 0 21 0 21 0

Heritage Lottery Fund 400 0 400 0 400 0

Other Contrbutions 250 0 250 0 250 0

Total 7,208 0 7,208 60 7,208 0

  
 

P
age 16



Civic Centre, Castle Street, 
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

SUPPORT TO THE LORD LIEUTENANTS OFFICE OF MID GLAMORGAN 

 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is for Cabinet to consider Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

Council supporting the role of the Lord Lieutenant of Mid Glamorgan. 
 
1.2 It is a great honour for Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council to be asked to support 

the Lord Lieutenant.  The Clerk to the Lord Lieutenant is seen as a prestigious role 
and is given high regard and respect across the county. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATION that 
 
2.1 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council provides the necessary support to the office of 

the Lord Lieutenant of Mid Glamorgan to be led by the Communications, Consultation 
and Engagement Manager as the nominated clerk; be approved. 

 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 
3.1 Early this year, the Lord Lieutenant of Mid Glamorgan, Dame Kate Thomas informed 

the Council of her forthcoming retirement and that Professor Peter Vaughan QPM 
would be appointed as her replacement in May 2019. 

 
3.2 At the same time, the Council was also advised that the Clerk to the Lord Lieutenant, 

Mary Squire MVO, would also be retiring. 
 

Date Written 8th July, 2019 

Report Author Ellis Cooper 

Service Area Place and Transformation 

Committee Division Strategic 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 17th July 2019 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



3.3 Her Majesty the Queen appoints a Lord Lieutenant for each County on the advice of 
the Prime Minister. The Lord Lieutenant for each county is Her Majesty’s 
representative and it is their first and foremost duty to uphold the dignity of the 
Crown. 

 
3.4 Lord-Lieutenants were originally appointed in Henry VIII's reign, in the 1540s, to take 

over the military duties of the Sheriff and control the military forces of the Crown. In 
1662 they were given entire control of the militia. The official title of the office at this 
time was His or Her Majesty's "lieutenant for the county of x", but as almost all office-
holders were peers they were referred to as "lord lieutenant". The Forces Act of 1871 
transferred command of militias back to the Crown and over subsequent years the 
emphasis shifted towards today's ceremonial role and wider involvement with 
communities throughout the country. 

 
3.5 There are 98 Lord-Lieutenants, who cover all areas of the UK.  As the sovereign’s 

representative in his or her county, the Lord-Lieutenant remains non-political and 
does not hold office in any political party.  They are appointed for life, although the 
customary age of retirement is seventy-five  

 
3.6 Lord-Lieutenants are responsible for the organisation of all official Royal visits to 

their county. On the day of an engagement they escort the Royal visitor around the 
different locations — not simply The Queen and The Duke of Edinburgh, but any 
member of the Royal Family. 

 
3.7 Lord-Lieutenants also carry out other duties in their county, such as the presentation 

of decorations (where the recipient is unable to attend an Investiture).  The Queens 
Award for Export and Technology and Queen’s Scout and Queen’s Guide Awards.  
As well as taking a particular interest in the armed forces (including ex-Service men 
and women and their families) Lord –Lieutenant have a close association with the 
magistracy and higher courts in their areas – thus demonstrating the maintenance of 
historical links. 

 
3.8 A Lord-Lieutenant will also be required to appoint a Clerk to support him in office.  

The Lord Lieutenant may appoint whichever person of standing and integrity he 
wishes to be clerk of the Lieutenancy 

 
 

4.0  NEXT STEPS 
 
4.1 On receipt of the announcement of the retirement of the former Lord Lieutenant and 

the Clerk, a request was made to the Chief Executive of the Council to consider 
hosting this role within the local authority. In many areas, this role is normally filled by 
a senior officer of a local authority.   Much of the day to day work may in practice be 
delegated to other members of local authority staff. 

 
4.2 Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council has always worked very closely with the Lord 

Lieutenants office of Mid Glamorgan, particularly when hosting royal visits and high 
level civic events. This has been a positive relationship and helped to raise the profile 
of the County Borough. 

 

Page 18



4.3 In the past ten years, the local authority has hosted more than ten royal events and 
has developed good working relationships with other partner organisations such as:  
Buckingham Palace, Clarence House, Metropolitan and South Wales Police etc. 

 
4.4 Members will be aware that the Communications, Consultation and Engagement 

Manager has previously taken a lead role in all royal visits and high level civic events.  
With the knowledge and expertise in these areas, it is recommended that, for the time 
being, the Communications, Consultation and Engagement Manager would be best 
placed to support the Lord Lieutenants office. 

 
4.5 It is believed that this extra work would have a minimal impact on the other day to day 

duties of the Communications, Consultation and Engagement Team however a report 
would be brought back to Cabinet to review this situation in 12 months’ time. 

 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications within this report.  Any job evaluation implications 

will be absorbed within existing budgets.  
 
5.2 Any Travel and Subsistence expenses applied to this role would be claimed back 

from Welsh Government. 
 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
0 of 4 0 of 4 4 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

0 of 5 0 of 5 5 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
All outcomes are neutral.  As specific projects emerge IIAs will be developed accordingly.   

 

Page 19



 
 
 
 
 
ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE  

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

 
 
 
 

Page 20



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 

 

 

 

 
 
 
To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Cwm Taf Carers Annual Report 2018-19 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Prior to the implementation of the Social Services and Wellbeing (SSWB) Act 2014, 

University Health Boards (UHBs) were given a lead role under the Welsh 
Government’s Carers Measure to work with partners including Local Authorities, 
Third Sector and importantly, Carers themselves.  We were required to submit an 
Annual Report to Welsh Government to provide an overview of the activities 
undertaken as part of the implementation of the Carers Measure.  Although the 
Carers Measure has been repealed, the requirement for an Annual report has been 
continued for 2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 as part of the conditions of transitional 
funding from WG in place until March 2020. 

 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that: 
 
2.1 The contents of this report be noted and that the Annual report is also being 

submitted for approval by the Cabinet in Rhondda Cynon Taf and Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg University Health Board. 

 
2.2 Cabinet notes the Annual Report was due in Welsh Government at the end of May 

2019.  However, in line with previous practice which has been acceptable to Welsh 
Government, as the timeline of Cabinets in Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf 
County Borough Councils and UHB Board meetings did not neatly fit, a draft report 
will be submitted, with the final version sent to Welsh Government following approval 
by all three partners.   

 
2.3 The Annual Report, attached as Appendix 1, for submission to Welsh Government 

be approved. 

Date Written June 2019 

Report Author Angela Edevane 

Service Area Social Services 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 17th July 2019 

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 As part of the Regional Work programme of the Cwm Taf Social Services and Well-

being Partnership Board, a new Cwm Taf Carers Strategy was developed in 2016 to 
replace the separate plans of partner organisations.  Working with partners across 
Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf, including Carers themselves, the Cwm Taf 
Carers Strategy 2016-2019 covers Carers of all ages.  

 
3.2 Having reviewed our current services, building on the progress made implementing 

the Carers Measure from 2012-2015 and taking into account the requirements of the 
SSWB Act as well as the views expressed during engagement and consultation with 
Carers and staff, we developed the following Vision:   

 

 
Carers of all ages in Cwm Taf will be recognised and valued as being fundamental 
to supportive and resilient families and communities. They will not have to care 
alone and will be able to access information, advice and support to help meet their 
needs, empowering them to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, balancing their caring 
role and their life outside caring. 
 

 
3.3  A Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group has been established with Member and senior 

officer representatives from across Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Rhondda 
Cynon Taf County Borough Council, Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board 
and the Third Sector.  The Carers Partnership Group will monitor the implementation 
of the Strategy and promote the integration of services for Carers, as required by 
Part 9 of the SSWB Act.  

 
3.4  Throughout 2018/19, Cwm Taf Morgannwg UHB, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough 

Council and Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council have built upon the 
success of the previous year and continued to work collaboratively together and with 
other partners in improving recognition of Carers and providing appropriate 
information and support.  The Annual Report provides an opportunity to reflect on the 
progress we have made to date and looks ahead to the challenges and opportunities 
we will face in 2019/20. 

 
3.5  Key areas of work have included:  
 

 The provision of Carer Aware training (both via e-learning and face to face) to 
further expand the knowledge of both Carers Champions and staff throughout 
the Cwm Taf region; 

 The sharing of best practice at an annual Carers Champion conference held in 
April 2018 with a focus on Young Carers and Young Adult carers;  

 Working with partners to deliver the annual Action Plan; 

 Continued with the Cwm Taf Partnership Group to oversee implementation of the 
Strategy, reporting to the SSWB Partnership Board 

 
 
 

Page 22



3.6 In 2017/18, a piece of research on ‘The development of a Cwm Taf Regional 
Integrated Service Model for Carers’ was carried out by exploring the national and 
local context, good practice from across the UK, interviewing key stakeholders and 
reviewing the commissioning needs of the Cwm Taf region.  The Welsh Institute for 
Health and Social Care was appointed to assist the Partnership to: 

 

 Review the existing model of services for Carers 

 Identify the most effective options for a regional integrated service model for 
Carers 

 Complete a detailed option appraisal with clear recommendations for the 
consideration of the Partnership Board.  Reference should specifically be made 
to Young Carers, Adult Carers and Respite services. 

 Support the development of an outline implementation plan to pursue the agreed 
service option for the region. 

 
The findings from the Review are reported to TLG and the Regional Partnership 
Board.  Actions are being taken forward through the Regional Plan.  

 
3.7 The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy has identified priority areas for investment going 

forward under the following 5 aims. A detailed Action Plan was developed for 
2017/18 and the plan for 2019/20 is being finalised.  

 
3.8 The Aims for the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy are:  
 

 Aim 1:  Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their contributions 

 Aim 2:  Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, advice & assistance 
to Carers of all ages  

 Aim 3:  Providing support, services & training to meet the needs of Carers of all 
ages  

 Aim 4:  Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice & control over their 
lives 

 Aim 5:  Working together to make the most of our resources for the benefit of 
Carers of all ages 

 
3.9   Welsh Government has 3 National Priorities for 2019/20 that we also have to 

implement alongside the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy: 
 

 Supporting life alongside caring – all Carers must have reasonable breaks from 
their caring role to enable them to maintain their capacity to care, and to have a 
life beyond caring. 

 Identifying and recognising Carers – fundamental to the success of delivering 
improved outcomes for Carers is the need to improve Carer’s recognition of their 
role and to ensure they can access the necessary support,  

 Providing information, advice and assistance – it is important that Carers receive 
the appropriate information and advice where and when they need it. 

 
 
 
 

Page 23



 
3.10  Funding was previously available from Welsh Government to deliver the Carers 

Measure - whilst the funding came to the UHB (because under the Measure Health 
Boards were given the lead for implementation) the funding was used in partnership.   

 
Welsh Government is providing transitional funding of £1million per annum for Wales 
in 2018/19 (£111K for Cwm Taf) to protect and build on progress to date and to 
support the expansion of Carers rights on the implementation of the SSWB Act.  
Funding will be provided on the understanding that we work in partnership to 
implement the Act by: 

  

 Strengthening the partnership approach at a local level;  

 Creating opportunities to enable third sector to fully participate in the delivery;  

 Setting out how we intend to plan and deliver the increased responsibilities for 
health and the new responsibilities for local authorities;  

 Ensuring this transitional funding is used as the means to embed the practice of 
mainstreaming Carers’ needs, so it is common practice. 

 
3.11 Welsh Government has stipulated, with regards to the Carers allocation for 2019/20: 

 

 In relation to Identification and Recognition:  
 
It is expected that you work with partners to implement a scheme which supports GP 
practices to develop their Carer awareness and ways of working to support Carers. 
 
In Cwm Taf, we are implementing an accreditation scheme with Agored Cymru in GP 
practices.  Work will continue with Carers champions in primary care to roll out this 
programme. 

 

 In relation to Information, Advice and Assistance: 
 
Discharge from hospital has been identified as an area where support for Carers 
needs to be improved.  There is a need to improve IAA provided to all Carers 
following discharge from hospital of someone who is cared for.  This includes 
involving Carers in developing any discharge plans. 

 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1 There are no financial implications aligned to this report.  The Cwm Taf Carers 

Partnership oversees the use of the Welsh Government transitional funding, 
reporting to the SSWB Transformation Leadership Group and the SSWB Partnership 
Board. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 24



5.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
5.1 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
2 of 4 0 of 4  2 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

4 of 5 0 of 5 1 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10 8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
The main positive impact is the support to carers. 
 
There are no negative impacts. 
 

 

 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 
Annual Report 2018-19 
 

May 2018 Attached as Appendix 1 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 1 

Appendix 1 

    
           
           

      
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cwm Taf Carers 

Strategy 
Annual Report 

2018 - 2019 
 

Page 27



 

 2 

CONTENTS 
 

 Content Page 

 Foreword  3 

1 Cwm Taf Carers: An Overview 4 

2 Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 6 

3 Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group 8 

4 Key areas of work in 2017/18 

4.1. Cwm Taf Regional Integrated Model for Carers Review 

10 

 4.2. Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 12 

 4.2.1  Aim 1 Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their 
contributions 

 

14 

 4.2.2   Aim 2 Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, 
advice & assistance to Carers of all ages 

 

25 

 4.2.3   Aim 3 Providing support, services & training to meet the 
needs of Carers of all ages 

 

29 

 4.2.4   Aim 4 Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice & 
control over their lives 

 

39 

 4.2.5   Aim 5 Working together to make the most of our resources 
for the benefit of Carers of all ages 

 

41 

5 Performance Monitoring 44 

6 Looking Forward 45 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



 

 3 

Cwm Taf Carers Annual Report 2018 – 2019 
 

Foreword 

The Cwm Taf Social Services and Wellbeing Partnership Board have 
committed to a range of strategic intentions across the region in line with the 
Social Services and Well-being Act 2016 (Wales).  This has included the 
development of a Cwm Taf Carers Strategy and the establishment of a Cwm 
Taf Carers Partnership Group. 
 
This report provides an overview of the work undertaken by partners working 
with Carers in 2018/19 to help us achieve the Vision we have set out for Cwm 
Taf. 
 

 

Carers of all ages in Cwm Taf will be recognised and valued as 
being fundamental to supportive and resilient families and 
communities. They will not have to care alone and will be able to 
access information, advice and support to help meet their needs, 
empowering them to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, balancing their 
caring role and their life outside caring. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Greg Dix 
Director of Nursing, Midwifery 
and Patient Services 
Cwm Taf University Health Board 

 
 
 
 
 
Lisa Curtis-Jones 
Chief Officer Social Services 
Merthyr Tydfil County 
Borough Council  

 
 
 
 
 
Giovanni Isingrini 
Group Director of Community 
& Children Services  
Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council  

 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



 

 4 

1.  Cwm Taf Carers: An Overview 

 
We recognise that there is no typical Carer. Carers of all ages, whether Young 
Carers, Sibling Carers, Young Adult Carers, Parent Carers of children with a 
disability, working age or older Carers, look after family, partners or friends in 
need of help because they are ill, frail or have a disability. The care they 
provide can be physical, emotional or social. Carers are individuals who may 
not see themselves as Carers, but consider themselves above all a parent, 
wife, husband, partner, son, daughter, friend or neighbour.  
 
People living in Cwm Taf have lower life expectancy and live with a higher 
burden of ill health for longer than elsewhere in Wales. There are areas of 
significant deprivation which also impacts on health and well-being. By 2039, 
the population in Cwm Taf is expected to rise from 295,865 to 304,543 but 
within this figure the numbers aged over 65 years and over will grow 
significantly, with the biggest increase being seen in those aged 85 years and 
over.  We are likely to see a rise in the number of people living with a range of 
chronic conditions such as heart and respiratory disease, as well as cancer 
and dementia. Over 40% of people aged 75 and over in Cwm Taf live alone.  
 
All of these things will have an impact on the need people have for care of 
some kind, much of which will be provided by informal Carers who may be 
family, friends or neighbours.  
 
The 2011 Census provides information about Carers but must be treated with 
some caution as it is based on people “self-reporting” that they are Carers and 
answering the census questions accordingly.  From our engagement, people 
do not always recognise themselves as Carers and the true level of informal 
caring is probably higher. Census data for Cwm Taf tells us that:  
 

 Nearly 13% of the population in Cwm Taf (29,640 Carers in RCT and 
7,427 in Merthyr Tydfil) were providing care to a family member, friend 
or neighbour; This is slightly higher than the all Wales figure of 12% and 
higher than the England and Wales figure of 10%; 

 57% of Carers in Cwm Taf are female and 43% are male;  

 The majority of Carers locally are over the age of 50, with the largest 
group of people (34%) aged 50-64;  

 The number of Carers over the age of 65 is increasing more rapidly 
than the general Carer population.  There has been a 32% increase 
since 2001.  With an ageing population, this is likely to increase further 
over the coming years;  

 There were 3263 young and young adult Carers under the age of 25, an 
increase of 19% since 2001;  

Page 30



 

 5 

 11,752 Carers in Cwm Taf (32%) provide over 50 hours of care per 
week. This has increased from the 2001 Census. This highlights that 
Cwm Taf Carers are providing substantial levels of care, which is 
frequently not recognised or valued and which can often impact on the 
health of the Carer themselves.  

 Census data in 2011 for Cwm Taf Carers showed that 35% of Carers 
rated their health as fair, bad or very bad. 

 
Carers‟ circumstances vary enormously, as can the type and amount of 
support they give.  Caring can be a gradual process as over time someone 
becomes more frail and needs more support or it can happen suddenly, for 
example if someone has an accident or a health problem like a stroke.  Young 
Carers often have adult caring responsibilities while having the legal status of 
children.  Whilst it is also rewarding, caring can be both physically tiring and 
emotionally stressful.  Carers often feel isolated, unsupported and alone, with 
poorer health, less financial security and fewer opportunities to participate in 
day to day life outside caring.  This information reinforces the importance of 
supporting Carers in their caring role. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



 

 6 

2. Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
 
During 2016 – 2017, the Social Services and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 
(SSWB) came into force with an emphasis on wellbeing.  Key principles 
embedded within the Act included: 
 

 Ensuring adults and children who need care and support and Carers 
(including young Carers) have a voice, more control over their lives and 
are at the heart of decision making; 

 Working in partnership, including the integration of services across health 
and social care with a focus on the delivery of preventative approaches, 
based on building strengths and promoting independence and;  

 The provision of appropriate advice, information and assistance, strengths 
based and person centred assessment, inclusive of young people and 
Carers. 

 
Under this Act, Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Tydfil Local Authorities and 
Cwm Taf University Health Board have carried out and published a Population 
Assessment.  The population assessment covers the following groups of 
people: 

 Carers; 

 Children and young people; 

 Learning disability; 

 Mental health; 

 Older people; 

 Physical disability and sensory impairment and; 

 Violence against women, domestic abuse and sexual violence. 
 
The Population Assessment Briefing Documents can be accessed by the link 
below.  
 
http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment 
 
Population Assessment 
 
Undertaking this assessment has given an opportunity to revisit and build on 
what we know about Carers, both in terms of data and the things that Carers 
say are important to them, as summarised in the box below.  It has reaffirmed 
and refined the key areas to focus on, to meet Carers‟ needs for care and 
support.  The headlines from the assessment: 
 

 The higher levels in Cwm Taf of poor physical and mental health, chronic 
illnesses and disabilities, together with an ageing population, have an 
impact on the need for informal care and the number of Carers locally.   

 Carers need to be recognised and valued for their caring role.  Carers 
want to be listened to and have more control over their lives but “one size 
does not fit all.”  

Page 32

http://www.ourcwmtaf.wales/cwm-taf-population-assessment


 

 7 

 Carers must be able to find the information and support they need easily 
and quickly to help them sustain their caring role.  

 Carers want to participate in and stay connected to a life alongside caring.  

 Carers and service providers must work together with more effective 
communication and coordination between services, seeing the person and 
not the problem.  

 
The findings from the Population Assessment also link to other common 
themes.  The things which affect Carers do not stand in isolation.  As 
individuals, they may also be service users in their own right (for example, as 
an older person, someone with a sensory impairment or a mental health 
issue) and their needs will have been the focus of other sections in the 
Population Assessment.   
 
Similarly, the care and support issues facing the person they are caring for will 
be addressed in other sections of the Assessment under the specific themes.  
As the headlines have illustrated, it is really important to recognise the 
overlaps and see people “in the round”, taking a holistic approach to what 
both Carers and the cared for person need, avoiding working in silos and 
ensuring our responses and plans are joined up.   
 
Some of the key issues faced by those covered by the other themes of the 
Population Assessment as well as Carers are:  
 

 Information and advice;  

 Being listened to and understood; 

 Preventative services;  

 Community connectedness and resilience and;  

 Co-ordination and working together.  
 
A common message from Carers and other population groups is that services 
must work together more effectively, both within individual organisations and 
across agencies, particularly where people have multiple or complex needs. 
This is important not just for health and social care but also other areas like 
housing, leisure and transport if needs are going to be met fully. 
 
The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy and its associated Action Plan highlights what 
we need to do to address the findings of the Population Assessment for 
Carers.  The Social Services & Wellbeing Partnership Board must also 
produce an Area Plan in response to the Population Assessment as a whole.  
This was published in April 2018 and can be found here.   
 
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Partnerships/Workingwithothers/Relate
ddocs/CwmTafSSWBREGIONALPLANMarch27th2018.pdf  
 
It is called the Cwm Taf SSWB Regional Plan 2018 – 2023 and contains a 
section on Carers. 
 
 
 

Page 33

https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Partnerships/Workingwithothers/Relateddocs/CwmTafSSWBREGIONALPLANMarch27th2018.pdf
https://www.rctcbc.gov.uk/EN/Council/Partnerships/Workingwithothers/Relateddocs/CwmTafSSWBREGIONALPLANMarch27th2018.pdf


 

 8 

3. Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group  
 
The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group which was established in 2016 and 
overseen the implementation of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016-19 across 
Merthyr Tydfil and Rhondda Cynon Taf, including the development and 
delivery of an annual Action Plan. 
 
The Group has met quarterly throughout 2018/19. 

Principles 

The following principles have been used by the Cwm Taf Carers Partnership 
Group to inform its work: 
 

 We will promote and support effective communication across the 
partnership; 

 We will make sure that users of our services, particularly Carers, are 
able to influence the work of the partnership;  

 We will focus on what matters to the people and communities of Cwm 
Taf; 

 We will promote and develop solutions towards preventing problems 
occurring or getting worse for people in Cwm Taf;  

 We will promote and support collaboration and integration;  

 We will make sure that we strike a balance between short term needs 
and longer term goals;    

 We will listen to, understand and respect individual organisational 
views and the views of other parties; 

 We will conduct business with transparency and openness and; 

 We will fully utilise the wide range of skills, knowledge and experience 
which are available to the Group.  

 
Objectives  
 

 To develop and oversee delivery of an annual Action Plan for the Cwm 
Taf Carers Strategy 2016–19 to ensure its effective implementation.  

 To ensure delivery of the Action Plan and Strategy are monitored and 
reviewed against agreed and understood outcomes and performance 
indicators. 

 To actively engage Carers, young Carers and Carers organisations in 
the planning of services so that their needs are met across Cwm Taf 

 To ensure that Carers are consulted on the commissioning and 
delivery of local services that affect Carers or the person cared for. 

 To ensure appropriate use of funding allocated by Welsh Government 
to support delivery of services for Carers. 

Page 34



 

 9 

 To report regularly to the SSWB Partnership Board on progress, key 
issues and exceptions, escalating any barriers to progress for 
resolution 

 To produce an annual report on progress for the SSWB Partnership 
Board and as required by Welsh Government 

 To appoint task and finish groups as needed to undertake any specific 
pieces of work. 

 To review and action as appropriate any requirements from the 
refreshed Welsh Government Carers Strategy. 

 
REPORTING 
The following reporting and governance arrangements are in place:  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
In effect the Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group will report through the 
Transformation Leadership Group to the Cwm Taf SSWB Partnership Board. 
Individual organisations will also report into their appropriate governing 
bodies, providing information and updates on progress and gaining 
endorsement where this is required. 
 
Membership  
The Group membership includes Carer Representatives as well as Senior 
Representation of Officers and members from Rhondda Cynon Taf County 
Borough Council, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Cwm Taf Health 
Board, Education, Jobcentre Plus, Voluntary and Private Sectors. 
 

Cwm Taf Public 

Services Board 

Cwm Taf 

Social Services and Wellbeing 

Partnership Board 

Local 

Authority 

x 2 
 

Cabinet 

Cwm Taf 

University 

Health 

Board 

 

Transformation Leadership Group 
(Lead officers for the regional plan) 

 

Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group 

Page 35



 

 10 

Other representatives may be invited or co-opted to the Group to express 
their views, contribute to particular agenda items or provide an advisory role. 
Membership will be reviewed annually.  
 

4. Key areas of work in 2018/19 
 
Throughout 2018-19, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council, Rhondda Cynon 
Taf County Borough Council and Cwm Taf University Health Board have built 
upon the success of the previous year and continued to work collaboratively in 

improving support, information and recognition of Carers.  
 
During 2018/19, current services for Carers in Cwm Taf are provided by a 
range of organisations in the statutory and Third Sector.  As well as accessing 
general services like GPs in primary care available to everyone, there are also 
specific services to support Carers, including young Carers and young adult 
Carers. These include:  
 

 In RCT, a Carers Support Project run by the Local Authority.  

 Services commissioned from the Third Sector including Action for 
Children, Barnardos and Age Connects Morgannwg.  

 A network of Carers Champions in settings across the health sector. 

 In Merthyr, services to support Carers were commissioned from third 
sector organisations.  

 
Again, we have faced a number of challenges throughout the year, particularly 
in relation to staff capacity in both the UHB and the two local Authorities as a 
result of vacant staff posts.   
 
Unfortunately, Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council are not in the position 
to  reappoint to their Carers Co-ordinator post.  However, it is anticipated that 
this will be completed in 2019. 
 
Nevertheless, as this Annual report demonstrates, we have continued to 
address the needs of Carers locally and to improve outcomes for them and 
their families. 
 
4.1. Cwm Taf Regional Integrated Model for Carers Review 
 
In 2017/18, in light of the SSWB Act, the Cwm Taf Social Services and 
Wellbeing Partnership Board commissioned consultants from the Welsh 
Institute of Health and Social Care (WIHSC) to carry out a review of a Cwm 
Taf Regional Integrated Model for Carers.   
 
By exploring the National and local context best/good practice from across the 
UK, interviewing key stakeholders and reviewing the commissioning needs of 
the Region, WIHSC: 
 

 Identified the most effective commissioning options including the 
development of an integrated commissioning service; 

Page 36



 

 11 

 Completed a detailed option appraisal with clear recommendations for the 
consideration of the Partnership Board; 

 Supported the development of an outline implementation plan to pursue 
the agreed commissioning service option for the region. 

 
Core messages from the Review were: 
 

 There is good practice across Cwm Taf and some superb staff.  Services 
are probably at least punching their weight when measured against the 
resources available.  However, services do not consistently meet the 
desired standards in terms of quantity, quality and equity across the 
region. 

 Carers are regarded as “everyone‟s business” which is encouraging in 
terms of commitment but this can also mean “nobody‟s business” when 
tested against clarity of accountability for improvement.  Carers‟ services 
lack clear and visible leadership. 

 There are examples of collaborative partnership working and strategies 
and plans display a good understanding of Carers‟ needs and priorities.  
However, this is not universally embedded in everyday practice and words 
and intentions are not matched by actions. 

 Carers do not have a central point of accessing services and find it difficult 
to navigate the system.  Establishing clearer pathways for Carers would be 
a major shift in their profile and enable statutory responsibilities to be fully 
met. 

 Short term funding has had a negative effect on commissioning effective 
services and has stifled innovation and continuity of service.  Third sector 
services can cease to exist at short notice leaving Carers unsupported. 

 
Specific areas were highlighted within a “blueprint offer”: 
 
1. Identifying Carers; 
2. Giving good advice and assistance; 
3. Assessing Carers‟ needs; 
4. Seeing people as resources; 
5. Providing respite and breaks; 
6. Enabling Carers to play a full part in society; 
7. Working in partnership and collaboration.   
 
The findings from the Review were reported to the Partnership Board. An  
Action Plan has been devised as part of the implementation of the Regional 
Plan. 
 
2018/19 has seen slow progress with both Local Authorities using this 
opportunity to redesign their structures.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 37



 

 12 

4.2. Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 

 
The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy 2016 – 2019 was officially launched in 2016.  
The development of a Cwm Taf wide Carers Strategy replaced the existing 
previous plans: 
 

- RCT Carers Strategy 2012-2014 
- RCT Young Carers Strategy 2010-2013 
- Merthyr Tydfil Carers Strategy 2012-2017 
- Cwm Taf Carers Information and Consultation Strategy 2012-2015. 

 

Cwm Taf recognises the importance of Carers getting their voices heard and 
that both Carers and service users are engaged and consulted to ensure that 
their needs are being met. It is essential that Carers are recognised as key 
partners in care and that their invaluable perspective is taken into account 
when developing future services. 

Our Vision Statement is:  
 

Carers of all ages in Cwm Taf will be recognised and valued as 
being fundamental to supportive and resilient families and 
communities. They will not have to care alone and will be able to 
access information, advice and support to help meet their needs, 
empowering them to lead healthy and fulfilled lives, balancing their 
caring role and their life outside caring. 
 
We continue to underpin our Vision, with the identified principles and 
approach to service delivery which reflect what Carers say is important to 
them and which are also consistent with the approach taken in other relevant 
Cwm Taf plans, for example, the Joint Commissioning Statement for Older 
People and the Statement of Intent for Learning Disabilities:  

 Recognition and Respect  

Carers tell us that too often there is a lack of recognition and value of how 
much they do. Professionals and people in wider society do not always 
understand and appreciate the indepth knowledge Carers have of the needs 
of the person they are caring for, the relationship they have with them and 
how difficult it can sometimes be juggling a range of demands.  

 Working together 

One of the main messages from Carers was that we need to listen to their 
views and experiences and include them effectively in decision making. 
Proactive, two way communication and involvement is vital. 

 Integration of services  

There needs to be better coordination at every level between the Carer and all 
the organisations they come into contact with.   Services need to be joined up 

Page 38



 

 13 

and targeted more appropriately so they deliver the best possible outcomes 
for the Carer, the person they care for and also make best use of our 
resources. 

 Accessibility  

Factors such as the timeliness of a response and access/ transport to 
services will be a key consideration in the way we commission and provide 
services. 

 Tackling isolation  

A greater focus is needed on tackling the isolation and social exclusion that 
can sometimes be felt as a result of caring commitments.  The effects of 
limited choice, freedom and opportunity or the lack of understanding and 
discrimination faced by Carers may be different depending on their age and 
therefore specific needs, for example, Young Carers will need to balance 
caring with their need to access activities with their peers outside of their 
caring role, they will also require support and understanding of their caring 
role inside of school in order that they have maximum opportunities to achieve 
their potential and aspirations.   A range of support is needed to enable all 
Carers to balance caring with activities outside their caring role. 

 Focus on actions and outcomes 

We must ensure that there are direct and positive benefits for Carers as a 
result of the new Strategy. We must deliver change and improved outcomes 
in the areas they have identified as important to them.  

Implementation and Delivery  
 
To achieve the Vision set out in the Strategy requires a multi-agency and 
partnership approach. A cross section of agencies are committed to the 
delivery of the Strategy. Each has a role to play enabling Carers and the 
cared for to live as independently as possible and maintain a good quality of 
life. 

Annual Action Plans 
 
The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy is not a fixed and final plan but a framework 
which sets out what will be taken forward over the next three years.  Annual 
Action plans are developed which detail key actions, lead responsibilities, 
timescales, resource implications and performance measures, which will 
focus on the outcomes we want to achieve.   
 
Outcomes we want to achieve and monitoring progress 
 
The success of this Strategy and the benefits it delivers will be reviewed 
regularly.  It will be a partnership plan and a variety of staff within a wide 
range of sectors will be responsible for working in collaboration to implement it 
effectively. 
 

Page 39



 

 14 

An annual report on progress will be reported to the Cwm Taf Social Services 
and Wellbeing Partnership Board, as well as the individual organisations i.e. 
the two Local Authorities, the Health Board and Welsh Government.   
 
Copies of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy, an easy read version and welsh 
translated documents will be available on partner websites and the link is: 
 http://cwmtaf.wales/how-we-work/plans-and-reports/cwm-taf-carers-strategy-
2016-2019/  
 
Impact made 
 Collaborative working helps to secure support for Carers, whilst making 

best use of a wide range of knowledge, expertise and support services. 
 

Next steps? 
 Implementation of appropriate actions from the Carers Review. 
 Action plan for 2019-20 will direct our future work, strengthening the 

partnership approach across the Cwm Taf Region, whilst also addressing 
priorities from WG.  

 The implementation of the SSWB Act plan, as it relates to Carers, 
ensuring Carers needs are recognised and mainstreamed. 

 
It should be noted links have been made with ABMU Health Board and 
Bridgend County Borough Council in preparation for the merger from 1st April 
2019 to Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board.   
 
The following sections look at progress made under each aim of the Strategy. 

 
4.2.1 Aim 1.  Identifying Carers of all ages and recognising their 

contributions 
 

Raising Awareness of Carers 

 
Carers information has featured on a page of the 50+ Information Calendar, 
which is widely distributed across Cwm Taf. 
 
Local Carers Projects raise awareness of Carers through various means and 
staff attended local community events regularly to raise awareness of Carers 
throughout the Cwm Taf region.  For example, the Big Bite (Wellbeing Zone) a 
2 day event with over 13,000 members of the general public attending, 
Community First events, Housing Association Tenant events and third sector 
information events.   
 
Also attending the Mental Health week events as well as the „It Makes Sense‟ 
Event celebrating sensory awareness month in Cwm Taf.  This was a 
partnership event between Health Services, third Sector and people that have 
or support others with sensory loss. 
 
Carers Champions were encouraged to sign up to Carers Wales/UK 
campaigns in supporting Carers Week and Carers Rights Day Events.  
Information was disseminated across GP surgeries and Carers Champions.   

Page 40

http://cwmtaf.wales/how-we-work/plans-and-reports/cwm-taf-carers-strategy-2016-2019/
http://cwmtaf.wales/how-we-work/plans-and-reports/cwm-taf-carers-strategy-2016-2019/


 

 15 

 
Both RCT Carers Project and Merthyr Tydfil‟s Carers Strategy Network have 
continued to develop close links with the Third Sector Integrated Care Fund 
Community Coordinators across the region. Referrals to Carers services have 
been received from the Coordinators and the Coordinators information 
resource has been utilised to support Carers across the region. 
 
RCT Carers Support Project has been working with RCT Councils Equality 
and Diversity Team in the development of a Staff Disability and Carers Forum.  
The aim of the Forum is to bring together staff with disabilities and those who 
are Carers in sharing experience, highlighting and addressing the barriers 
they may face at work and supporting them in their working role.  The Forum 
has met and is now established.  
 
The Cwm Taf University Health Board‟s Carers Co-ordinator has staff several 
information stalls across the hospital settings to raise the profile of Carers with 
patients and staff.  Also, highlighting the Carers policy for Staff Carers. 
 
The Annual Carers Champion Conference 
 
Following the success of the previous Carers Champion conferences, the fifth 
annual conference took place in April 2018 with over 80 people attending.  
The conference acts as a platform for celebrating the success of the Carers 
Champions, along with highlighting some key achievements gained through 
2017-18.  
 
The Carers Champions conference enables the sharing of information with 
staff attending through a range of information stands, networking and 
presentations. Information is then cascaded to other staff through the 
Champion networks. 
 
The theme was Young Carers and Young Adult Carers, so the conference 
was held in Coleg y Cymoedd, Nantgarw Campus.  Two Young Carers and a 
Young Adult Carer spoke about their own life experience which set the scene 
for the conference.  There were a range of speakers highlighting the work and 
good practice from across Cwm Taf.  This included presentations from 
Professor Vanessa Webb on the impact of caring has on a young person‟s 
education the Director of Community Services in RCT, Claire Williams, 
RCTCBC on services available and Alison Lagier from Cwm Taf University 
Health Board on the impact GP Support Officers are providing for Carers in 
GP surgeries in Merthyr Tydfil.  Coleg y Cymoedd have a Carers Champion 
who also spoke about the support they offer their students who are Carers.      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41



 

 16 

Photographs of the Conference 

 

Councillor Geraint Hopkins opening the Carers Champion Conference  

 

Trudy Fisher and Young Carers from Action for 

Children 

 

Keira Phillips and Caitlyn Homer-Hughes 

Page 42



 

 17 

 
 

Lucy Childs, Young Adult Carer 

 

 
 

Laura Wilson, Coleg y Cymoedd Carers Champion 

 

 
The feedback was overwhelmingly positive through the evaluation forms 
received.  Attendees felt motivated to raise awareness of Young Carers and 
Young Adult Carers within their own organisation/service areas.  Many felt 
motivated to become Carers Champions and engage further with Carers 
services offered across Cwm Taf.   
 
21 information stalls attended the conference – they were situated in the heart 
of the college to engage with students as well as conference attendees.  Stall 
holders were overwhelmed with the interest from the students.  The stands 
from the various organisations reported excellent take up of information and 
resources.  The conference offered many networking and joint working 
opportunities, for example with Communities for Work, Department of Work 
and Pensions and the College themselves.   
 
The Conference is still commented on – from people being visibly moved by 
the young Carers testimonies and the impact caring has on a young person.  
The feelings expressed and comments provided described people as being 
inspired, informed and motivated.  
 
Cwm Taf Carers Co-ordinator 

 
Cwm Taf University Health Board was successful in appointing a Cwm Taf 
Carers Co-ordinator on a 6 month contract with the focus of engaging GP 
practices to undertake Agored Supporting Carers Unit and ensuring a Carers 
Champion is appointed to each GP practice along with engaging Health Board 
staff in raising awareness of Carers.  The Carers Co-ordinator has achieved 
excellent results in a short period of time.  
 

Page 43



 

 18 

The Carers Co-ordinator has designed and distributed Carer booklets to GP 
Practices which has a registration form enabling a Carer to complete and 
hand to their Carer Champion.  This has encouraged Carers to self-identify 
and engage with their GP surgery.  
 
One GP surgery in Pontyclun had 57 Carers registered in their system in 
September 2018.  Following the Carers Co-ordinator involvement, they now 
have 147 Carers registered.   
 
In addition to the work plan, the Carers Co-ordinator has also attended public 
events (50+ Forum Information Event, Health & Wellbeing Month, Information 
Stalls), produced promotional materials and merchandise and attended Senior 
Nurse meetings to discuss the role of a Carer and will be organising the 
annual conference.  The Carers Co-ordinator has also attended Nurse 
Induction sessions for all new nurses joining Cwm Taf University Health 
Board. 
 
There is a dedicated Carer page on the Cwm Taf University Health Board 
intranet for staff to keep upto date with information. 
 
With confirmation of funding for 2019/20 from Welsh Government, this post 
has been extended to the 31st March 2020.    
 

AGORED Supporting Carers Training Unit 
 
Since we appointed the Carers Co-ordinator in September 2018, 46 people 
have expressed interest in undertaking the Agored Supporting Carers Unit 
which now includes staff from the Wards including Health Care Support 
Workers.  Other organisations, such as DWP, have also expressed an interest 
in taking part.  2 people have already completed the Agored Supporting 
Carers Unit with 23 in progress.  6 people are confirmed to start in 
January/February 2019.  These numbers will increase as when Carer 
Champions are identified they are given the option of completing the Agored 
unit. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



 

 19 

An example of promotional material for the Carer Aware training is given here: 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
A Carer is someone of  

any age, who provides unpaid  

support to family, friends or  
neighbours who would not be able to  

manage without this help.  This could  
be caring for someone who is ill, frail, disabled  

or has a mental health or substance misuse illness. 
 

To support the delivery of enhanced rights to Carers under the 
Social Services and Well-Being (Wales) Act 2014, Welsh 

Government, in partnership with stakeholders’ established three 
national priorities: 

 Supporting life alongside caring 
 Identifying and recognising Carers 

 Providing information, advice and assistance to Carers 
 

The Carer Awareness Agored training course is a tool which staff 

can access to develop their awareness of Carers and how they can 
be supported within the community. 

 
By identifying Carers in the community you are able to signpost 

Carers for information, support and refer to local Carer information 
services should the Carer wish. 

 
The Carer Awareness Agored course is available to all Cwm 

Taf UHB staff 

The course is fully funded and support will be given at every 

stage 

If you would like to enrol on the course please contact me on 01443 

744824 or email cerys.gamble@wales.nhs.uk 

 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 

 

 

Page 45

mailto:cerys.gamble@wales.nhs.uk


 

 20 

Hospital Discharge Service  
 
We have worked with RCTCBC, MTCBC, Interlink and VAMT to enable a 
Carers Hospital Discharge Project to be piloted in Royal Glamorgan Hospital, 
Prince Charles Hospital, Ysbyty Cwm Cynon and Ysbyty Cwm Rhondda.  
Citizen‟s Advice Merthyr Tydfil and Hafal will offer a service to Carers – staff, 
patient or visitor – to give the right information at the right time to support 
them in their caring role.  
 
This new service is to commence March 2019. 
 
Improved Identification and recognition of Carers 
 
The recruiting of Carers Champions, and the variety of Carer Aware training 
available, has helped to improve the identification and recognition of Carers 
amongst UHB staff and with partner organisations.  DWP, Citizens Advice, 
Drink Wise Age Well and Communities for Work, all putting staff forward to 
become Carers Champions. 
 
The Cwm Taf Carers Co-ordinator has worked to reinvigorate and recruit 
Carers Champions on the Wards. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A Carer Champion is a volunteer member of staff who acts as a key contact 
for Carer information in the department where they work. The Carer 
Champions are a network of staff members located around Cwm Taf UHB 
who are leaders on Carer issues. Many teams have a designated Carer 
Champion, who is the link to gather Carer information to cascade to their team 
and to also share with Carers. 
 
If you are interested or can nominate a Carer champion or require further 
information please contact Cerys Gamble 01443 744847 
Cerys.gamble@wales.nhs.uk  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Carer Champion 

Page 46

mailto:Cerys.gamble@wales.nhs.uk


 

 21 

GP Surgeries continue recording Carers on information systems, which can 
assist them in ensuring the Carer is supported appropriately.  Along with this, 
local Carers services continue to receive referrals from Primary care.  
 
The Carers Co-ordinator has designed a poster for each GP surgery to use to 
inform patients who their Carers Champion is. 
 

 
 
RCT Young Carers Service 
 
In RCT, since 2015, the RCT Young Carers Service has been working with 
Secondary Schools in the Borough to implement the Young Carers School 
Award.  The award was developed by the service after young carers told staff 
that they didn't feel that teachers in their school understood their issues, so 
the award ensures that school staff are aware of how to identify young carers, 
they learn about the difficulties that they face, consider how to provide 
additional support to young carers in their school and publicise the support 
that is available to young carers outside of the school environment. 
 
The award consists of 3 levels; Bronze, Silver and Gold, with each level 
consisting of a set of standards which progressively increase the support and 
guidance that young carers are offered in school. We are currently working 
with Carers Trust to ensure that all our schools are also recognised through 
their Young Carers in Schools Wales Programme.  
 
To give an idea of the Bronze award, the following is expected to be 
addressed: 
 

 Posters and leaflets displayed around the school giving information on the 
support available to young Carers internally as well as information on 
external support such as RCT Young Carers Service phone number and 
email; 

Page 47



 

 22 

 All staff within the school should be made aware that a child is a Carer.  
This does not mean that specific information on their caring role is shared 
– just that the teacher may need to offer flexibility with attendance and 
homework submissions; 

 All staff within the school will have had some guidance and training on how 
to recognise young Carers and the role that a young Carer might have to 
take on at home; 

 Carers Rights Day, Young Carers Awareness Day etc are all Carers 
events that you can expect to see advertised and celebrated in the school 
and; 

 Young Carers are encouraged to „get together‟ in school to discuss any 
concerns or issues they are having or just to have a chat with others who 
may be experiencing the same sort of issues as themselves.   

 
The driving force behind implementing the award is the Carers Champion at 
each school.  All 17 Secondary schools in RCT now have Carers Champions 
in place who are actively offering support to young carers.  These Carers 
Champions held Young Carer Awareness Day event which focused on mental 
health.  The aim was to continue identifying young Carers and raising 
awareness of the vital role that they play in supporting their ill and disabled 
family members. 
 
Following the success of the work in Secondary Schools, the Young Carers 
Service have created a unit of work which is designed to raise awareness 
within primary schools of young Carers issues.  This was piloted with a select 
group of primary schools and is now being rolled out to all primary schools 
within RCT. 
 
11 primary schools have now successfully completed the award and several 
more have agreed to participate in the scheme before the end of the 
academic year.   
 
This network participated in Young Carers Day on the 21st January 2019 by 
putting on information stalls, assemblies etc to raise awareness.  The Young 
Carers Project publicised this on their social media channels. 
 
Funding was allocated for Schools Awards Packs and for a Carers Project 
officer to attend PSE lessons in schools across Rhondda Cynon Taf. 
 
2018 saw a 30% increase in referrals from schools and college campuses 
during the first 3 quarters which is a result of how successful the rollout of the 
Schools Award has been.  The Award has been highlighted as good practice 
among Local Authorities and has received positive feedback from Estyn. 
 
RCT Carers Support Project (CSP) has had 628 new adult Carers registering 
with the Project during 2018/19this is an increase of 16% compared to the 
previous year. The CSP are currently supporting just under 1,500 adult Carers 
in RCT.  The young Carers Service has continued to see an increase in the 
number of referrals received for an assessment – 103 received during 
2018/19. In addition 30 sibling referrals have been received into the service. 

Page 48



 

 23 

   
RCT Carers Support Project (CSP) continues to work with a variety of Council 
Teams/departments and third sector organisation in promoting the recognition 
and support available to Carers. 
 
GP Support Officers (GPSO) 
 
In Merthyr Tydfil Primary Care Cluster they have GPSO‟s who engage, 
signpost, offer advice and work with patients to influence cultural and 
behavioural change for service users within a Primary Care setting.  They 
advise/assess service users and address social issues and offer support in 
correlation with the social services and wellbeing act.  They promote 
independence and enable service users to take responsibility for their own 
health and wellbeing.  GPSO‟s support the reduction of attendance within 
general practice for non-medical intervention. 
 
GPSO‟s, during consultations, have often identified Carers who have not 
identified themselves as a Carers (they are a family member that feel it is their 
duty to look after their relatives).  This cohort of service users were not 
claiming carers allowance or receiving any support from any groups, such as 
Alzheimer‟s or Stroke Society.   
 
GPSO‟s have been able to support these Carers by identifying what is 
causing stress and putting some extra support and ensuring the correct 
financial assistance are put in place.  They also ensure links with the relevant 
agencies and particularly ensuring the required adaptations are made at 
home.  
 
Responsive training for Carers as identified through engagement with 
Carers 

 
RCT Carers Support Project has provided a total of 145 training sessions, 
workshops and events to adult Carers, which resulted in 2383 Carer 
attendances. This equates to a 17% increase in the number of events 
provided compared to the previous year.  
 
Sessions can include the Carers and the cared for, in some instances. 
 
RCT Carers Support Project 
 
From the 1st March 2019, the RCT Carers Support Project became an all age 
service.  Young Carers assessments will be undertaken within the new 
Information, Advice and Assistance Team with a dedicated assessment 
worker for young Carers and siblings.   
 
The Carers Support Workers within the RCT Carers Support Project will 
maintain a responsibility for the rollout of the Schools Award as well as 
engaging with other services and the Action for Children Service will be co-
located within the project to facilitate closer, more responsive working. 
 

Page 49



 

 24 

The changes and the focus given to Carer‟s Services will go a long way to 
improving the sustainability of support to Carers of all ages. 
 
Impact made 

 Cwm Taf UHB participated in Carers Week, which further raises 
awareness of Carers amongst health professionals and members of 
the public in contact with Health services.   

 Health professionals through awareness raising have developed 
knowledge regarding support services available to Carers. They are 
now able to signpost appropriately, which enables a more efficient 
access to services. 

 Raising awareness of Carers has also helped to increase Carer 
recognition and enable individuals to recognise themselves as Carers 
and therefore receive appropriate information, advice and support. 

 Working Carers feel supported in their employment, with their 
employers better understanding their needs. 

 Developing links with the third sector has encouraged more appropriate 
signposting, where relevant, to Carers across Cwm Taf allowing them 
to gain the support and information needed to support them in their 
caring roles. 

 The Carers Champion Conference recognises the valuable work 
carried out by Carers Champions, increases awareness of the rights of 
Carers and provides a platform for networking and sharing knowledge, 
experience and best practice across sectors.  

 Carers are recognised as partners in care and recorded on appropriate 
systems. 

 Carers are now increasingly recognised and supported more effectively 
by Primary Care Services. 

 Consistent Carer referrals has resulted in more Carers been made 
aware of their rights and support available. 

 There has been an increase in the provision of workshops, training and 
events for Carer, further supporting them in their caring role 

 There are clearly identified Carers Champions, acting as a single point 
of access for GPs and other Primary Care staff. 

 Taking part in raising awareness events with Job Centre Plus. 
 
Next Steps? 

 Continue to provide training to all CTUHB staff, to cascade information 
and to network with other champions.   

 Continued support for key Carer events, for example, during Carers 
Week and Carers Rights Day. 

 Ongoing attendance at partnership events to raise awareness and 
profile of Carers. 

 Continued promotion of Carers and support services available, should 
help encourage further referrals ensuring the needs of Carers of met. 

 Continued work with Carers in identifying the types of support needed 
and the facilitating of workshops, training and events to meet those 
needs identified. 

 Continued identification of Champions across Health. 

Page 50



 

 25 

 Sustained support for identified Champions in order to ensure they are 
kept up to date with Carer information and are able to support Carers 
appropriately. 

 Continuation of the RCT Disability and Carers Staff Forum. 
 An Annual Carers Champion Conference. 
 Carers in their own right are now a beneficiary group for the Integrated 

Care Fund to enable projects specifically for Carers.  
 The continued provision of training to Carers Champions and Health 

and Social Care staff to ensure their continued professional 
development. 

 Carers of all ages will continue to be identified across the region to 
ensure they are supported in an effective and timely manner. 

 Ways of identifying and supporting Carers of all ages are 
mainstreamed as part of everyday practice. 

 Roll out of Agored Accreditation for Carers Champions in GP Practices 
and consideration of other staff groups to take part.  
 

4.2.2. Aim 2.  Providing up to date, relevant and timely information, 
advice & assistance to Carers of all ages  

 
Relevant, timely and up to date information to Carers 
 
Carers information is consistently reviewed in order to ensure it is relevant 
and up to date.  The newly reviewed Cwm Taf Carers A-Z Guide (which is 
also available in Welsh) continues to be distributed widely across Cwm Taf.  
Through partnership, Interlink RCT updated this valuable resource for 
dissemination across Cwm Taf. 
 
Both the UHB and Local Authority websites are continually updated to ensure 
accuracy and accessibility of information provided to Carers.  Carers literature 
is reviewed consistently and any updated information made available to 
Carers across Cwm Taf. 
 
In 2018/19, RCT CSP provided Carers Packs to 639 new Carers, an increase 
of 13% of Carers packs sent compared to 2017/18. 
 
Within RCT and MT, Carers email distribution lists are utilised to target 
information and to keep Carers up to date with changes and news topics that 
may be of interest to them.  Carers Newsletters in both MT and RCT Carers 
Services are sent to registered Carers, Carers Champions and distributed 
widely across Cwm Taf.  Social media is also utilised to target a varying 
demographic of Carer. 
 
As part of the implementation of the SSWB Act, both LA‟s have established 
Information, Advice and Assistance services together with the use of an online 
resource DEWIS.  Both Local Authorities and the UHB have contributed to the 
production of the Carers section on Dewis Cymru.  This ensures quality 
information is available from a network of social care, health and third sector 

Page 51



 

 26 

organisations across Wales, supplemented by local information relevant to 
Cwm Taf.  
 
Following on from the success of the leaflet promoting the Carers Champions 
in GP surgeries and Health Promotion Champions in local Pharmacies, the 
Cwm Taf Carers Co-ordinator has designed a leaflet to raise awareness of 
what a Carer is.  The aim of this leaflet is for information purposes and to start 
a conversation with people who might be unaware they are a Carer. 
 

 
 
All partners continue to raise awareness of the Advocacy support available in 
Cwm Taf to alleviate stress and impact on Carers.   
 
The Carers Information & Support Programme (CrISP)  
 
CrISP is run by the Alzheimer‟s Society working in partnership with RCT 
Carers Support Project.  The sessions, which generally run twice per year, are 
designed to educate and support Carers and families of people with Dementia 
about how to cope with day to day life and how to plan for the future.  
Sessions were held in October 2018 and March 2019. 
 
They aim to provide information in a group environment where Carers are 
able to share their experiences and find out more about:   
 

 What is dementia 

 Supporting a person with dementia 

Page 52



 

 27 

 Local services 

 Legal and Financial affairs 

 Looking after yourself  
 
Carers Project RCT 
 
The Carers Project RCT has continued to provide: 
 

 Timely information for Young Carers and Young Adult Carers; 

 Young Carer Assessments; 

 A dedicated Parent Carers worker supporting Parent who have children 
aged 0-25 with additional needs; 

 Max Card is available to Parent Carers of children with additional needs 
under the age of 19; 

 Pause and play coffee mornings (parent Carers) meet monthly to share 
knowledge, idea‟s and expertise with other parent Carers or just come 
along for a hot drink and good conversation; 

 CSP Counselling Service; 

 Chatterbox, a monthly meeting for Carers to come together share 
experiences and gain information and advice; 

 Cares Cwtch is an informal friendly group for individuals who care for a 
family member, friend or neighbour.  Their monthly evening meeting is an 
opportunity for a classic „night in‟ with other Carers with plenty of films and 
games, as well as a different takeaway each month; 

 „Recharge‟ is a new project which provides a 40 minute holistic therapy 
session on a one to one basis with a qualified therapist to a Carer who is 
registered with the Carers Project;   

 Carers Mental Health Forum targeted to those Carers caring for someone 
with a mental illness; 

 Carers Emergency Card Support Service; 

 Carers News;  

 Carers Connects is a therapeutic peer support group facilitated by the 
Projects Counsellor on a monthly basis. It , allows Carers to share 
experiences and provide guidance and support.  Carers can discuss their 
concerns or just listen to other Carers; 

 Diabetes Workshop to give Carers an opportunity to develop information 
provided by Diabetes Support;  

 The RCT Past Carers Group is an informal group offering companionship 
and friendship to individuals whose caring roles have ended.  The group 
meets once a month and arranges a number of gatherings throughout the 
month.  The groups offers support, laughter and a great way to meet new 
friends;  

 Partnership Working with Safeguarding; 

 Carers Legal Clinics are provided for Carers in RCT; 

 An up to date website provision or Carers and; 

 A dedicated CSP Facebook and Twitter page. 
 
 
 

Page 53



 

 28 

Upper Rhondda, Taf, Cynon and Merthyr Tydfil Dementia Support 
Groups 
 
Replicating the good practice of Carers and the cared for coming together, 
additional Dementia Groups have now been set up in Rhydyfelin and 
Pontypridd Library.  Some of the groups have extra activities helpful to 
provide more meaningful activities for Carers attending their sessions.  
Activity sessions see Carers interacting with each other and stimulate 
discussion.   
 
Upper Rhondda run various sessions, for example a Knit and Knatter group in 
Ysbyty George Thomas to engage the community including Carers. 
 
A cognitive stimulation therapy group has also been set up for Carers to 
attend in the Taf area. 
 
Rhondda and Taf have set up a short term loan service for memory 
aids/telecare for Carers to use through the Dementia Team.  This new project 
is very exciting and will benefit Carers who will not have to make a purchase 
until they have used that equipment and know that it will aid the cared for.   
 
In March 2019, two memory café‟s for the patients and Carers were set up in 
Merthyr Tydfil and Cynon.  The Dementia Advisors have worked extensively 
with all of their patients and Carers, which totals as over 250 people and also 
putting out posters in the local area.  They will meet once a month and will 
give the Carers respite from their role in a supported environment and give 
them that peer support which has proven to be invaluable.  The patient‟s and 
Carers have been heavily involved in what they would like the outcome to be 
and in the first session to find out what they would like from the group.  
Activities have been purchased for both the Carers and patient‟s to be part of 
the sessions.  Dementia Advisors have linked with other agencies to provide 
relevant information to give to people and advice.  
 
Merthyr Tydfil and Cynon have also set up two new Carer groups in March 
where twenty to thirty people are invited to each session. 
 
Impact made 

 Carers are more informed as a result of the increase in information 
provision, which helps them to find out easily about how to access 
support available to them in their caring role. 

 Staff and the general public are more informed of Carers and their rights. 

 The A-Z benefits Carer and professionals in attaining information quickly. 

 Dewis Cymru allows Carers and professionals to have up to date access 
to information at the appropriate time.  Dewis Cymru acts as a support 
resource for both professionals and Carers accessing information. 

 Staff are kept up to date with the latest Carer developments. 

 Staff are able to signpost Carers to appropriate support services. 

 CrISP enables Carers a safe environment to discuss issues and receive 
support, whilst increasing Carers knowledge around dementia and 
providing support following diagnosis 

Page 54



 

 29 

 RCT CSP counselling service provides one to one bespoke support to 
Carers 

 Carers Groups like Chatterbox, the Carers Mental Health Forum and the 
Peer Support Group provide a support network for Carers across RCT 

 Schemes such as the Max Card and discounted access to leisure 
Services help support the Carer maintain a life outside their caring role, 
whilst support their wellbeing 

 The Carers News and Facebook page provided an invaluable information 
resource for Carers, informing them of their rights and support available 
to them 

 
What next?  

 Disseminate the newly reviewed A-Z guide, particularly in relation to the 
new Information, Advice and Assistance services in RCT and Merthyr 
Tydfil as part of the SSWB Act.  

 Ongoing promotion of RCT‟s Carers Support Project and Merthyr Tydfil‟s 
Carers Network to encourage increased referrals and information 
provision. 

 Ongoing provision of training and incorporation of Carer Awareness in 
general staff training. 

 Regarding Advocacy, CTUHB, RCTCBC and MTCBC are working 
together to explore options of rolling out a Service Level Agreement to a 
Cwm Taf wide provision entitled the „Independent Advocacy Service for 
Adults & Carers 50 years of age and over‟. 

 CrISP to continue in 2017/18 

 Ongoing provision of up to date and timely information via various 
channels including, Carers News, Facebook, websites and attendance at 
community events 

 Ongoing provision of Carers Groups across RCT 

 Develop an evening support group for Carers, ensuring working Carers 
needs are accounted for  

 Maintaining and developing new initiatives for Carers across RCT 
 
4.2.3.  Aim 3.  Providing support, services & training to meet the needs of 

Carers of all ages  

 
Flexible working policies for employees 
 
RCT Council continues to work towards Carer Friendly Guidance for its staff. 
The development of the Disability and Carers Network will help support and 
direct this work. 
 
Respite Care 
 
As a result of the Respite Audit carried out in May 2017, both Local 
Authorities are looking to develop and commission a wider range of 
preventative services to promote health and wellbeing, early intervention and 
minimise the escalation of crises. 
 

Page 55



 

 30 

Promote help available within the community – combating loneliness 
and isolation including befriending 
 
Strong links continue to be made with the ICF Community Co-ordinators.  
There are new posts in the form of 6 General Practice Support Officers 
(GPSO) who are based in Merthyr Tydfil across 9 GP Practices and a 
Community Co-ordinator based in the Rhondda Cluster: 
 

 based in the local area; 

 provide information, advice and signpost to local community groups, 
activities and services; 

 build strong relationships with communities, agencies and services 
(specifically for those over 65); 

 support people to live their own lives within their communities and; 

 raise community and statutory awareness of voluntary sector services. 
 
Community Capacity Grant 

The Grant Scheme is an opportunity to test out pilot projects and is for one 
financial year only.  It is an opportunity for innovative ideas for new projects 
which can be introduced across Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr 
Tydfil.  Applications will need to comply with the following criteria: 

 Combat the impact of loneliness and isolation 
 Prevent unnecessary access to statutory services 
 Support hospital discharge 
 Support beneficiary groups to maintain their health, wellbeing and 

independence. 

£10,000 has been allocated to the Young Carers Group in RCT through the 
Community Capacity Grant.   

A digital story will be produced to document how the Young Carers benefited 
from some of their projects. 

Merthyr Tydfil Young Carers Residential  
 
Merthyr Tydfil Young Carers in May 2018 had the opportunity to engage in a 
residential stay. This was delivered via PGL Travel Ltd which is the UK‟s 
leading outdoor education provider, delivering inspirational learning through 
adventure. This was significant for those that attended as many young carers 
do not have the same opportunities as their peers to have a „holiday‟.  They 
engaged in a number of activities including archery, raft racing and abseiling; 
all of which are designed to build young people‟s resilience and confidence.  
 
Twenty seven young carers participated in the residential. On the final day 
those who attended gave feedback on their experience of attending the 
residential, these are some of the many positive comments shared: 

- I have got to learn more about other people. 
- I have enjoyed everything, it was my first time away from home. 

Page 56



 

 31 

- It was my first time away from home, never even had a sleepover. Raft 
building was amazing. 

- Its stopped me being afraid of heights. It‟s helped me feel more 
confident leaving my nan alone. 

- I have made new friends. 
- I feel more confident. 

 
RCT CSP Adult Carer Residential ‘Weekend on the Wye’  
 
Following the success of the „Spring Awakening‟ Residential for adult Carers 
during March 2018 another Carers residential was held on the 8th-10th March 
2019. 
 
The residential was attended by 12 adult Carers, ranging from 26 to 64 years 
of age.  All of the Carers who attended had extensive caring roles, ranging 
from caring for their children, to their parents, parent-in-laws and partners. 
The residential provided an inclusive environment for all Carers regardless of 
their age, caring role or physical ability. 
 
Carers reported that the main reasons they decided to join the residential was 
to relax, get more time for themselves and above all to socialise, spend time 
with other Carers and make new friends. A quarter of the group hadn‟t spent a 
night away from the person they care for in more than 5 years. 
 
The Carers who attended were given a pre and post evaluation to complete.  
 
Aims for the residential: 
 

 To support life alongside caring, ensuring that carers have reasonable 
breaks from their caring role, enabling them to maintain their capacity 
to care; 

 To limit the isolation and social exclusion that can sometimes be felt as 
a result of caring commitments; 

 To provide Carers with the opportunity to meet other Carers and share 
experiences; 

 To reduce the stress and anxiety of Carers; 
 To provide Cares with skills transferable to their daily lives; 
 To support Carers to have a life beyond their caring role and; 
 To provide Carers with „me time‟ to relax and take time away from their 

caring role 
 
Activities provided: 
  

 Country Walks 

 Spa Day 

 Canoeing 

 Social Opportunities 
 
 
 

Page 57



 

 32 

The Activity Overview: 
 
Country Walks 
 

Some of the Carers participated in River walks where they shared their 
stories, experiences and had some fun along the way. 
 

“I had a brilliant time. Amazing. Thank you” 

Spa Day 

This is something that was specifically requested by many Carers at the 2018 
residential.  The spa day provided Carers with some „me time‟.  It supported 
them to relax, get to know each other and above all prioritise their own health 
and wellbeing. 

“I loved it and made a lot of new friends” 

 
Canoeing  
 

Canoeing proved to be a new experience for most of the Carers present.  
Canoeing provides an inclusive experience, with low impact exercise and 
suited Carers of all ages and abilities.  Carers were buddied up in two man 
canoes, which encouraged bonding and teamwork.  Recognised benefits of 
canoeing include offering the opportunity to increase social opportunities and 
make friends, whilst providing a good aerobic work-out and helping to 
increase fitness. 
 

“I have had the most wonderful time and it was fantastic. Thank you sooo 
much :-)” 

 
Social Opportunities 

 
Feedback from the previous residential had requested more time to socialise. 
This residential provided lots of opportunities for Carers to relax, talk with 
other Carers, have some „me time‟ and generally relax away from the 
pressures and demands of their everyday life. 
 
The World Shrinks: Carer Loneliness, a research report by Carers UK as part 
of the Jo Cox Loneliness Commission showed that more than 8 in 10 (81%) 
surveyed unpaid carers described themselves as “lonely or socially isolated” 
due to their caring responsibilities. Carers who had felt lonely or isolated were 
almost twice as likely to report worsened mental (77%) and physical (67%) 
health. 
 

Page 58



 

 33 

 

“Had a wonderful 
time, met some 
lovely people, 
learned new 
things to help at 
home, had some 
fun and was 
lovely to have a 
break from home” 

 

 
Adult Carers Residential Evaluation Feedback 
 

 
 

 
 

0

1

2

3

4

5

18-25 26-35 36-45 46-55 56-65 66-75 76-85 86+

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

C
ar

e
rs

 

Carers ages 

Carers Age 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

To learn or try
something

new

To relax and
get more time

for myself

To socialise
and spend
time with

other Carers

To make
friends

To have time
away from

the person I
care for

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
sp

o
sn

e
s 

Why did you decide to join us on 
this residential? 

Page 59



 

 34 

 
 

 
 

 
 

0

1

2

3

4

5

Within the
last 6 months

Between 6
months - 1

year

1-2 years 3-5 years 5 years +

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
se

s 

When was the last time you were 
able to spend the night away, 

without the person you care for? 

0

5

10

15

Spa Day Canoeing Having Alone
time

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
se

s 

Please rate the activities provided 

Excellent

Good

Ok

Poor

N/A

0
2
4
6
8

10
12

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
se

s 

How much do you agree with the statement 
below? 

Strongly Agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Stongly Disagree

Page 60



 

 35 

 
 
 

 

After Residential 

Before Residential 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Not at all Extremely

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
se

s 

Level of Stress 

How stressed are you today? 

Before Residential 

After Residential 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Not at all Extremely

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
se

s 

Level of Anxiety 

How anxious do you feel today? 

Page 61



 

 36 

 
 

 
 

 

Before Residential 

After Residential 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

Not at all Extremely

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
se

s 

Axis Title 

How happy are you today? 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Yes No

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

re
sp

o
n

se
s 

Would you like to attend another residential? 

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

Yes No

N
u

m
b

e
r 

o
f 

R
e

sp
o

n
se

s 

Would you recommend residentials like this 
to other Carers? 

Page 62



 

 37 

 

 
 
 

“Started as strangers, ended as friends” 
 
 
 
Stroke Group for Carers  
 
Relatives/carers of stroke survivors report increased levels of depression. 
They can also experience high levels of carer burden, anxiety and loneliness.  
Assistant Psychologist and Consultant Clinical Psychologist have continued to 
run a Carers Stroke Group for Carers to come together who are looking after 
someone who has had a stroke.   
 
This 6 week programme brings Carers together for a half day session and a 
speaker to inform of them of what to expect, for example speech and 
language therapist, physiotherapist, occupational therapist.  This enables: 
 

 Families are supported by therapists to understand the person‟s needs 
and difficulties and how best to support them; 

 Families are provided with education around the nature of the person‟s 
stroke and how best to support them; 

Page 63



 

 38 

 They are able to access psychology services in order to help with 
adjustment and emotional needs associated with the stroke;  

 Signposting to other services to support with any other needs e.g.  
financial, social and to maintain physical and mental wellbeing.  

 An opportunity for carers to chat and share experiences with each other.  
 
These sessions are facilitated by a Clinical Psychologist and an Assistant 
Psychologist.  
 
The structure of group was for 6 weeks, two hour sessions per week were 
held.  Each session focused on sharing emotional experiences and 
developing strategies to improve physical and mental well-being. As well as 
providing advice and support around from a multidisciplinary perspective.  
 
Future prospects:  
 

 In future we hope to expand the programme and recruit further people to 
the group.  The method of recruitment has been changed to an „opt-in‟ 
system whereby individuals will be provided with information about the 
programme.  The opt in letter provides information on how to contact the 
team to register a place should they wish to attend.  It is hoped that this 
will maximise attendance at each group; ideally groups will run once 
sufficient numbers have been recruited, this will be more cost effective in 
terms of venue hire and staff costs.  

 We also hope to run the programme in several different locations within 
the Health Board (north and south of Health Board) to provide an equitable 
service and to support those who are limited due to travelling.  

 
Impact made 
 
• The Dementia Support Groups are building in members include people 

living with Dementia, Carers and family members.  There are between 16 -
28 members and growing.  Dedication of the volunteers that attend the 
Group; 

• Past Carers also attend the Dementia Support Group where they used to 
attend with their loved one; 

• Group members have taken ownership of the Group.  The Group is 
informal and flexible. 

• Continued provision of schemes to support Carers such as the Carers 
Emergency Card, Discounted access to leisure services, Carers legal 
clinic, Carers Counselling Service and Peer Support Groups 

• Research around peer-support and psychoeducational groups, as in the 
Stroke Group for Carers shows:  

• Research shows that peer support can: 
• Improve or maintain psychological, physical well-being.  
• Increase confidence, empowerment, acceptance of condition 
• Reduce loneliness.  
• Peer support can lead to improvements in mental health by 

promoting belief in recovery, increased self-esteem and social 
inclusion.  

Page 64



 

 39 

• The Stroke Group has received positive feedback from families and 
carers.  Carers say that the group is often the only chance they have to do 
something alone and it‟s helpful to chat with other people who are 
experiencing similar things.   

• They also report that the information they receive is helpful, and it eases 
their anxieties knowing that they can come and chat with a therapist every 
week if needed.  Signposting other services has also been helpful to them, 
particularly as they come to the end of their programme.  

 
Next Steps? 
 

 Community Co-ordinators continue to map groups and Carers are able to 
be sign posted to groups within their own area where they live.  

 Community Co-ordinators provide information at events where Carers 
attend.  

 In addition, in 2018/19 the Community Capacity Grant included Cares 
specifically.  This is addition to the ICF remit (Which expanded in 
2017/18 to support additional beneficiary groups) and/or their families 
and Carers.  They are: 

 Older people (aged 50+) 

 People with learning disabilities 

 Children with complex needs 

 Carers 

 Continued provision and development of schemes which support Carers in 
their caring role and that help them to maintain a life outside caring. 

 To provide safe and welcoming groups for people living with dementia and 
their loved ones across Cwm Taf.  Supported by the Community, Peers 
and the Memory Service. 

 To increase awareness and understanding of Dementia within 
communities by utilising the expertise and resources within that 
community.  

 We have continued to fund the Stroke Group to develop the service for 
Carers further.  They will incorporate mindfulness, relaxation, yoga etc. 
into the sessions each week.   

 RCT will review their current Carers Support Project and provision to 
Carers. 

 
4.2.4  Aim 4. Giving Carers of all ages a voice, with more choice & 

control over their lives 
 
Ensuring Carers have a voice 

 
Carer representatives are members of the Carers Partnership Group.  They 
are involved in the implementation of the Carers Strategy. 
 
RCT CSP has been working with RCT Councils Equality and Diversity Team 
in the development of a Staff Disability and Carers Network. It is hoped as the 
Network grows members can have a voice and be engaged with in the 

Page 65



 

 40 

development and reviewing of staff policies that affect individuals with a 
disability and those who are Carers. 
 
RCT CSP works with Carers in ensuring they are of grants available to assist 
them in their caring role. In particular, several Carers were supported with the 
Carers Trust grant applications.  Continuous work by local Young Carers 
Project is carried out, ensuring Young Carers have a voice in service delivery 
and the designing of services to meet their needs. 
 
The Cwm Taf Social Services & Wellbeing Citizen Panel has Carer 
representation which will be renewed every 2 years. 
 
John’s Campaign 
 
Cwm Taf University Health Board has signed up to „John‟s Campaign‟.  This 
campaign is about the right of people with dementia to be supported by their 
family Carers when they stay in hospital.   

The campaign believes that Carers should not just be allowed but should be 
welcomed, and that a collaboration between the patients and all connected 
with them is crucial to their health and their well-being.   

John‟s Campaign applies to all hospital settings: acute, community, mental 
health and its principles could extend to all other caring institutions where 
people are living away from those closest to them. 

Promotional materials for staff, patients and relatives in relation to John‟s 
Campaign within the hospital have been designed. 
 

Impact made 
 

 Carers have shared their knowledge and experiences whilst being 
members of the Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group and have provided 
direction for the implementation of the Action Plan. 

 
Next Steps? 
 

 The Cwm Taf Morgannwg Statement of Intent for Carers will be written in 
partnership with RCTCBC, MTCBC, CTMUHB and Bridgend County 
Borough Council, following the end of the Cwm Taf Carers Strategy. 

 2019/20 will involve new partnerships to continue the excellent work with 
Carers seen across the new region. 

 An Annual Carers Champion Conference will continue with input from 
Carers.  

 Carers will continue to be involved in the delivery of Carers Champion 
training. 

 Carers will be consulted regarding local Carers support delivery where 
appropriate. 
 
 

Page 66



 

 41 

4.2.5. Aim 5.  Working together to make the most of our resources for the 
benefit of Carers of all ages 

 
Collaboration 
 
Details of the Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group are referenced in section 3, 
but this work builds on a strong history of collaboration and regional working 
across the statutory and non statutory sector in RCT and MT.  
 
With Carer and third sector representation on the Cwm Taf Carers 
Partnership group, this strengthens our partnership approach at a local level. 
 
COLIN 
 
Cwm Taf continues to be represented at the COLIN meetings with a 
representative from RCTCBC and/or CTUHB attending. RCT‟s Carers 
Support Project Coordinator is a member of the „Alternative Approaches to 
Carer breaks‟ sub group, whose aim is to produce a short guidance paper to 
share with the COLIN on alternative and innovative approaches to Carers 
breaks. 
 
Carers Officers Network 
 
RCT Carers Support Project Coordinator attends the Carers Officers Network 
hosted by Carers Wales. This provides a forum to share best practice, discuss 
new WG legislation and the sharing of information and new initiatives for 
Carers. 
 
Carers Provider Network 
 
Interlink and VAMT were commissioned to organise 4 meetings of the Carers 
Provider Network.  The launch meeting was a great success with Carers and 
third sector organisations attending.     
 
Carers Rights Day 
The Carers Co-ordinator staffed an information stand in Prince Charles 
Hospital and distributed Carers Rights Day posters to all GP practices across 
Cwm Taf.  An example of the poster follows:  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 67



 

 42 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Do you look after someone? 

Then you could be a Carer 

 
A Carer is anyone who cares, unpaid (except for Carers 

allowance), for their partner, family member of friend who 

due to illness, disability, mental health or addiction cannot 

cope without their support.  A Carer can be anyone of any 

age.  If you support someone who would not be able to 

manage without your help, you are a Carer, even if you 

don’t think of yourself that way. 

 
To find out more about support that could be 

available to you please ask for the Carer champion 
at you GP surgery 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 68



 

 43 

 
Job Centres 
 
RCT CSP has developed close working links with Job Centres in RCT. The 
Project has attended a number of information days organised by the Job 
Centre to promote the identification and recognition of Carers. Carers Clinics 
are being piloted in Llantrisant, Porth and Tonypandy Job Centres.  
 
All Wales Parent and Carer Forum 
 
RCT CSP has worked with the All Wales Parent and Carer Forum in providing 
two way support and referrals to the Project. The Forum provided a session 
on how the new Social Services and Wellbeing Act will affect Parent Carers, 
along with Direct Payment and Carers Rights Workshops. 
 
Valleys Steps 
 
RCT CSP has continues to strengthen its relationship with Valleys Steps. The 
CSP has included their information and course dates in their Carers News. 
Valleys Steps also attended Chatterbox (CSP Coffee Morning) and have 
provide bespoke stress control and mindfulness courses for Carers. 
 
CARERS TRUST 
 
We widely distributed the 700 copies of the Carers Trust excellent publication 
„A Carers Guide to Dementia for unpaid Carers of all ages‟.  Senior Nurses 
across all hospital sites, including the Dementia Advisors in Cwm Taf.  The 
link to this publication that has been extensively used across Cwm Taf is:   
 
https://carers.org/sites/default/files/media/a_carers_guide_to_dementia_englis
h_language_version.pdf     
 
Impact made 

 The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group will oversee the implementation 
of the Action Plan for the Carers Strategy. 

 Attendance at local and National Carers Forums, such as the COLIN, to 
enable best practice to be shared and successful initiatives across Wales 
to be discussed. 

 Attendance to the Health Board roundtable hosted by Carers Trust has 
proven to be invaluable.   

 Linking in with community organisations help strengthen provision 
available to Carers as well as promoting the needs of Carers and Carers 
Services 

 Work with the Job Centres has resulted in the identification and 
subsequent support to Carers who may not have otherwise received the 
support available 

 
Next Steps? 

 The Cwm Taf Carers Partnership Group will continue to meet for the 
duration of the Carers Strategy.  

Page 69

https://carers.org/sites/default/files/media/a_carers_guide_to_dementia_english_language_version.pdf
https://carers.org/sites/default/files/media/a_carers_guide_to_dementia_english_language_version.pdf


 

 44 

 Continued partnership working to utilise community provision and 
expand support services available for Carers and other partners. 

 Further expand links with Job Centres to identify and provide bespoke 
support to Carers across Cwm Taf. 

 

5. Performance Monitoring 
 
Under the SSWB Act there are specific Performance Indicators for 
Carers which RCTCBC and MTCBC are required to report on annually. 
Information currently available is presented below: 
 
Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council   
 
Adult Carer Related Data-2018/19 
 

Number of assessments of need for support for carers undertaken during the year 246 

Of those, the number that led to a support plan 84 

Number of carer assessments that were refused by carers during the year 706 

Number of care and support plans and support plans that were reviewed during the year 4,286 

Of those, the number of plans that were reviewed within agreed timescales 2,128 

Number of requests for review of care and support plans and support plans for carers 
before agreed timescales made by an adult during the year 1180 

Of those, the number of reviews undertaken 1170 

  
Young Carer Related Data-2018/19 
 

Number of assessments of need for support for young carers undertaken during the year 71 

Of those, the number that led to a support plan 43 

Number of care and support plans and support plans that were reviewed during the year 4,038 

Of those, the number of plans that were reviewed within agreed timescales 3,435 

Number of requests for repeat assessment of need for care & support and need for 
support made by a child, young carer or person with parental responsibility during the 
year 45 

Of those, the number of repeat assessments undertaken 36 

Of those, the number of repeat assessments that led to a care & support plan or support 
plan 2 

 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council  
 

Number of assessments of need for support for young carers undertaken during the year  24 

Of those, the number of assessments that led to a support plan 24 

Number of care and support plans and support plans for young carers that were 
reviewed during the year 

156 

Of those, the number of plans that were reviewed within agreed timescales 156 

 
 

Page 70



 

 45 

6. Looking Forward 
 
Throughout 2018-19, Merthyr Tydfil CBC, RCT CBC and Cwm Taf UHB have 
sustained the success of the previous year and continued to work 
collaboratively in improving support, information and recognition of Carers. 
This Annual Report has highlighted the key areas of work and provided 
examples of the progress made.  
 
The Cwm Taf Carers Strategy will continue the work already achieved under 
the Carers Measure and improve services further as we implement the 
requirements of the SSWB Act.   
 
The transitional funding to support Carers provided by Welsh Government for 
2016/17, 2017/18 and 2018/19 to support the implementation of the SSWB 
Act is very welcome as there had been concerns regarding the loss of 
momentum and the lack of resources available to achieve identified actions.  
Merthyr CBC has had no Carers Coordinator in post since March 2017 and 
RCT has recently restructured the Carers Support Project.  Cwm Taf 
University Health has appointed a Carers Coordinator on secondment.   
 
It is essential to prevent any negative impact on Carers services and support 
and ensure the continued development and raising awareness of Carers 
throughout the region, meeting the increased responsibilities for partners 
under the SSWB Act.  
 
We look forward in 2019/20 to working in new partnerships as Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg.   

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Food Enforcement Service Plan 2019/20  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 Merthyr Council has a duty to enforce the Food Safety Act 1990 and The Food 

Hygiene Wales Regulations 2006 (as amended) and as part of the Food Standards 
Agency’s (FSA) Framework Agreement is required to produce a Food Enforcement 
Service Plan, in a prescribed format, that details the arrangements the Council has in 
place to discharge this duty.  

 
1.2 This report gives Cabinet an overview of the contents of the Food Enforcement 

Service Plan. It summarises key elements of the services proposals for the coming 
year in relation to food hygiene and food standards. It includes details of inspections, 
revisits, sampling and the implementation of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 
(FHRS). 

 

1.3 The report also briefly outlines how the service performed against last year’s plan. 
The service delivered on most key priorities for example the inspection of high risk 
businesses, investigation of communicable disease. Performance against a key 
outcome measure, the number of food businesses that are broadly compliant 
improved slightly and the number of 5 rated premises under the FHRS increased 
significantly. However the number of food samples taken was considerably down on 
previous years and the service still struggles to inspect businesses within 28 days of 
their due date. 

 

1.4 Key challenges for the coming year are identified in particular maintaining 
performance alongside increased legislative responsibilities in other areas which 
directly impact on the staff that provide the food safety service, the uncertainty 
surrounding EU Exit and the recruitment and retention of competent staff. 

 

Date Written 10th June 2019 ** 

Report Author Susan Gow 

Service Area Environmental Health 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 17th July 2019 

Page 73

Agenda Item 7



 
 

 .  

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The Food Enforcement Service Plan for 2019/20 be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 It is the aim of the Environmental Health Service to ensure the safety of the food 
 chain in the Borough so that all food, which is supplied for human consumption that 
 is produced, stored, distributed, handled or consumed within the Council’s area, is 
 safe to eat. By undertaking activities to achieve this aim the service makes an 
 important contribution to the Councils health and wellbeing objectives.  
 
3.2 The Food Enforcement Service Plan details food enforcement activities and is 
 designed to inform  residents, the business community and the wider audience of 
 the arrangements Merthyr Tydfil has in place to regulate food hygiene and food 
 standards.  The Plan has been drawn up in accordance with the requirements of the 
 FSA’s Framework Agreement. 
 
 
 

4.0 CONTENT OF THE FOOD ENFORCEMENT SERVICE PLAN 
 
4.1 The Food Enforcement Service Plan is a document that: 
 

 identifies how the services provided  help to deliver  the Councils wellbeing 
objectives; 

 details the scope and demands on the service; 

 gives information about the activities undertaken and the services provided ; 

 the resources available compared to those needed to deliver these services; 

 identifies potential risk to the service and where it may fall short of statutory 
requirements; 

 a review of performance in order to address any variance from meeting the 
requirements of the food enforcement service plan. 

 
4.2 Food Hygiene/Standards Risk Based Interventions  
 
 The service undertakes a number of activities in existing and new businesses. In 

broad terms all new businesses are required to receive an initial inspection within 28 
days of opening and existing business receive an inspection, or other intervention, 
based on risk also within 28 days of the due date. Premises are prioritised so that 
high-risk food establishments with the potential to cause serious risks to public 
health are prioritised over low risk businesses. Businesses that do not achieve the 
minimum standard of being broadly compliant (rated under the FHRS as 3 or above) 
.with food safety requirements will receive a revisit to ensure the necessary 
improvements are made. 

 

Page 74



4.3  In total it is anticipated that there will be approximately 305 planned interventions in 
high risk businesses categorised as A-C, 59 interventions in category D premises,   
70 follow up revisits to ensure compliance,  80 inspections of new businesses  and  
19 re ratings of businesses’ requested under the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme. 

 
4.4 Lower risk category E rated premises will receive either an inspection or an 

alternative strategy intervention to ensure that the scope of the business remains 
unchanged and does not warrant an inspection to re-evaluate risk. 

 
4.5  The Plan also contains details of food sampling that will be undertaken. 

Microbiological samples are core funded by Public Health Wales. However, food 
standards samples e.g. testing for chemical contamination, adulteration, speciation 
etc. rely on bidding for external funding being secured from the Food Standards 
Agency. It is anticipated that around 120 samples will be taken and analysed. Some 
will undoubtedly be of an unsatisfactory standard and appropriate investigation and 
follow up action will need to be taken. 

 
4.6 Communicable Disease 
 

The plan outlines how the section will deal with food related infectious disease and 
outbreaks. The same team of officers also deals with outbreaks of disease that do 
not involve person to person spread e.g. legionella. Typically the team deal with 
approximately 75 individual cases and 2-3 outbreaks per year, unplanned events of 
this nature can have a significant impact on the planned work programme. 

 
4.7 Challenges to the service 
 

(i) EU Exit- 
The UK can currently export to certain Third Countries via Trade agreements 
made with the EU. However, following EU Exit, the UK will no longer benefit 
from such trade agreements, and the UK will be classed as another Third 
Country. This will have implications for businesses who may need Export 
Health Certificates and Attestations which are either issued by suitably 
authorised competent food safety officers or official veterinarians. It is unclear 
at the time of writing what the implications are for the service but preparations 
for a no deal scenario have meant that LA food services have had to establish 
which businesses may be affected and ensure that officers are suitably 
trained and competent to undertake these activities.  

(ii)     Financial - The continuing financial difficulties faced by all local authorities 
has required implementation of remedial measures to offset budgetary 
deficits. This has resulted in a gradual process of attrition whist the level of 
responsibilities and new legislation has increased. The FSA noted in their  
audit report (February 2019) that the service has been subject to significant 
resource challenges, in particular the transfer of food standards from the 
trading standards service with no resource.  

(iii)      Capacity- 
            Recruitment and retention of experienced staff that meet the competency 

requirements of the Food Law Code of Practice has proved difficult with an 
experienced member of staff leaving the LA and the inability to recruit a new 
member of staff for a prolonged period. 

(iv) Food Hygiene Rating (Wales) Act 2013 – this legislation became law in 
 November 2013. It requires all relevant food businesses to display their food 

Page 75



 hygiene rating sticker and also requires all local authorities in Wales to 
 implement the Act. In order to receive a rating a business must receive an 
 inspection. The Act also introduced a new set of regulations in November 
 2016 to regulate promotional material used by take away businesses. 

 
 The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) has made a significant positive 

impact on hygiene standards within the Borough however; it has also placed 
an additional burden on the section. Not only must inspections be timely to 
ensure ratings are up to date but it also provides for businesses to apply for a 
re-rating which increases the number of unplanned inspections. The 
department is also responsible for policing the scheme to ensure that its 
credibility is maintained. Successful implementation of the scheme is reliant 
on the current level of capacity being maintained and the use of fixed penalty 
receipts and re-rating income to facilitate overtime payments. 

 
 

4.8  Performance Review 2018/19 

 
    The food safety team delivered on key elements of last year’s plan. Highlights 

include:  
 

 The team achieved 100% of its planned high risk inspection programme  

 The percentage of premises that are broadly compliant for food safety increased 
slightly to 93% and the number of 5 rated businesses increased to 47.29% the 
highest since the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme became mandatory in 2013.  

 19 paid for re rating inspections were carried out at businesses request. 

  The team investigated 75 confirmed cases of communicable disease and 
investigated an additional 11 Norovirus type outbreaks in schools/care 
homes/food businesses; 

 Four successful prosecutions were undertaken,  and 9 fixed penalty notices were 
served for non-compliance with the FHRS  

 A successful externally funded follow up food safety management project to raise 
awareness of allergens in Chinese takeaways was undertaken. 
 

   However the service did suffer from capacity issues and the  number of food 
 samples taken for   analysis was 31 compared to 110 samples taken the previous 
 year. In addition the service did not inspect new and existing businesses within  28 
 days of the due date for inspection in accordance with the Food Law Code of 
 Practice. 
 

5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 None. 

Page 76



 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
1of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are … The plan comprehensively  informs residents and the 
business community about the arrangements and proposed interventions for  the coming 
year to regulate and improve both food safety and food standards within the Borough.  
 
The main negative impacts are …none 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION  
 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS   
CABINET MEMBER FOR REGENERATION 

AND  PUBLIC PROTECTION 

  

    
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
Food Standards Agency  
Report on the Food Law 
Enforcement Services 

 
Published February 2019 

 
Available via the Background Paper Link 

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 

  

  

EENNVVIIRROONNMMEENNTTAALL  HHEEAALLTTHH  FFOOOODD  

SSEERRVVIICCEE  PPLLAANN  22001199//2200   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 79



2 

 

 
CONTENTS 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Food Service Aims and Objectives 
1.2 Links to our Wellbeing Objectives. 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 Profile of the Local Authority 
2.2 Organisational Structure 
2.3 Scope of the Food Service 
2.4 Demands on the Food Service 
2.5 Enforcement Policy 
 
3. Service Delivery 
 
3.1 Food Hygiene and Food Standards Interventions 
3.2 Food Complaints  
3.3 Home Authority Principle and Primary Authority Scheme 
3.4 Advice to Business  
3.5 Food Sampling 
3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious Disease 
3.7 Food Safety Incidents 
3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations 
3.9 Food Safety Promotion 
 
4. Resources 
 
4.1 Financial Allocation 
4.2 Staffing Allocation 
4.3 Staff Development Plan 
 
5. Quality Assessment 
 
6. Review 
 
6.1 Review against the Service Plan 
6.2 Identification of variances.  
6.3 Areas of improvement 
 
7.  Appendices 
 
1 Sampling plan 
2 Shopping Basket 
3 Allergen Management in Food Businesses 

3(A)  Food Safety Management Project 2017/2018 – Allergen management in food 
businesses 

3(B) Food Safety Management Project 2018/2019 -Allergen Management in Chinese 
Takeaways- Follow up Study  

 
 
 

Page 80



3 

 

 

 
1.    Introduction 

 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council (MTCBC) has a statutory duty to enforce a range of food 
safety legislation. 
 
The Food Standards Agency (FSA) has a key role in overseeing local authority enforcement 
activities in respect of food matters, and has issued guidance on the annual production of food 
enforcement service plans by local authorities.    
 
This plan has been produced in accordance with guidance issued to Local Authorities by the 
FSA in the Framework Agreement.  The plan is intended to inform residents and the business 
community about the arrangements MTCBC has in place to regulate and improve both food 
safety and food standards within the Borough.  
 
The plan is approved by Cabinet and a review of performance against the plan is carried out. 
The plan is therefore an important tool for ensuring that national and local priorities are 
addressed and delivered within the Borough. 
 

1.1 Food Service Aims and Objectives 
 

The Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 is about improving the economic, social, 
cultural and environmental wellbeing of Wales.  For the first time in law public bodies have a 
shared vision and a common purpose. 
 
The Act puts in place seven wellbeing goals to ensure we all work towards achieving the same 
shared vision.  Each wellbeing goal has a descriptor to help build a common understanding 
across Wales. 

The Act also places a legal duty on public bodies to adopt the sustainable development 
principle when setting wellbeing objectives and in taking steps to meet those objectives.  

The Councils wellbeing objectives are set out in the Councils plan “Focus on the Future: 
Wellbeing in our Community”    

Our Wellbeing Objectives are: 

Best Start to Life 

Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the skills they need to 
be successful learners and confident individuals. 

Working Life  

People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet the needs of businesses, with a 
developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil an attractive destination. 

Environmental Wellbeing 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside 

Living Well 

Page 81

http://www.merthyr.gov.uk/media/2695/guide-to-the-wfgact-en.pdf


4 

 

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where they are safe and 
enjoy good physical and mental health. 
In addition Welsh Government (WG) has published a set of national enforcement priorities for 
Welsh local authorities. Our food service area specifically links into “ensuring the safety and 
quality of the food chain to minimise the risk to human and animal health”.  
 
 

1.2 Links to Our  Wellbeing Objectives and  WG National Priorities  
 

The food service will contribute to the local authority‟s wellbeing objectives and the WG 
enforcement priorities by:- 
 

 Undertaking risk based  food hygiene and food standards interventions in food premises 
within the Borough to improve standards of food hygiene and cleanliness. This will 
contribute to a positive perception of the Borough as a whole.  Improved standards will 
also mean businesses will become more attractive to customers thereby enhancing the 
local economy.  

 

 Implementations of the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme to facilitate consumer choice and 
help traders promote good businesses.  

 

 Investigating complaints about food and food premises. 
 

 Taking appropriate enforcement action in accordance with our Compliance and 
Enforcement Policy against businesses, or individuals, who break Food Laws. 

 

 Undertaking a food sampling programme to monitor the microbiological quality of ready 
to eat food either manufactured or sold within the Borough on the basis of risk and in 
conjunction with regional and national initiatives. 
 

 Undertake food standards surveillance programme to ensure that food is:  
 

o of acceptable nature, substance and quality; 
 

o is not potentially injurious to the consumer‟s health or safety; 
 

o is not falsely described or labelled so as to mislead the consumer; 
 

 

 Responding promptly and appropriately to all food alerts issued by the Food Standards 
Agency.  
 

 Ensuring a level playing field for food businesses operators through the provision of 
advice and consistency of enforcement. 

 

 Working in collaboration with other Local Authorities and Organisations to maximise 
public health outcomes and financial efficiencies 
 

Page 82



5 

 

 Providing advice and support to new businesses thereby encouraging them to locate 
within the Borough,  allow them to develop in the initial stages without making costly 
mistakes and to achieve the best possible rating under the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 

 

 Providing advice and support to existing businesses as they expand their product ranges 
and distribution network. 
 

 Protecting businesses from damage to their reputation as a result of food fraud/crime. 
 

 Tackling food fraud/crime to protect our most vulnerable members of society. 
 

  Working closely with our partners to identify and resolve cross border food safety risks.    
 

 Working with other agencies to promote food safety to the public, young and old, through 
initiatives such as National Food Safety Week. 
 

 Investigating of cases of food poisoning and provision of advice to cases and contacts. 
 

 Promotion of healthy eating. 
.  

2. Background 
 
2.1 Profile of the Local Authority 

 
Merthyr Tydfil is situated in the Heads of the Valleys Region and is the smallest local authority in 
Wales with an area of around 11,100 hectares. Approximately one fifth of the County Borough 
lies within the Brecon Beacons National Park to the north, leaving some 8,668 hectares of land 
under the planning control of the County Borough Council. The County Borough‟s other 
neighbouring authorities are Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council to the west and 
Caerphilly County Borough Council to the east and south.  
 
Merthyr Tydfil has a population of approximately 60,000 of which, approximately 44,000 reside 
in the main town of Merthyr Tydfil which functions as the main commercial, retail and service 
centre of the County Borough and the Heads of the Valleys Region. As such, the main town of 
Merthyr Tydfil contains administrative headquarters (e.g. the County Borough Council), the 
primary shopping areas, the majority of employment opportunities, a hospital, and many other 
higher order services and facilities which serve surrounding settlements. The remainder of the 
population is distributed amongst eight interdependent settlements situated further south along 
the Taff and Taff Bargoed river valleys. These settlements contain more limited job 
opportunities and a range of lower order services and facilities serving local needs.  
 
Merthyr Tydfil fulfils a key strategic role at the centre of the Heads of the Valleys region, 
benefiting from high levels of accessibility through its location at the intersection of the A470 (T) 
and A465 (T) strategic transport corridors in the north, and the A470 (T) and A472 strategic 
transport corridors in the south. The County Borough lies just 25 minutes north of Cardiff and 
the M4 corridor. Currently 1,499,5471 people and 679,4002 jobs are within the South East 
Wales Region. 
 

                                                 
 
 

Page 83



6 

 

2.2 Organisational Structure 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is composed of 33 Councillors who are elected every 4 
years as democratic representatives to the constituents in each of the eleven wards. 
 
Independent Councillors currently hold the political majority. These elected Councillors are 
nominated into the decision making process which operates under a Cabinet system with 
individual portfolios.  All decisions made by the Cabinet are subject to full Council approval and 
scrutiny review.  
 
The Council is divided into 3 directorates: - 
 

 People and Performance. 

 Place and Transformation. 

 Corporate Functions 
 
The Environmental Health Service sits within Regeneration and Public Protection Division within 
the Place and Transformation Directorate.  
 
The food safety service is delivered by a team of 5 officers made up of 2 full-time and 3 part-
time Environmental Health Officers who are also responsible for other functions. 
.  
The Public Health Team is directly responsible to the Environmental Health Manager who acts 
as the lead officer for food safety and is also responsible for the day to day running of all 
Environmental Health functions. An Environmental Health Officer from the food safety team has 
been nominated to act as the lead for food safety in the Environmental Health Managers 
absence. 
 
Officers are authorised under the Council‟s Constitution to a level, which is commensurate with 
their qualifications and experience in accordance with the Statutory Food Law Code of Practice. 
 

Links to Other Services 
 
Specialist Services 
 
Food Analyst- The County Borough has appointed Mr Alistair Low of Alastair Low, 
B.Sc.(Hons), M.Sc., M.Chem.A., C.Chem Minton, Treharne & Davies (MTD) Long Wood Drive,  
Cardiff, CF14 7Hy to act as Public Analyst to the Authority, as required by Section 27 of the 
Food Safety Act 1990.  There is a charge to the Local Authority for the use of this service. 
 
Food Examiner- The Authority also has an agreement with the Public Health Wales who 
provide a microbiological analysis and an advice service, which is based at the Microbiology 
Department, Llandough Hospital, Penlan Road, Penarth, Vale of Glamorgan.  The service is 
subject to a formal Service Level Agreement (SLA) that determines the funding allocated to the 
LA and the types of samples that can be submitted as a part of that allocation.  
 
Campden BRI- The Local Authority is a member of Campden BRI based in Chipping Campden, 
Gloucestershire who provides advice on various specialist food matters, as necessary.  
Analytical services are also available and there is a charge for each sample submitted. 
 
Specialist Contractors- Employed as and when required.  

Page 84



7 

 

 

 

 

2.3 Scope of the Food Service 
 
The Councils Public Health Team undertakes a wide range of activities in order to provide a 
comprehensive service to its customers combining enforcement, educational and advisory 
elements.  The team will: - 
 

 Carry out food hygiene/standards interventions in food premises within the Borough. 
 

 Implement microbiological and standards food sampling programmes. 
 

 Investigate complaints about food purchased within the Borough, and liaise with the 
Originating, Home or Primary Authority where food is manufactured outside the Borough. 
We will request EHO colleagues in other areas to visit premises that may be the source 
of a problem identified in Merthyr Tydfil where necessary. 
 

 Collect and submit intelligence on food incidents and criminal activity involving food. 
 

 React promptly and appropriately to food alerts and incidents. 
 

 Maintain a register of food premises. 
 

 Issue approvals to relevant businesses. 
 

 Investigate actual and alleged cases of food and water-borne illnesses. 
 

 Provide advice to business and the wider community on food / infectious disease 
matters.    
 

 Implement the Food Hygiene Rating Scheme. 
 

 Undertake special projects, surveys etc. as the need arises and when resources permit. 
 

 Examine and respond to planning and licensing applications in relation to food 
establishments. 
 

 Provision of education, training and advice. 
 

 Examine and respond to planning and licensing applications in relation to food premises 
and events.  
 

Alongside the food service function the Public Health Team also deliver the local authority‟s 
health and safety service, regulate private water supplies,  enforce no smoking legislation and 
new public health regulations e.g. in relation to intimate piercing. 
 
 
 

Page 85



8 

 

2.4 Demands on the Food Service 
 
a) The Public: 

 
 We serve 3 „types‟ of customer: 
 

 The 60,000 residents of the Borough, 
 

 An unknown number of consumers who live outside the Borough but who shop/eat in the 
Borough, 

 

 An unknown number of consumers who live outside of the Borough but who have 
purchased food that is manufactured at premises located within the Borough. 

 
b)  Businesses: 
 

At 1st April 2019 the Borough had approximately 575 food premises registered on its 
database.  All of the businesses are subject to  a programme of risk-based  interventions      
determined in accordance with by the Statutory Food Law Code of Practice (Wales). 

 
Tables 1 and 2 below provide a profile of the food premises within the Borough which have 
remained fairly consistent.  
 
 

 
TABLE 1 

 
PROFILE OF FOOD PREMISES BY TYPE 

 

 
TYPE OF PREMISES 
 LAEMS categories 
 

 
Number of Premises 2019/2020 
 

Distributors 12 

Manufacturers/Packers 3 

Producers 1 

Slaughterhouses 1 

Supermarket/hypermarket 10 

Small retailers 77 

Retailers others 46 

Restaurant/café/canteen 104 

Hostel/guest house 12 

Pub/club 83 

Take-away 65 

Caring establishment 61 

School/college 34 

Mobile food unit 30 

Restaurant/caterer – others 
 

39 

TOTAL 575 

Page 86



9 

 

 
Approved Premises 
 
The Authority currently has one approved premise which is a stand-alone cold store. 

 

 
TABLE 2 

 
PROFILE OF FOOD PREMISES BY FOOD HYGIENE RISK RATING 

 

 
 

CATEGORY 
 

 
Number of 
Premises  
2017/18  

 
Number of 
Premises 
2018/19 

 
Number of 
premises 
2019/20 

Risk Rating A 0 0 1 

Risk Rating B 40 45 38 

Risk Rating C 176 273 266 

Risk Rating D 22 55 59 

Risk Rating E 123 188 184 

    

Unrated  50  25 25 

TOTAL 411 
Estimate 

586 575 

  
Service delivery points 
 
The service operates out of one conveniently located central point i.e. the Civic Centre, Castle 
Street, Merthyr Tydfil.  The Civic Centre is accessible to our customers by road, rail and bus 
services.  Normal office hours are 8.30am – 5.00pm Monday to Thursday and 8.30am – 4.30pm 
on Friday. 
 
Out of Hours Service 
 
The service primarily operates office hours from Monday to Friday. However, increasingly 
businesses are open outside these hours and officers regularly carry out routine inspections 
during evenings and weekends. 
 
There is currently no formal out of hour‟s emergency service although informal arrangements 
have allowed the service to respond to emergency situations in the past with officers attending 
on a good-will basis. The service has entered into an arrangement with neighbouring Rhondda 
Cynon Taff Council to provide reciprocal cover if officers are unavailable from either authority 
during an out of hours emergency situation. 
 
Other demands on the service 
 
EU Exit- 
The UK can currently export to certain Third Countries via Trade agreements made with the EU. 
However, following EU Exit, the UK will no longer benefit from such trade agreements, and the 
UK will be classed as another Third Country. This will have implications for businesses who may 
need Export Health Certificates and Attestations which are either issued by suitably authorised 
competent food safety officers or official veterinarians. It is unclear at the time of writing what 

Page 87



10 

 

the implications are for the service but preparations for a no deal scenario have meant that LA 
food services have had to establish which businesses may be affected and ensure that officers 
are suitably trained and competent to undertake these activities. 
 
Financial –  
The continuing financial difficulties faced by all local authorities have required implementation of 
remedial measures to offset budgetary deficits. This has resulted in a gradual process of 
attrition whist the level of responsibilities and new legislation (not just legislation governing food 
as the same members of staff deliver other public health regulatory functions) has increased. A 
Wales Audit Office report Delivering with Less- Environmental Health Services – Follow –up 
Review- Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council published in December 2018 found that 
environmental health resources have reduced and the Council cannot demonstrate that it is 
delivering all its statutory environmental health services. Although the food safety service has 
been prioritised and is currently delivering its statutory functions the Food Standards Agency 
Audit report “Report on the Food Law Enforcement Services” published in February 2019 also 
noted “Food law enforcement services had been subject to significant resource challenges in 
the three years prior to the audit and in 2014/15 responsibility for food standards official controls 
was transferred from the authority‟s Trading Standards service to the Environmental Health 
service with no additional resource”. 
  
Capacity- 
Recruitment and retention of experienced staff that meet the competency requirements of the 
Food Law Code of Practice has proved difficult with an experienced member of staff leaving the 
LA and the inability to recruit a new member of staff for a prolonged period.  

 
Food Hygiene Rating (Wales) Act 2013 – this legislation became law in November 2013. It 
requires all relevant food businesses to display their food hygiene rating sticker and also 
requires all local authorities in Wales to implement the Act. In order to receive a rating a 
business must receive an inspection. The Act also introduced a new set of regulations in 
November 2016 to regulate promotional material used by take away businesses. 
 
The Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS) has made a significant positive impact on hygiene 
standards within the Borough however; it has also placed an additional burden on the section. 
Not only must inspections be timely to ensure ratings are up to date, but it also makes provision 
for businesses to appeal their rating and also to apply for a re-rating which increases the 
number of unplanned inspections. The department is also responsible for policing the scheme 
to ensure that its credibility is maintained.  
 
Cultural and Ethnic Diversity- The number of food businesses in the County Borough whose 
first language is not English has traditionally been low. However in recent years there has been 
an increase in the number of businesses run by Food Business Operators of Eastern European 
origin. 
 
Seasonal Businesses-The number of seasonal businesses is low and does not present any 
difficulties. 
 

2.5 Compliance and Enforcement Policy 
 
The Authority has formally adopted a Compliance and Enforcement Policy. The policy was 
subject to 5 year review and was approved by Council in March 2019.The Policy  reflects the 
principles of proportionality, targeting, consistency, transparency and accountability. The policy 

Page 88



11 

 

sets out our current approach to law enforcement and is based upon the principles espoused 
by, the Regulators Code and has regard to current government guidance. The policy is available 
on the Authority‟s website and also in hard copy from the Environmental Health Department, 
Civic Centre, Castle Street, Merthyr Tydfil.  
 

3. Service Delivery 
 
3.1 Food Hygiene/Standards Interventions 
 
The Food Law Code of Practice (Wales) allows a flexible approach to food law enforcement 
whereby Local Authorities can use a range of interventions to monitor, support and increase 
business compliance. It is the policy of Merthyr Tydfil‟s Food Service to ensure that all food 
businesses within the Borough receive interventions in accordance with The Food Law Code of 
Practice (Wales) and Practice Guidance.  
 

Food Hygiene 
 
Interventions consist of official and non-official controls: 
 
Official Controls  
 

 Inspections 

 Monitoring 

 Surveillance 

 Verification 

 Audit 

 Sampling where analysis is to be carried out by an official laboratory 
 
 
Non-Official Controls 
 

 Education, advice and coaching 

 Information and intelligence gathering (including sampling where the analysis or examination 
is not to be carried out by an official laboratory). 

 
Interventions will be applied on a risk-based approach such that more intensive regulation can 
be directed at those food businesses that present the greatest risk to public health.  
 
The Code of Practice requires that the highest risk rated premises be subject to a full or part 
inspection, or audit. The service is committed to carrying out full inspections in our highest risk 
premises categorised as A or B rated at intervals specified in the Code.  
 
There is an opportunity for the service to alternate between one or more interventions 
comprising official controls in category C premises if the premise is deemed to be broadly 
compliant, rather than carrying out a full inspection, partial inspection or audit. Our experience 
has shown us that in the current economic climate businesses are increasingly willing to cut 
corners or branch out into new markets or processes to make ends meet. We believe that 
shortfalls in food hygiene are more likely to be identified as a result of a thorough inspection and 
we will continue to use a full, partial  inspection or audit as our chosen method of intervention in 
these premises. Conducting full, partial inspections or audits of Category C businesses also 

Page 89



12 

 

means that the interval between awards of a food hygiene rating will not be more than 18 
months. Leaving long periods between re ratings has the potential to undermine the Scheme.  
 
Category D premises can be subject to interventions, which alternate between interventions that 
are official and non-official controls. The team currently has a policy of carrying out official 
controls in D rated businesses. 
 
For a number of years low risk premises in category E have being subject to an alternative 
enforcement strategy which will means: - 
 

i. We will carry out an inspection when they are subject of a complaint. 
 

ii. When we become aware of a significant change in the nature of the business, which is 
likely to alter the risk rating e.g. through planning applications, local knowledge, requests 
for advice from the proprietor etc. we will carry out an inspection.  

 
iii. We will identify and target specific groups of premises for food safety initiatives. 

 
iv. We will make contact with all low risk premises at least once every 3 years to ascertain 

their status. 
 
 TIn practice contact with low risk premises has been achieved by the administration of a simple 
checklist during a site visit or telephone call from an officer. The  food business operator 
completes a new food premises registration form at every visit so that the details held on the 
Tascomi database are updated . Where  changes are identified which will potentially alter the 
risk rating of a premises the business will be subject to an inspection. However, this approach 
this means that a new food hygiene rating cannot be issued as this can only be given following 
an inspection. The resultant risk is that ratings can be very old and this could undermine 
consumer confidence. Consequently we plan to inspect premises where they have already 
received one alternative intervention as part of the planned inspection programme.  
 
 
Table 3 Total Food Premises Breakdown for 2015-2020 
 

Risk 
Category 

Frequency 
of 
intervention 

  
No. of high risk Interventions Due  
 

  2015/16 2016/17 2017/18  2018/19 2019/20 

A 6 months 1 5 0 0 1 

B 12 months 34 32 40 41 36 

C 18 months 165 168 176 172 169 

High Risk 
total 

 200 205 216 213 206 

Achievement 
(FSA data) 

 100% 100% 100% 100%  

 
A summary of the planned inspection workload at the beginning of the year is contained in the 
table below.  
 
 
 

Page 90



13 

 

 
Table 4 Summary of  Work Programme for 2019/20 based on risk, inspection due dates 
and previous years’ workload 
 

Risk Category No of visits Planned               Type of Visit 

A 0 Full Inspection 

B 36 Full inspection   

C 181 Full inspection 

D  33 Full inspection/ 
Official intervention 

E  76 Alternative Strategy          

New premises (including 
unrated)                              

10 unrated at start of year  

Revisits to all categories 70 (approx. based on 
historical data) 

Revisit to check compliance 

Re rating requested under 
the FHRS 

19 (approx. based on 
historical data 

Full inspection 

Total no of planned visits  425 (approx.)  

   
There has been a steady increase   in the number of requests for re rating inspections over the 
last few years rising from 10 in 2016/17 to 19 in 2018/19.       

 
Food Standards  
 
Trading Standards have traditionally enforced food standards legislation including composition, 
labelling claims, allergens, chemical contamination, compositional standards, additives 
genetically modified ingredients and foods, and articles that come into contact with food such as 
plastics. However the function has  been transferred to the Environmental Health Service.  
 
As a result the frequency of food standards interventions, in all but a few  cases, follow the food 
hygiene rating which has been given as this will usually be more frequent than a scheduled 
standards inspection. This will ensure that only one visit is undertaken where hygiene and 
standards inspections are undertaken at the same time.  Our customer survey results show that 
businesses value enforcement visits and want coordination of Council functions to reduce the 
burden on their business. Where a standards visit is due before the hygiene (this is a very small 
number) this will either be carried out separately or the hygiene inspection brought forward so 
that the inspections are carried out at the same time. 
 
There is one FSA approved premise, namely a large slaughterhouse and cutting plant, where 
food hygiene is the responsibility of the FSA but standards and labelling is enforced by the local 
authority‟s public health team. 

 
New Businesses 
 
The service will continue to proactively identify new businesses by a variety of methods i.e. 
routine arrangements with other Local Authority departments such as Planning, Business Rates 
Licensing, Trading Standards and Environmental Services, as well as local intelligence.  All new 
businesses are recorded on the shared new premises  and Tascomi databases. As soon as a 
new business, or change of ownership is identified new food business operators are sent a food 

Page 91



14 

 

premises registration form,  food safety enforcement questionnaire and information about the 
FHRS as a matter of course.  
 
It is impossible to predict how many new businesses will open or change ownership but based 
on historical data the team normally inspects approximately 70  new food  businesses. However 
this increased to 90 businesses during 2018/19. 
 
It is also worth noting that many of the new business  fail within their first year of trading. Mobile 
premises continue to present a particular problem, a lot of investment is made in these 
businesses by the service but this is not reflected in the end of year statistics as many cease 
trading after a few months.  
 
In addition the Food Law Practice Guidance (Wales) stipulates that all new food businesses 
should receive an inspection within 28 days of opening or registering. The turnover of premises 
means that this continues to be a challenge to achieve. The Food Law Practice Guidance states 
that “where the establishment is believed to be undertaking high risk food activities the Authority 
should undertake an initial inspection within 28 days of commencement of operations”. The 
service will continue to prioritise inspections of new businesses on the basis of the information 
provided on the food premises registration form, food safety enforcement questionnaire and/or 
local knowledge, with those that potentially pose the greatest risk being inspected first.  
 

Revisits 
We firmly believe that revisits are an essential part of any effective intervention  programme and 
the service has adopted the All Wales Food Safety Expert Panels Policy on undertaking revisits. 
 

 Food Hygiene- Revisits are carried out to all businesses that are found not to be broadly 
compliant. The timing of the revisit  will be dependent on the nature of the food safety 
contraventions identified and in accordance with the revisit policy. In addition, as a result 
of conducting a focussed audit on 3 rated premises we established that business with 
food safety management failings that were not revisited tended not to undertake the 
required improvements and dropped to a lower rating on the next scheduled inspection. 
Officers will therefore exercise discretion and revisit some premises that are deemed 
broadly compliant.Where necessary further enforcement visits, coupled with legal action 
in some cases, may be undertaken.  It is difficult to give an exact number of revisits but 
historical data allows us to predict that approximately 70 food hygiene revisits will be 
required. 

 

 Food Standards- As for food hygiene where significant breaches of food standards 
legislation are identified revisits and follow up enforcement action will be taken in 
accordance with the revisit policy.  

 

Imported Food Control 
 
Although Merthyr Tydfil is an inland LA the service still has an important role to play in 
monitoring food imports to ensure they meet food safety requirements. This role is likely to 
become increasingly important as a result of EU Exit particularly in the event of a no deal 
scenario.  
  
During the inspection of food premises, officers consider the origin of imported foods. Any 
indications that food may not have been subject to correct import controls are investigated and, 

Page 92



15 

 

where necessary, the food is removed from the food chain. Imported foods may also be subject 
to examination as part of our sampling programme.  
 

Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 
 
The service is committed to the FHRS which aims to promote consumer choice.  

The number of appeals against the rating awarded continues to be low with only 1 received in 
2018/19. The scheme has resulted in an increase in workload as a result of requests for re 
ratings; 19 re ratings were carried out during the same period.  

In order to retain credibility it is also necessary to police the scheme to ensure ratings are 
correctly displayed. Last year a total of 7 fixed penalty notices were served for failure to display 
a valid food hygiene rating sticker. 
 

Out of Hours Inspections 
 
Officers will continue to inspect premises out of normal working hours wherever this is deemed 
necessary. 
 
3.2 Food Complaints 
 
Investigation of food complaints is an important part of the Environmental Health Food Service.  
It is the policy of the service to investigate every food complaint brought to its attention, in 
accordance with the Food Law Code of Practice (Wales).  
 
In practice this means that all food complaints will be assessed by an officer upon receipt and 
the most appropriate course of action determined. 
 
In circumstances when the food, which is the subject of complaint, was manufactured outside 
the County Borough, details of the complaint are also referred to the Originating, Home and/or 
Primary Authority.  When a resident of the Borough has purchased food in another Local 
Authority‟s area the food is collected and referred to the appropriate Local Authority for 
investigation. 
 
The investigation of complaints may also involve microbiological or chemical analysis being 
undertaken and this has a financial implication for the service. 
 
The graph below shows that the number of food complaints received. The increase 2016/17 
onwards can be explained by the change of in information management system and the way 
complaints are coded and also because of the inclusion of complaints received about food 
standards which were previously recorded separately.   
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 93



16 

 

 
 
 

Total Number of Food  Complaints Received 2018/19 
 

  
 
 
 
During 2018/19 a total 64 food hygiene complaints were received   10 relating to food and 54 
about premises.  A further 23 complaints were received about food standards issues. All of 
these complaints were investigated and enforcement action taken in accordance with the LA‟s 
food safety enforcement policy.  
 

3.3 Home Authority Principle/Primary Authority Scheme 
 

Home Authority Principle 
 
The Home Authority Principle applies to businesses that have their „decision making‟ base 
within the Borough and whose decisions have national or international impact.  The principle 
provides a mechanism for efficient liaison between Authorities with multiple-site businesses and 
it is the policy of Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council to operate the Home Authority Principle 
in accordance with guidance issued.  The Local Authority has no formal arrangements with the 
manufacturers located within the Borough however does act as home authority for 1 major 
manufacturer.   
 
Furthermore the service will:- 
 

 Provide advice to all Home Authority businesses on matters relating to food, either when 
requested, or in response to a referral from another Local Authority. 

Page 94



17 

 

 

 Have regard to any information or advice it has received as a result of liaison with home 
and/or originating Authorities. 

 

 Having initiated liaison with any home and/ or originating Authority, notify that Authority of 
the outcome. 

 

Primary Authority Scheme 
 
Primary Authority enables businesses to obtain consistent advice on compliance with regulation 
from local authorities. The Primary Authority may direct against enforcement action if it is 
inconsistent with assured advice given. The scheme is statutory and was established by the 
Regulatory and Enforcement and Sanctions Act 2008. The service will: 

 

 Consult with the Primary Authority where the service has concerns about compliance of a 
multi-site business operating in the Borough. 
 

 Have regard to any advice or inspection plan issued by a Primary Authority.  
 

 Notify the Primary Authority of any proposed enforcement action. 
 
The Service does not have a Primary Authority relationship with any business in Merthyr Tydfil. 
 

3.4 Advice to Business 
 
Business advice is offered to all businesses at the point of contact and this service remains free 
of charge. There were a total of 23 food safety/standards requests for advice recorded last year.  
 
In addition we aim to assist businesses wherever possible by providing food safety advice 
disseminated through a variety of channels, such as:-. 
 

 Advice provided as part of the intervention process; 

 A variety of information leaflets are available in various languages; 

 The provision of training and seminars subject external funding. 

 Participation in national events, such as Food Safety Week; 

 Providing advice to organisers of events; 

 Advice in response to planning applications and on receipt of Temporary Events Notices 
where applicable;  

 When new legislation or guidance is issued information is provided by the most effective 
means to appropriate target groups e.g. mail shot, workshops/seminars;  

 Bespoke coaching sessions for businesses subject to external funding e.g. town centre 
food and drink improvement grant. 

 Bespoke coaching where inspections have revealed that businesses are struggling to 
understand and meet specific legal requirements e.g. allergen control or businesses with 
poor FHRS ratings subject to external funding. 

 Council website and social media. 

 

 

Page 95



18 

 

3.5 Food Sampling 
 
The Local Authority recognises that sampling makes an important contribution to the protection 
of Public Health and the Food Law enforcement function. 
 
The Local Authority‟s Food Service will therefore continue its policy of taking food samples  in 
the following situations: - 
 

 To participate in National, Regional and locally co-ordinated surveys/programmes. 
 

 From local food producers. 
 

 Home/originating Authority samples 
 

 In response to complaints 
 

 In order to monitor processes 
 

 As part of a special investigations/initiatives 
 

 During inspections 
 

 To assess durability of products 
 

 For surveillance/screening processes 
 
In order to carry out the above the food service will:- 
 
a) Comply with the requirements of the Statutory Food Law Code of Practice (Wales). 
 
b) Have regard to guidance issued by Food Standards Agency and industry guides. 
 
c) Resources permitting take part in regional and national sampling initiatives put forward 

by the Food Standards Agency, Welsh Food Microbiological Forum, Food Standards and 
Agriculture Group, Welsh Heads of Trading Standards (WHoTS),Public Health Wales 
and the Food Safety Task Groups. 

 
d) When microbiological examination is required submit samples to Public Health Wales 

based in Llandough Hospital, Penarth who  provide the services of a formal food 
examiner. 

 
e) When samples require analysis for extraneous matter, chemical contamination, 

composition etc. samples are  to the Public Analyst appointed by the Local Authority or 
other appropriate laboratory. 

 
f) Produce a sampling programme for both food hygiene and food standards, which is 

contained at Appendix 1. The food hygiene  programme is a “live document” and is 
updated on a monthly basis in consultation with Public Health Wales. 

 

Page 96



19 

 

Microbiological samples will normally be collected weekly and food standards in blocks as part 
of a targeted programme. However samples taken in connection with complaints, alleged 
outbreaks of food poisoning etc. may be submitted at any time. 
 
 
Proprietors will always be advised when samples produce an unsatisfactory result. Action will 
then be taken to identify the reason for the unsatisfactory result and follow up samples will be 
taken as necessary. 
 

3.6 Control and Investigation of Outbreaks and Food Related Infectious    
Disease 
 

The Communicable Disease Outbreak Plan for Wales lays out the approach to managing all 
communicable disease outbreaks with public health implications across Wales. The Plan is 
overseen by the Welsh Government and prescribes the manner in which outbreaks are 
identified, managed and controlled. 
 
Consultants in Communicable Disease (CCDC) has been appointed by the Local Authority as 
the proper officer for the purposes of the Public Health (Control of Diseases) Act 1984 as 
amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2008. Environmental Health Officers have also 
been appointed as proper officers for the purpose of power of entry.  
 
It is the policy of the Public Health Team to investigate all reported cases of confirmed and 
suspected food and water borne illness including food poisoning.  
Reports of illness may originate from a number of sources: - 
 

 Public Health Wales (PHW) laboratories 

 Medical Practitioners 

 Patients 

 Employers 

 Other Local Authorities 
 
All cases are investigated wherever possible by direct contact with the case via telephone 
and/or visit as appropriate.  The purpose of this is to: - 
 

 Determine the cause; 

 Prevent the spread of infection; 

 Provide infection control advice to households; 

 To trace carriers and cases; 

 Detect outbreaks/clusters of disease; 

 Assist surveillance systems; 

 Determine whether criminal offences have been committed. 
 
The nature of communicable disease control means that the Public Health Team has a number 
of partners with whom it works to deliver communicable disease function:- 
 

 Public Health Wales who provide specialist services to the Local Authority. 
 

Page 97



20 

 

 PHW Consultant in Microbiology – all faeces, food and environmental samples obtained 
in connection with a food poisoning investigation are submitted to the Microbiology 
Department based at Llandough Hospital, Cardiff. 

 

 Regional Epidemiologist – The Communicable Disease Surveillance Centre (CDSC)  
is part of the PHW and has a specific responsibility for co-ordinating the national 
response to communicable disease.   
 

 CDSC provides advice and information to Local Authorities through the regional 
Epidemiologist when dealing with problematical communicable diseases, in outbreaks 
where more than one Local Authority is involved, or when there are national/international 
implications. 

 

 The Local Authority is represented on the South East Wales Communicable Disease 
Task Group and the South East Wales Communicable Disease Liaison Group. 

 
It is difficult to predict the number of communicable disease notifications that will be received in 
any given year and hence the resource that will be required to undertake appropriate 
investigations. However the LA undertakes to provide sufficient resources to investigating and 
controlling outbreaks of communicable disease by sacrificing routine work and if necessary by 
utilising reciprocal arrangements with neighbouring LA‟s where necessary. 
 
During 2018/19 75 confirmed cases of communicable disease were investigated.The graph 
below shows the percentage distribution of diseases investigated by organism. 
 
 
Chart Showing Types of Communicable Diseases Notifications Received During 2018/19  

 

 
 
In addition the team investigated an additional 11 norovirus type outbreaks in schools, care 
homes, and food businesses. 
 
 

Page 98



21 

 

3.7 Food Safety Incidents 
 
The Public Health Team will on receipt of any food alert respond in accordance with the Food 
Safety Act Food Law Code and Practice and Practice Guidance and the Food Standards 
Agency. The level of action required is determined by the Category assigned to the alert and its 
relevance to premises, and the food offered for sale, etc. within the County Borough. 
 
A Product Withdrawal Information Notice or a Product Recall Information Notice is issued where 
a solution to the problem has been put in place; the product has been, or is being, withdrawn 
from sale or recalled from consumers, for example. A Food Alert for Action is issued where 
intervention by enforcement authorities is required. 
 
Alerts requiring substantial reactive action will occur occasionally and irregularly. Sufficient 
resources will be allocated to deal with each warning as it arises, although this may require 
diversion from the planned programme of work. 
 

 

3.8 Liaison with Other Organisations 
 
The Environmental Health Food Service endeavours to ensure that its actions are consistent 
with those of neighbouring Local Authorities. 
 
Liaison between the Local Authorities is facilitated through a number of groups and panels:  

  
Directors of Public 

Protection Wales (DPPW) 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Welsh Heads of 
Environmental 
Health Group (All 
Wales) 

Welsh Heads of 
Trading Standards 
(All Wales) 

Expert Panels (All Wales) 
Trading Standards Groups (All 
Wales) 

3 Regional Task 
Groups for each Expert 
panel North, South, 
West and South East 
Wales 

Expert Panels (All 
Wales) 

Page 99



22 

 

Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council is represented on the Food and Infectious Disease 
Regional Task Groups, the Food Safety Expert Panel, Welsh Heads of Environmental Health 
and DPPW meetings. 
 
Close liaison is also maintained with the following bodies: - 
 

 Food Standards Agency; 

 Public Health Wales; 

 Communicable Disease Surveillance Centre; 

 Chartered Institute of Environmental Health, The Royal Society of Health, and the Royal 
Institute of Public Health & Hygiene; 

 Liaison with other Council Services, such as Planning, Building Control, 
Education,School Meals Service, Social Services, Regeneration, Procurement; 

 Welsh Government; 

 Welsh Food Microbiological Forum; 

 H M Revenue and Customs; 

 Home Office; 

 Liaison with and commitment to Better Regulation; 

 Food Standards and Agriculture Group;  

 National Food Crime Unit. 
 

3.9 Food Safety Promotion 
 
The Public Health Team is committed to promoting a positive food safety culture through a 
variety of channels, some of which are externally funded and are not always available.  
 

 Provision of advice and information to businesses and members of the public through 
inspections, complaints and notifications; 

 Provision of Food Hygiene training courses in various languages;  

 Provision of training courses in other languages based on local need;  

 Leaflets in different languages  covering food issues; 

 Participation in national events such as Food Safety Week; 

 Promotion of Food Hygiene Rating Scheme; 

 Guidance to assist businesses in particular sectors such as childminders, and mobile 
traders;  

 Advice through  Council‟s website and social media including links to other sources of 
information; 

 Targeted education, advice and seminars in various languages; 

 Newspaper Publications such as Contact magazine which is distributed  to every 
household in the Borough;  

 Working with other colleagues responsible for Regeneration and the town centre to 
promote and improve food safety in local businesses and at events.  

 Bespoke coaching and advice to individual businesses. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 100



23 

 

4.      Resources 
 
4.1 Financial Allocation 2018/19 
 
    Food Safety, Food Standards 

and Prevention of Infectious 
Diseases: Investigation, 

Monitoring and Enforcement  
(4077) 

    

TEMPLATE     

  Budget 

  2019/20 

  £ 

      

Expenditure     

      

Employee Costs     

Salaries   179,420 

Staff Training   370 

      

Transport Related Expenditure     

Car Allowances   2,270 

      

Supplies & Services     

Equipment Tools & Materials   1,010 

Printing, Stationery & Advertising   130 

Insurance     

Postage and Telephones   180 

Notification Fees - General   0 

Professional Fees   580 

Analysis Fees   2,250 

Holiday Cover Balance to be 

relinquished 
    

Budget Reduction Efficiencies     

      

Gross Expenditure   186,210 

      

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 101



24 

 

 
4.2 Staffing Allocation 

 
The Public Health Team comprises the following officers:  
 
 

 

Position Function  EHRB Registration Food Safety 
Experience 

Environmental 
Health Manager 
(lead officer for food 
safety) 

Environmental 
Health includes: 
Food Safety & 
standards, 
Communicable 
Disease, Health and 
Safety, Private 
Sector Housing, 
Pollution, Pest 
Control, Dog 
Warden 

 1988 28 years 

Environmental 
Health Officer (joint 
lead officer for food 
safety) 

Food Safety, Food 
Standards  
Communicable 
Disease, Health and 
Safety  

1996 18 

Environmental 
Health Officer (lead 
officer for 
communicable 
disease) 

 Food Safety, Food 
Standards  
Communicable 
Disease, Health and 
Safety 

2002 16 

Environmental 
Health Officer (lead 
officer for health and 
safety) 

Food Safety, Food 
Standards  
Communicable 
Disease, Health and 
Safety 

2015 4 

Environmental 
Health Officer (lead 
officer for food fraud) 

 1996 14 

Environmental 
Health Officer (lead 
officer for food 
standards) 

Food Safety, Food 
Standards  
Communicable 
Disease, Health and 
Safety 

Vacant post- 
recruitment 
underway 

 

 
 
It is difficult to estimate the number of full time equivalent (FTE) officers employed compared to 
the number that are necessary   to perform a particular function as the team is multi-disciplinary 
and resources are continuously being vired between functions to respond to demand for front 
line service delivery. However, the estimated resources to provide the service outlined in 
Chapter 3 of the plan requires the following numbers of operational staff.  
 

Page 102



25 

 

 

Service Activity Estimated Resources FTE 
 

Food Safety & Standards Interventions 
 Food Safety & Standards  Complaints  
Food Safety & Standards Business Advice  
Food Safety & Standards Sampling  
Control of Communicable Disease .  
Food Safety/Standards  Incidents  
Liaison and Promotion 

3.0 
0.3 
0.5 
0.2 
1.0 
0.1 
0.1 

Total 
 

5.2 

 
Total Public Health Team Current Staff 
Resource 

 

Food Safety & Standards Interventions 
 Food Safety & Standards  Complaints  
Food Safety & Standards Business Advice  
Food Safety & Standards Sampling  
Control of Communicable Disease  
Food Safety/Standards  Incidents  
Liaison and Promotion 

2.5 
0.2 
0.1 
0.1 
1.0 
0.1 
0.2 

Total  4.2 

 
 

Food Service Actual number of 
FTE for 17/18 

Estimated Required 
FTE for 2017/18 

Variance 

 4.2 5.2 1.0 

 
 
Use of Contractors 
 
Where a shortfall in capacity is identified the Council has, and will continue to appoint suitably 
qualified and competent contractors to assist in carrying out interventions in food 
establishments. 
 

4.3 Staff Development Plan 
 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council attaches significant importance to the development and 
training of its staff to meet the needs of its customers.  
 
At service level the Local Authority endeavours to provide support for all employees to fulfil their 
identified training needs.   
 
The Environmental Health Manager undertakes an annual review of individual training needs in 
addition to the corporately required Focus on Performance Annual Appraisals and regular one 
to ones. Officers are only authorised to act on behalf of the Local Authority in accordance with 
their established level of training and competency.  Any identified training need is addressed 
during the year by way of internal and external training courses. 
 

Page 103



26 

 

Continuing professional development is actively encouraged, monitored and recorded to ensure 
that every officer attains the minimum number of points required by the statutory Food Law 
Code of Practice and for membership of the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health. 
 
Regular team meetings also take place to give officers the opportunity to discuss inspection and 
enforcement issues, promote consistency of enforcement and to be kept up to date on food 
safety enforcement issues. 
 

5.  Quality Assessment 
 
There are, at present, no formally recognised quality management systems in place.  However 
the service recognises the need to measure effectiveness and strongly supports the ethos of 
continuous improvement.  
 
The Service therefore participates and undertakes a number of activities to ensure that work is 
of a high standard and opportunities to identify and implement improvements are taken. 
 

Documented Procedures 
 
To ensure the quality and consistency of our activities The Public Protection and Housing 
Department review of all its policies and procedures relating to food safety/standards annually.  
These are contained in the Quality Manual which is read only and available to all staff 
electronically.  
 
Assessment and audits 
 
The monitoring of the quality of our policies and procedures is assessed in a number of ways, 
namely:- 
 

o Internal audit of documented procedures   
o Audits undertaken by the Food Standards Agency. 
o Customer consultation and feedback; 
o Review of corporate complaints and compliments about the service.  

 
In addition the actions are implemented: 
 

 The Environmental Health Manager (EHM) or other nominated senior officer rreviews a 
selection of correspondence. 

 The EHM or other nominated senior officer conducts a minimum of 1 peer audit with each 
officer per year. 

 The EHM or other nominated senior officer audits a selection of inspections, complaints, 
and investigations on a risk based approach. 

 Team meetings are held at regular intervals and action notes kept. 

 Consistency exercises are undertaken. 
 
Customer consultation and feedback 
 
We are committed to involving customers in the continuous improvement of services and 
recognise the need to have structured methods of obtaining service users views and 
perception of the service. These include:- 
 

Page 104



27 

 

 A customer satisfaction questionnaire is sent to all food businesses operators following 
an inspection .This can be returned using the reply paid envelope or completed online. 
The questionnaires are regularly analysed and results disseminated to staff with a view 
to driving service improvements; 

 

 Corporate complaints and compliments. 
 

6. Review 
 
6.1 Review against the service plan 

 
In order to ensure continuous improvement it is essential that performance is regularly 
monitored. The following actions are taken: 
 

o The Council has developed its Service Improvement Framework (SIF), a simplified 
and more outcome focussed approach to performance management and self-
assessment. It outlines the mechanisms in place to ensure accountability. The 
framework places self-evaluation at its heart and mechanisms have been 
established to facilitate this, namely line of inquiry meetings and challenge 
sessions.  

 
o Cabinet approves this Service Plan which sets out the work programme for the 

service and reviews performance against the programme via the self-evaluation 
process; 

 
o Each department is required to produce a Strategy on a Page (SOAP) that details 

their overall vision, priority areas, measureable and desirable outcomes. Food 
safety is included within the SOAP. Performance is monitored on a regular basis 
with reports submitted to the relevant scrutiny committee; 

 
 

o Weekly  one to one meetings are held between the Chief Officer Community 
Regeneration  and the EHM on how the service is performing day to day; 

 
 

o Overall performance of the service and individual performance is monitored 
monthly when inspections are allocated; 

 
o Performance is reviewed at team meetings;  

 
o Performance of individuals is managed through staff meetings and one to ones.  

 
 

Any significant shortfalls in the service will be reported to  the relevant member scrutiny 
committee together with recommendations for appropriate remedial action. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 105



28 

 

6.2     Identification of Variances 
 
The mechanisms in place to review performance enable remedial action to be put in place 
should any shortfalls against targets or plans occur during the year. Consideration will be given 
to the various factors that may contribute to any shortfalls and whether additional resources, re-
allocation of staff resources or re-prioritisation of workload is required to resolve any problems. 
Any issues that may not have been resolved at the end of the year will be included in the 
service Plan for the following year. 
 
Measuring Performance  
 
Food Hygiene 
 
The only current Welsh Government performance indicator relevant to Food Safety is 
Performance accountability measure PAM 023 which measures the percentage of premises 
which are “broadly compliant” with food hygiene standards. Currently within Merthyr Tydfil an 
average of 93.00 % businesses are deemed to be broadly compliant which  is a slight increase 
on last year when 92.46% were broadly compliant. The level of compliance has bottomed out 
over the last four years and remains below the Welsh national average of 95%. This is because 
the number of food businesses is the smallest in Wales and small numbers of businesses which 
are not broadly compliant affect the overall percentage disproportionately.  
 
 
                        Graph Showing Number of Broadly Compliant Premises 
 

 
 

       
 
 
 

Page 106



29 

 

Programmed interventions in high risk premises rated A-C   
 

Full inspections of 100% of all businesses scheduled for inspection were undertaken. The 
service has consistently achieved 100% of its high risk inspections over the last 5 years (Table 
3 of the plan). 
 
 
Programmed interventions in D rated premises 

 
Full inspections were carried out in all D rated premises in order to update the currency of 
FHRS ratings.  
 

 
Alternative Enforcement Strategy (AES) 
 
All E rated premises were subject to an inspection or alternative enforcement to check whether 
there had been any changes to the business.  
 
Food Standards 
 
100% of planned programmed interventions were achieved. 
 
 
28 Day Rule 
 
In previous service plans it has been highlighted that the service   struggles to inspect existing  
businesses within 28 days of their due date and new businesses within 28 days of 
commencement of trading (subject to risk) which is a requirement stipulated in the Food Law 
Code of Practice. Accessing businesses that are only open during the evening is a particular 
problem.The table below summarizes last year‟s performance. 

 
    
Summary of Activities and Enforcement Action 
 
The service collects a substantial amount of data each year which is used to analyse 
performance and improve service delivery and outcomes. The following chart summarises the 
enforcement actions taken during 2018/19: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Risk rating No of Interventions No of days overdue 

A 0 0 

B 8 30-77 

C 14 29-120 

D 3 35-64 

E 10 30-168 

Page 107



30 

 

Number of Different Food Enforcement Actions Taken in 2018/19 
 

 
 
 
 
Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 
 
The following chart shows that the overall standard of hygiene in premises within the Borough 
has improved significantly since the introduction of the mandatory Food Hygiene Rating 
Scheme with fewer businesses being rated 0-2 and an increasing number scoring a 5 rating. 
 
 
Number of Food Establishments Scoring 0-5 Rating 
 

  0 1 2 3 4 5 

2018/2019 1.08% 7.58% 2.89% 18.05% 23.10% 47.29% 

2017/2018 2.3% 5.7% 3.3% 21.4% 31.8% 35.5% 

2016/2017 0.2% 5.0% 4.4% 16.4% 27.2% 46.6% 

2015/2016 0.4% 7.1% 3.5% 20.2% 34.0% 34.8% 

2014/2015  0.6% 4.7% 7.7% 21.7% 30.0% 35.3% 

2013/2014 0.4% 12.9% 12.6% 24.8% 24.1% 25.2% 

2012/2013 1.4% 11.1% 13.6% 23.2% 24.3% 26.4% 

 

Page 108



31 

 

Project Based Activity 
 
In 2017/18 the service secured funding totalling £4091.66 from the Food Standards Agency to 
undertake a project to raise allergen awareness in local food businesses, particularly the 
takeaway sector. The project involved one to one coaching sessions with 20 businesses 
followed up by mystery shopper exercise and analysis of takeaway meals purchased to assess 
whether allergen ingredients were present in the meal. An evaluation of the project is contained 
at appendix 3. 
 
During 2018/19 the service received further funding totalling £2088.73 to carry out a follow up 
project specifically targeting Chinese takeaway businesses that had poor levels of compliance 
in relation to the presence of egg in takeaway meals. The project was extremely successful in 
raising compliance and an evaluation is contained at Appendix 3(A).   
 
Sampling 
 
The number of food samples taken for microbiological analysis was significantly down on 
previous years due to the pressure on capacity. The number of routine samples fell from 89 
taken in 2017/18 to 26 in 2018/19. Similarly samples taken for standards numbered 5 compared 
to 21 last year. 
 
 
6.3 Areas for Improvement 
 
As part of the annual review process, any areas for improvement will be identified and included 
in the Plan  with such improvement encompassing areas such as :- 
 

 Improvements to working practices such as mobile working 

 Improve accessibility to advice, especially for new businesses to get them off to the best 
possible start and improve their FHRS ratings.  

 Improvements in efficiency and effectiveness including ongoing enhancements to the 
Tascomi database; 

 Promotion of food issues including better use of social media to promote food safety 
issues; 

 Greater focus on health and wellbeing outcomes. 
 
FSA Full Audit 
 
The Department was subject to a 5 day external audit by the FSA in May 2016. 
 
A final report of the findings was sent to the Department in February 2019. The report is positive 
about the service provided highlighting 7 strengths and 1 area for improvement. The report 
makes a number of recommendations which were implemented immediately following the audit.  
 
Customer Satisfaction Survey 
 
The Department has an ongoing customer satisfaction survey to identify how customers 
perceive our food safety service. Food businesses receiving an intervention are left a 
questionnaire and a prepaid envelope at every visit and the survey can also be completed on 
line at: http://survey.merthyr.gov.uk/environmental-health-questionnaire/english.htm .The results 
of this survey are routinely evaluated and used to improve service standards. 

Page 109

http://survey.merthyr.gov.uk/environmental-health-questionnaire/english.htm


32 

 

 
 
7. Service Plan Appendices. 
 
 
Appendix 1 Sampling Plan 
 
Appendix 2 Shopping basket 
 
Appendix 3(A) Food Safety Management Project 2017/2018 – Allergen management in food 
businesses  
 
Appendix 3(B). Food Safety Management Project 2018/2019 - Allergen management in 
Chinese Takeaways 2018 /19 – Follow up Study 

                   

 

Page 110



   
 

Appendix 1 
 
 
SAMPLING PLAN 

 
Last year a total of 26 food samples  were submitted for microbiological analysis. Of these 
samples 4 was unsatisfactory and 5 were borderline which required follow up action. The 
number of samples submitted represents a significant drop on previous years. A total of 5 
samples were submitted for food standards 1 of which was unacceptable and required 
follow up action. 
 
All of thesamples were taken as part of local and national initiatives, in response to 
complaints, and as part of ar routine inspection programme. 
 

Food Safety 
 
The number and type of samples collected for analysis varies year on year.  This is partly 
due to the availability of human resource to collect the samples and deliver them to the 
laboratories and also on unpredictable events such as outbreaks of food poisoning. 
Samples that give rise to poor results will also have to be followed up as part of an 
investigation as to how the failure occurred. Since the producer or manufacturer of the 
food will often be located outside the Borough this will necessitate liaison with other Local 
Authorities. 
 
In terms of samples submitted for microbiological testing the Authority has a sample 
allowance, which is contained within the service level agreement between the Local 
Authority and Public Health Wales.  The Local Authority must resource samples taken in 
excess of this allowance unless they are specifically associated with an outbreak 
investigation. The sampling allowance for 2019-2020 is £6,044.   
 
Samples requiring chemical analysis or identification of foreign matter, are usually 
associated with complaints and are submitted to the Public Analyst appointed by the Local 
Authority and are paid for on an individual basis.  
 
Bids for additional funding to carry out local or collaborative sampling projects will also be 
made when monies are available. 
 

 The local authority is required to produce a sampling plan, which must be drawn up 
in consultation with Public Health Wales. It has been agreed that samples will be 
taken in the following circumstances: 

 

 As part of a routine surveillance programme 
 

 As part of a structured sampling programme 
 

 As a result of a legitimate complaint that has the potential to adversely affect public 
health 

 

 During investigation of an outbreak 
 

 During the course of an inspection  
 

Page 111



34 

 

Samples are normally collected on a routine basis once per week. The sampling 
programme is based on a risk-based approach and only samples with public health 
significance will be taken. The planned programme of sampling will include: - 

 

 Welsh Food Microbiological Forum (WFMF) shopping basket survey, which is an 
ongoing routine surveillance programme, but is suspended, when specific targeted 
WFMF surveys are taking place. The current basket is contained at Appendix 4. 
 

 Participation in proactive structured sampling programmes coordinated through WFMF, 
FSA, Health Protection Agency surveys and Local Government Regulation.  

 

 Samples taken during a food poisoning investigation.  
 

 Samples taken in response to local need which will include food and environmental 
samples taken during inspections, following complaints. 

 
At the start of the year it is not possible to stipulate exactly how many samples will be 
taken from each of the above categories.  
 

Other non-food samples that may be taken include: 
 

 Drinking water samples as a result of a complaint or as part of an inspection. 
 

 Private water supplies  
 

 Swimming pool waters for verification purposes 
 

 Recreational waters 
 

 Environmental samples e.g. swabs of equipment, surfaces etc. taken as part of an 
investigation. 

 

At the start of 2019/20 three sampling surveys have been agreed  as part of WFMF 
programme.  
 
The timing and number of samples is approximate and may vary from the plan. Additional 
surveys and sampling according to local need will be undertaken throughout the year.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



35 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Table Showing Summary of Sampling Activity  
 

 Sampling Survey- Food Safety Number of 
Samples 
(approx) 

Quarter 1 WFMF Shopping Basket Survey 
 
Mobile Catering Van Survey (food, water  and environmental 
samples) 
 
Polish Eggs 
 
Private Water Supplies 
 

20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
1 

Quarter 2 WFMF   Shopping Basket Survey 
 
Mobile Catering Van Survey (food, water  and environmental 
samples) 
 
Ice Survey- follow up to coffee shop survey 
 
  Ice Cream and Slushes 
 
Polish Eggs 
 

20 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Quarter 3 WFMF Shopping Basket Survey 
 
 
Polish Eggs 
 

20 
 
 
 
 
 

Quarter 4 WFMF Shopping Basket Survey 
 
Polish Eggs 
 
 

20 
 
 
 
 

 

Food Standards 

As part of the Councils efficiency programme there is no longer a specific budget allocated 
for sampling. Sampling will only be undertaken where local intelligence suggests there is a 
need including response to complaints, or where external funding can be secured to 
participate in targeted surveys. 
 
Subject to receiving FSA funding the following surveillance will be carried out by Merthyr 
Tydfil as part of the Glamorgan Group or Cwm Taf collaborative region to fulfil FSA 
national strategic priorities (NP) and locally identified priorities (LP). The programme will 
be agreed with the Public Analyst.   
 

Page 113



36 

 

 
 
 
 
 
Table Showing Summary of Sampling Activity  
 

 Sampling Surveys- Food Standards Number of 
Samples 

Quarter 1 Glamorgan Group Surveys: Allergens. Pre packed for direct 
sales allergens at sandwich makers and deli catering 
establishments. Allergen to be selected based on local 
intelligence and type of premises acrylamide in chips 
 

10 

Quarter 2  Fish speciation at chip shops and catering establishments. Half 
the samples taken should be from chip shops, the meals will 
also be tested for nutrition 

10 

Quarter 3  Colours, description & allergens at takeaways. Intelligence 
indicates that non permitted colours and substitution and 
misdescription of food at catering establishments is still a 
problem. Allergens testing to be focussed on the presence of 
crustacean / fish in satay sauces etc. 

10 

Quarter 4 Vegan / Vegetarian Claims. With the increase in number of 
consumers embarking on a vegan diet, description of prepacked 
and foods from catering establishments 

5 

As for microbiological sampling activities the timing of the sampling programme may vary. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 114



37 

 

 
Appendix 2 

 

Welsh Food Microbiological Forum 

 
Food Codes 

 

Basket 15  

 
(Commencing October 2018) 

 
 

 
The Food Code should be entered on the Food Examination Request Form for 

WFMF Shopping Basket items only. 
 

FOOD CODE FOOD DESCRIPTION 
 

PATE 
Pâté (All types e.g. Meat, Fish, Vegetarian) 
 

CAKES 
Cakes containing fresh cream 
 

SALAD_R 
Rice based mixed salads.  Pre-packed and 
self-service. 

SALAD 
Open Salad items (not pre wrapped) e.g. self 
service 

MEAT 
Sliced cooked meats-all types (poultry, beef, 
pork, fermented meats, hot and cold smoked 

products) 

DELI 
Loose delicatessen food not pre wrapped and 

excluding sliced meats 

SLAW 
Coleslaw.  Pre-packed and self-service. 

 

FISH_S 
RTE smoked fish 

 

 CHEESE Loose delicatessen cheeses (not pre wrapped) 

FRUIT 

Processed fruit (e.g. peeled and cubed fruit 

salads) for direct consumption  
 

SPICE 
Dried spices all types- Test for salmonella and 
Bacillus only 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 115



38 

 

 
  

                                                                                                                                                              

 

 Appendix 3 (A) 
 

Food Safety Management Project 2017/2018 – Allergen management in 
food businesses 
Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council 
Evaluation Report 
 
Aim of the Project  
 
The aim of this project was to secure an improvement in allergen awareness in takeaway 
businesses and improve how this is communicated to customers so that the consumer 
can have confidence in the information provided. 
  
Coaching Sessions 
 
The Authority targeted  takeaway businesses typically selling Chinese and  Indian food, 
pizzas and kebabs which have been identified as struggling to comply with allergen 
legislation during the previous food standards interventions. However the scope was 
widened during the project to include a small number of other types of food businesses 
due to the insufficient uptake. 
 
20 coaching sessions were carried out between October – December 2017. The following 
types of premises received training as part of food safety management funding: 
 

Type of premises: Number of coaching sessions: 

Chinese cuisine 11 

Indian cuisine 3 

Turkish cuisine 1 

British cuisine  4 

Child care facility 1 
 
Total = 20 coaching sessions  

 
 
As part of the training, businesses were asked to identify out of a selection of ingredients 
presented to them, which contained any of the 14 EU food allergens which businesses 
must be able to identify under law.  
 
The trainer then discussed the importance of identifying allergens in that they can cause 
illness and sometimes death in people who suffer from food allergies. Case studies were 
discussed to highlight the issue. 
 
The business was then asked to look at a prepacked food product and to demonstrate how 
they would identify the allergenic ingredients within the product by looking at the label.  
 

Page 116



39 

 

The importance of understanding cross contamination of allergenic ingredients was also 
discussed having regard to two-stage cleaning process of surfaces and equipment and 
thorough and regular handwashing to control this risk. 
 
Finally, the training session finished by recapping the above and getting the food business 
operator to confirm what the 14 EU allergens are.  
 
The businesses were not advised that follow up mystery shopper samples would be taken 
as this may have influenced their behavior. 
 
Outcomes of coaching sessions 
 
 
 The desired outcomes of the training were to: 

 Increase business confidence in  the management of allergens  

 Increased compliance with legal requirements 

 Improve communication between poor premises and local authority officers. 

 Increase understanding of the requirements of the Food Safety Act and Food 

Information Regulations. 

 Reduce the number of revisits by officers to the targeted premises. 

 Reduce the need to take enforcement action.  

 Building a better working relationship with businesses.  

It was clear that from the coaching sessions those businesses had varying levels of 
knowledge in relation to allergen awareness. Overall the businesses were aware of the 
requirements placed on them to provide allergen information to customers if they were 
queried on the matter. The majority of businesses stated that they did not get many 
customers, if any at all, who query if a certain dish or product contains an allergen of 
concern. Very few businesses had considered cross contamination of allergenic 
ingredients as a risk factor.  
 
A provision of allergen information assessment form was completed after each coaching 
session and the findings of the assessment indicated the following common problems 
associated with the management of allergens: 
 

 Same equipment used for allergenic and non-allergenic ingredients. Potential for 
cross contamination to occur if thorough cleaning of equipment/utensils is not done 
properly.  

 No formal or documented training is undertaken when new members of staff are 
employed. 

 Not all businesses keep a record of dishes and their allergenic ingredients.  

 For those that keep records, it was clear that the food allergen matrixes were 
inaccurate and not all ingredients containing allergens were considered. 

 Language barrier was considered an issue in some premises; however, it was 
hoped that the visual aids used during the coaching sessions would help their 
understanding.   

 
At the end of the coaching sessions businesses were equipped with increased knowledge, 
demonstrated that they were able to identify the 14 EU food allergens in their products and 
knew that they were required to communicate this information to a customer upon request. 

Page 117



40 

 

 
As part of the project participating businesses were asked to complete an evaluation form. 

70% of the businesses returned the form and all gave positive feedback on the coaching 

sessions.   

Follow up Sample Survey 

In order to evaluate how effective the coaching on allergen safety was, a follow up 
“mystery shopper” sampling survey was carried out. Food samples were collected from 
half of the 20 food businesses which had been given a coaching visit and were tested for 
the presence of a specific allergen.   

In practice twelve premises were visited, two did not provide a sample as they confirmed 
they were not able to guarantee the absence of the allergen the customer claimed to be 
allergic to. Samples of the meals were analyzed from ten of the remaining premises for 
either the presence of tree nuts, egg or soya.  

Following the survey all businesses were informed in writing whether the product sampled 
from their premises passed or failed.  

Results  

Tree nuts    

Three Indian restaurants were telephoned and a chicken curry ordered from each food 
business.   Staff were told that the customer had a nut allergy and therefore there was to 
be no nuts in the meal. The meals were then collected and sent for analysis where they 
were tested for the presence of almonds, hazelnut, pecan, and walnut, cashew and / or 
pistachio nuts.  In all three samples proved to be satisfactory with an absence of nuts.  

Soya  

A chicken curry was purchased from a Chinese takeaway and sent for analysis. The food 
business operator was informed that the customer was allergic to soya protein.  

The soya content found in the meal was below the limit of quantitation level (< 1.3mg/kg) 
of the immunoassay kit. Therefore, the opinion of the public analyst was that the test was 
satisfactory.      

Milk  

A fast food premises was visited and an order for a donner kebab was placed. The 
consumer informed the FBO that they have a milk allergy and enquired if the product did 
not contain milk. The FBO checked the ingredients list and informed the consumer that the 
kebab contained milk; therefore no sample was obtained from this premise. 

Egg 

Seven Chinese takeaways were telephoned and special fried rice dish ordered.  A verbal 
request was made for no egg to be present in the dish due to an allergy. The rice meal 
was purchased, collected and sent for analysis. 

However, in one premises the Officer was informed that they could not provide this dish 
without the presence of egg.  Therefore, no sample was obtained.   

Sample results confirmed the presence of egg in all 6 meals tested.  However, in 1 sample 
only trace level contamination of 0.04mg/kg of egg white protein was present, which was 
deemed satisfactory.   

Page 118



41 

 

 

Therefore 5 out of the 6 samples analyzed were found to be unsatisfactory, giving an 83% 
failure rate. 

 The rice dish sampled from the food business ref allergen 6/2017 as illustrated in the 
graph below containing the greatest quantity of egg white protein. (The content of egg was 
above the test limit and is therefore expressed as > 20mg/kg).  

Table 1 below shows the variance in the levels of egg in egg in fried rice from Chinese 
takeaways    

    

 

A summary of the sampling results is contained at Appendix A 

 

Conclusion    

Overall there was a 50% failure rate amongst the food sampled with presence of a 
specified allergen being detected. Two businesses did not provide a sample as they could 
not confirm the absence of allergens.  
 
All samples that were taken from the Indian takeaway restaurants and tested for tree nut 
protein were found to be satisfactory. In addition the one sample tested for Soya in a 
Chinese meal was also found to be satisfactory. Consequently the project appears to have 
met the desired outcomes in respect of these businesses/allergens.  
 
However the results obtained for the presence of egg in rice sampled from the Chinese 
takeaways are very different, with the exception of 2 all were found to be unsatisfactory. 
Consequently the project did not achieve the desired outcomes in this cohort of 
businesses. 
 
Having particular regard to the results for egg fried rice taken from the Chinese takeaways 
it can be seen that egg was found in 100% of the meals purchased, with 83% at 
unsatisfactory levels. Results ranged from trace levels to detectable contamination of egg  

Page 119



42 

 

 

 

white protein which would be indicative of cross contamination, likely source from dual use 
of equipment.  There was no comment from the analyst that visible egg pieces were seen 
in any of the meals.  

The only way to manage a food allergy condition is to avoid food that makes a person ill. 
Therefore, the food provided did not fulfil the aforesaid request of providing food without 
egg in.   It was considered by the public analyst that in all 5 samples that failed the testing 
criteria it would not be unreasonable to consider this served food as being unsafe within 
the meaning of Article 14 of Regulation (EC) No178/2002, enforced and executed by the 
General Food Regulations 2004.  

The results confirm that despite the businesses being given individual coaching sessions 
there is still a lack of understanding relating to allergen control and in particular cross 
contamination most likely arising from using the same wok and associated utensils. 

Recommendations 

In light of the findings of this project, it is recommended that follow up visits be carried out 
specifically in relation to Chinese takeaway establishments to ensure they comply with the 
relevant regulations.  

It‟s unclear from this project whether the poor results are due to the type of food cuisine 
produced and method of cooking used by the groups targeted or down to the specific 
allergen. It could be that there is more awareness around nut allergies compared to the 
other food allergens for example egg listed in the regulations. This is an area that requires 
further research.  

General Comment -Implications for Food Hygiene Rating Scheme (FHRS)  

There is a view that allergens should be included in the FHRS. Although based on a small 
sample size, the findings of this project show that inclusion within the scheme has the 
potential to have a significant detrimental impact on ratings, with confidence in 
management and food hygiene scores being adversely affected. In order to counter this 
effect it is recommended that a substantial lead in time, with awareness raising, would be 
required or a separate rating scheme developed specifically relating to allergens.  

 

 

 

 

Page 120



43 

 

 

Appendix A : Summary of sampling results 

RESULTS OF ALLERGEN PRODUCTS TESTED (x10 Samples) 
 

 
Reference No. 

 
Sample Taken 

 
Allergen 
Tested 

 
Results 

 
Conclusion 

 
Allergen1/2017 

 
Special Fried 
Rice 

 
Egg 

 
0.04 mg/kg 
 
Trace level 
contamination with 
egg white  
Protein present 

 
Satisfactory 

 
Allergen 2/2017 

 
Chicken Curry 

 
Treenuts 

 
Absent 

 
Satisfactory 
 

 
Allergen 3/2017 

 
Special Fried 
Rice 

 
Egg 

 
2.8 mg/kg 
 
Detectable trace 
level contamination 
with egg white 
protein 

 
Unsatisfactory 
 
 
 

 
Allergen 4/2017 

 
Chicken Curry 

 
Soya protein 

 
‹1.3 mg/kg 

 
Satisfactory 
 

 
 Allergen 5/2017 

 
Special fried 
rice 

 
Egg 

 
›6.8 mg/kg 
Detectable 
contamination with 
egg white 
Protein 
 

 
Unsatisfactory 
 
 
 

Allergen 6/2017 Special fried 
rice 

Egg ›20 mg/kg 
detectable 
contamination with 
egg white protein 

Unsatisfactory 

 
Allergen 7/2017 

 
Special fried 
rice 

 
Egg 

 
0.4 mg/kg 
Trace level 
contamination with 
egg white protein 

 
Unsatisfactory 
 
 
 

 
Allergen 8/2017 

 
Chicken curry 

 
Treenuts 
 

 
Absent 

 
Satisfactory 
 

 
Allergen 9/2017 

 
Chicken korma 

 
Treenuts 

 
Absent  

 
Satisfactory 
 

 
Allergen 10/2017 

 
Special Fried 
Rice 

 
Egg 

2 mg/kg 
Trace level 
contamination with 
egg white protein 

 
Unsatisfactory 
 
 

Page 121



44 

 

 

 
 

Appendix 3(B) 
 
Food Safety Management Project 2018/2019 -Allergen Management  in 
Chinese Takeaways- Follow up Study  
 
Aim of the Project  
 
The aim of this project was to follow up on last year‟s allergen management in food 
businesses 2017/18 project which was to secure an improvement in allergen awareness 
in takeaway businesses. The project identified a number of failings, specifically traces of 
egg in special fried rice dishes which were purchased from Chinese takeaways.  
 
Planned Outcomes: 
 
• Increase business confidence and understanding in the management of allergens, 

particularly in relation to cross contamination.  
• Increase understanding of the requirements of the Food Safety Act and Food 

Information Regulations. 
              Increased compliance with legal requirements 
• To take appropriate enforcement action where sampling indicates a continued 

failure following on from last year‟s intervention.  
 
Methodology 
 
As part of last year‟s project businesses were advised in writing of the results of the 
mystery shopper sampling exercise. One business approached the department and was 
also given verbal advice. 
 
This year‟s project aims to conduct 6 follow up re visits to Chinese takeaways that were 
identified as failing to adequately control the risk of cross contamination in relation to egg 
allergen during last year‟s project. It is our intention to provide focused advice on the 
importance of putting in place controls to prevent cross contamination. 
 
Having approached the business an officer shall agree upon a time and date to undertake 
a coaching visit. The visit will be tailored to the following areas: 
 

 Reiterate the legislative requirements and how they can comply 

 Discuss last year‟s sampling results and  possible causes for the  unsatisfactory 
results  

 Reiterate the importance of allergen procedures and communication between front 
of house staff and chefs 

 Highlight the consequences of getting it wrong in light of recent cases 

 Demonstrate the importance of two stage cleaning to prevent cross contamination 

 Demonstrate the use of equipment and how to prevent cross contamination  
 
The coaching sessions will be practical and interactive using glitter gel and light boxes. 
Contaminated egg will be used to demonstrate how during the cooking process traces of 
allergens can easily be transferred from equipment to food.  
 
Officers will observe chefs prepare a special fried rice dish with and without egg.    
 

Page 122



45 

 

 
 
 
It is recognised that language barriers may be an issue in effective understanding and the 
project will use a translator as necessary. 
 
 Project Timescale  
 
 Allergen coaching visits and sampling shall be completed by the end of December 2018. 
The project findings including the results of the food sample analysis shall be collated and 
included in a report to be produced by 31/3/18. 
 
Results 
 
All 6 of the businesses identified as requiring follow up action from last year‟s allergen 
intervention project were contacted and participated in bespoke cross contamination 
coaching/cooking sessions designed to highlight the dangers of allergen cross 
contamination and how it can be prevented. It was not found necessary to engage the 
services of a translator. 
 
In order to assess the effectiveness of the sessions follow up mystery shopper samples 
were purchased from the takeaways. The methodology contained at Appendix C was 
adapted slightly with telephone orders being placed and witnessed by another member of 
staff. 
 
A total of 5 mystery shopper samples of special fried rice were purchased.   One business 
declined to sell special fried rice as they were unable to guarantee the presence of egg. 
 
A total of 4 out of the 5 samples purchased were found to be satisfactory which 
demonstrates a significant improvement on the previous year‟s results.  
 
One sample contained detectable trace level contamination with egg white protein 42 
times above the limit of detection (0.03mg/kg)g  which is considerably more than the 
amount of egg white protein contained in the previous year‟s sample obtained from the 
same premise. The meal was therefore considered unsafe within the meaning of Article 14 
of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 for a person suffering from an allergy to egg.  
   
A comparison of the results is contained in the table at Appendix B. 
 
Evaluation    
 
The results of last year‟s project for special fried rice taken from the Chinese takeaways 
found egg present in 100% of the meals purchased, with 83% at unsatisfactory levels. 
Results ranged from trace levels to detectable contamination of egg white protein which 
would be indicative of cross contamination the likely source being from dual use of 
equipment.   
 
This year‟s intervention has brought about a significant reduction in the level of egg 
present in special fried rice samples purchased. Only one sample contained detectable 
trace levels of egg protein equating to a 16.6% failure rate. The glitter gel exercise was 
found to be particularly effective in visibly demonstrating cross contamination pathways. 
 
 
 
 

Page 123



46 

 

 
 
 
One business considered the request to purchase special fried rice without egg. Having 
consulted with the chef, the front of house person taking the order declined to supply the 
rice on the basis that they could not guarantee absence of egg protein. This is a 
reasonable response as not all takeaway businesses are able to guarantee the absence of 
an allergen due to the size and layout of the business, and demonstrates good 
communication between front of house and kitchen staff.  
 
Consequently the project appears to have met the desired outcomes with a significant 
improvement in businesses confidence and understanding in the management of 
allergens, particularly in relation to cross contamination; increased understanding of the 
requirements of the Food Safety Act and Food Information Regulations and increased 
compliance with legal requirements. 
 
No formal follow action was taken in respect of the business that provided the 
unsatisfactory sample as the business ceased trading. All other businesses which had 
satisfactory sample results were informed of the results in writing. 
 

Page 124



47 

 

 

Appendix B 
 
Comparison of sample results from premises identified as failing to comply in 
2017/18 with follow up samples taken in 2018/19 
 

 

Reference No. 

 

Sample 

Taken 

 

Allergen 

Tested 

 

Results of 

Samples Taken 

2017/18 

 

Conclusion 

Results of 

Samples taken 

2018/19 

 

Allergen1/2017 

 

 

 

Special 

Fried Rice 

 

Egg 

 

0.04 mg/kg 

 

Trace level 

contamination 

with egg white  

Protein present 

 

 

Deemed 

Satisfactory 

 

Satisfactory – 

no trace of egg 

on this 

occasion 

 

Allergen 3/2017 

 

 

 

Special 

Fried Rice 

 

Egg 

 

2.8 mg/kg 

 

Detectable trace 

level 

contamination 

with egg white 

protein 

 

Unsatisfactory 

 

 

 

 

Satisfactory 

 

 Allergen 5/2017 

 

 

 

Special 

fried rice 

 

Egg 

 

›6.8 mg/kg 

Detectable 

contamination 

with egg white 

protein 

 

 

Unsatisfactory 

 

 

 

 

Satisfactory 

Allergen 6/2017 

 

 

Special 

fried rice 

Egg ›20 mg/kg 

detectable 

contamination 

with egg white 

protein 

 

 

Unsatisfactory 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Declined to sell 

special fried 

rice as could 

not guarantee it 

would be egg 

free 

 

Allergen 7/2017 

 

 

 

Special 

fried rice 

 

Egg 

 

0.4 mg/kg 

Trace level 

contamination 

with egg white 

protein 

 

Unsatisfactory 

 

 

 

2.4 mg/kg 

Detectable 

trace level 

contamination 

with egg white 

protein. 

 
Allergen 10/2017 

 

 
Special 

Fried Rice 

 
Egg 

2 mg/kg 

Trace level 

contamination 

with egg white 

protein 

 

Unsatisfactory 

 

 

Satisfactory 

 

 

Page 125



48 

 

 
 
 
 
Appendix C 
 
Formal Sampling Methodology for follow-up Egg Allergy Survey 
 
Special Fried Rice   
 
Samples are to be taken formally in line with the current Code of Practice. 
The sample may not be homogenous and so the levels of egg (if any) will not be evenly 
spread across the meal. Therefore in this case a single one-part sample is justified. 
The sampling visit will be taken by 2 officers.  
On arrival officer 1 will approach the counter and ask “Does the special fried rice contain 
egg?” 
If the answer is “no” then the officer should proceed to order the food.  
If the answer is “Yes” then officer 1 must state “Please can I have the meal without any 
egg as it is for an egg allergy sufferer”. 
In both cases, when the meal is presented to officer 1 he/she should ask “Is this meal egg 
free?” 
Officer 2 should record the conversations above and note the response provided in his/her 
pocket notebook along with price of the meal and the date and time of the transaction. 
On receipt of the meal Officer 1 will pay and then announce themselves as an officer from 
Merthyr Tydfil CBC and should inform the trader that the meal was being taken as a formal 
sample. 
The sample should be retained in the packaging supplied by the business. Sample and 
visit paperwork should be complied in line with current procedures (label, bag, tag etc). 
The food business should be informed that the sample will be submitted to the Public 
Analyst to check for the presence and level of egg in the food and that the results will be 
provided when available. 
Following the sampling: 
The food must be taken to the PA as soon as possible following the sampling. 
A visit will then be entered onto TASCOMI. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
   

 

 

Page 126



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

CHANGES TO THE WELSH GOVERNMENT FREE 
SWIMMING INITIATIVE AND GRANT 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 In early 2018 the Welsh Government instructed Sport Wales to commission an 

independent review of the Free Swimming initiative across Wales. 
 
1.2 In May 2019, following discussions between Sport Wales and The Welsh 

Government, agreement has been reached in terms of purpose and targeting of a 
revised Free-Swimming Initiative.   

 
1.3 The current Free Swimming provision offered for the 16 and under meets and 

exceeds the minimum requirements of Welsh Government.  
 
1.4 The current Free Swimming provision offered for the 60 and over meets and 

exceeds the minimum requirements of Welsh Government. 
 
1.5 The new Free Swimming Initiative will be delivered in a more targeted way and 

provide flexibility to better meet the needs of local communities. The scheme will 
continue to provide opportunities for all young people under 16-years of age and 
every person aged over 60, who wishes to access free swimming.   

 
1.6 The future Free Swimming delivery will be set in the context of the Vision for Sport in 

Wales, Prosperity for All and the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act. 
 

Date Written 1st July 2019 

Report Author John Sellwood 

Service Area Leisure, Culture and Sports 
Development 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 17h July 2019 

Page 127

Agenda Item 8



1.7 The Objective for the new Free Swimming initiative are: “To improve people’s health 
and wellbeing by increasing the number of people enjoying swimming or aquatic 
related activities” with the priory to target group of young people aged under 16 
years from deprived communities. 

 
1.8 As from 1st October 2019, the Council will see a 50% reduction in funding from 

Welsh Government for the Free Swimming initiative. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 That the content of the report be noted and option 2 be approved. 
 
 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In early 2018 the Welsh Government instructed Sport Wales to commission an 

independent review of the Free Swimming initiative across Wales. 
 
3.2 Following the Independent Review of Free Swimming (Free Swimming in Wales: A 

Review, published by UK Research and Consultancy Services, July 2018) and the 
subsequent Service Re-Design Report (Free Swimming Programme Service 
Redesign, published by UKRCS December 2018) Sport Wales have been working 
with partners to make recommendation to The Welsh Government on the future of 
Free Swimming. 

 
3.3 The overall conclusion of the Independent Review of the Free-Swimming program is 

that there are now increasing misalignments within it between its objectives, the 
grant conditions, and the management arrangements.  The current approach is not 
cost-effective, nor does it make the biggest contribution to increasing levels of 
activity.   

 
3.4 The number of young people benefiting from the scheme is in significant decline and 

this has been the case since 2013-14.  For the 60 plus age group, the Review 
estimated that only 6% of the target population currently access the programme. 

 
3.5  The Review concludes that this decline is not a result of the declining popularity of 

swimming but is due to a significant reduction in the availability of free swimming 
sessions – due to increased pressure of local authority mainstream leisure budgets, 
changes in the free swimming minimum criteria, a shift in emphasis towards free 
swimming for older people, and reductions in the overall funding and changes to the 
funding formula. 

 
3.6 Against this backdrop, supported by the additional work undertaken with delivery 

partners post-Review, it is clear that the current scheme needs fundamental change 
and if it were to continue with the exiting level of investment it would not be offering 
value for money for the public purse.  

 
3.7  In May 2019, following discussions between Sport Wales and The Welsh 

Government, agreement has been reached in terms of purpose and targeting of a 
revised Free-Swimming Initiative.   

Page 128



  
 

4.0 THE CURRENT 16 AND UNDER FREE SWIMMING PROVISION IN 
THE COUNTY BOROUGH 

 
4.1 The provision currently for 16 years and under in the County Borough is as follows: 
 

 21 hours of free structured aquatic activities session per week at Merthyr 
Tydfil Leisure Centre and Aberfan and Merthyr Vale Community Centre during 
all school holidays. 

 7 hours of free splash session per week at Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre and 
Aberfan and Merthyr Vale Community Centre  during all school holidays 

 1 dedicated structured session for disabled children per week at Merthyr 
Leisure Centre during all school holidays  

 2 hours of free family swimming per weekend at Merthyr Tydfil Leisure Centre 
all year round. 

 
 

5.0 THE CURRENT 60 AND OVER FREE SWIMMING PROVISION IN THE 
COUNTY BOROUGH 
 

5.1 The provision currently for 60 years and over in the County Borough is as follows: 
 

 Splash in all public swimming session all year round. 

 1 hour per week of aqua aerobics all year round. 
 
 

6.0 PROPOSED NEW DELIVERY MODEL FROM SPORT WALES. 
 
6.1 The revised delivery model maintains the current government manifesto commitment 

to Free Swimming although it will be delivered in a more targeted way and provide 
flexibility to better meet the needs of local communities. The scheme will continue to 
provide opportunities for all young people under 16-years of age and every person 
aged over 60, who wishes to access free swimming. The priority will be to ensure 
young people from deprived communities have access to “free splash” sessions 
during summer holidays and weekends, at times most suitable to their needs. The 
opportunity will vary based on the model applied by the Local Authority, but all 
models will align with the objectives set out and the new performance measures 
highlighted below. All models will provide a minimum offer for both U16 and Over 60 
swimming this will be set by local need and intelligence on demand.  

 
6.2 A minimum criteria will not be set as a mandate for all Council’s, but there is a clear 

expectation from Sport Wales that for U16 this will be at least one free splash 
session on weekends in each of the pools and at least 2 additional sessions per 
week in addition to the weekend offer during the summer holidays.  

 
6.3 There will be an expectation from Sport Wales to have a balance between the 

providing for U16 and Over 60s to be addressed with clear prioritisation of provision 
being given to u16’s.  Sport Wales will expect there to be free provision for over 60’s 

Page 129



but the this may be alongside a subsidised offer for those who wish to access the 
scheme on a more frequent or regular basis.  

 
6.4 The Objective for the new Free Swimming initiative are: “To improve people’s health 

and wellbeing by increasing the number of people enjoying swimming or aquatic 
related activities” with the priory to target group of young people aged under 16 
years from deprived communities.  

 
6.5 The Future delivery should be set in the context of the Vision for Sport in Wales, 

Prosperity for All and the Wellbeing of Future Generations Act.  In particular, 
 
• Positive Action - Priority to be given to those who wish to take part in swimming 
but face barriers to being active on a regular basis.The main beneficiaries will be 
young people from deprived communities who will have access to “free splash” 
sessions during summer holidays and weekends, at times most suitable to their 
needs. 
 
• Life Skill - Promote swimming as a life skill through targeted support for young 
people 16 years and under.  
 
• Active Lifestyles - Improve mental and physical health by enabling young people 
(16 years and under) and older adults (60+) to lead active lifestyles through 
swimming.  

 
6.6 The new Free Swimming initiative will no longer solely measure pool access but will 

now focus on actual usage, targeted interventions and report against wider wellbeing 
outcomes.  Improving health and wellbeing such as enjoyment, mental wellbeing and 
social benefits would be regarded as key performance measures, for the scheme 
and will be report alongside usage numbers. It should be noted that as a result of 
implementing these wider impact measurements, it will not be appropriate to 
compare on a like-for-like basis with the previous Free Swimming Initiative.  The 
access for young people to “free splash” sessions during summer holidays and 
weekends will be closely monitored as part of the plans submitted by local 
authorities. 

 
6.7 As from 1st October 2019, the Council will see a 50% reduction in funding from 

Welsh Government for the Free Swimming initiative.  
 

7.0 THE OPTIONS AVAILABILE TO MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY 
BOROUGH COUNCIL MOVING FORWARD. 

 
7.1 Option 1 to continue with the Free Swimming initiative as is currently in operation 

and fund the short fall. 
 
7.2 Option 2 to change the Free Swimming initiative in the County Borough to meet the 

requirements of the new Welsh Government criteria and the reduced funding 
package.  

 
7.3 Option 3 not to deliver the Welsh Government Free Swimming initiative in the County 

Borough. 

Page 130



 

8.0  FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
8.1 If option 1 was the preferred option then the Council would need to find around 

£40,000 to meet the funding gap. 
 
8.2 There are no financial implications on options 2 and 3. 
 

9.0 IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
1 of 4 0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 1 of 10 9 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
 

 
 
ALYN OWEN 
CHIEF OFFICER COMMUNITY 
REGENERATION 

COUNCILLOR GERAINT THOMAS  
PORTFOLIO MEMBER FOR 

REGENERATION AND PUBLIC 
PROTECTION 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

 
 

  

 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 131



This page is intentionally left blank



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 
 

CABINET REPORT 
 

 

 

 

 

 

To:  Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

 

LMS Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation 2019-2020  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report presents the recommendations of the Schools Forum to make changes to 

the Scheme of Delegation.  
 
1.2 These proposals have been outlined in paragraph 4.1, Table 1. 
 
1.3 Consultation has taken place with regards to these options, the outcome of which is 

detailed in paragraph 5.3. 
 

2.0 RECOMMENDATIONS that 
 
2.1 The proposal to amend the Excess Balances thresholds in line with Schools Forum 

recommendations as detailed in 4.1 Table 1 Ref 1 and to reflect this revision in the 
amended policies detailed at Appendices 1 and 2, is approved 

 
2.2 The proposal to reduce the School Meals Administration funding within the Schools’ 

Formula Funding by 20% from April 2020, is approved. 
 
2.3 The proposal to devolve the responsibility for delivering additional support to Special 

Educational Needs (SEN) and Statemented pupils to schools from September 2019 
as a one-year transitional arrangement is approved. This will include the secondment 
of Learning Support staff employed by the local authority to deliver Enhanced 
Provision. 

 

Date Written 8th July 2019 

Report Author Joanna Lewis 
Anthony Lewis 

Service Area School Planning, Support & 
Resources 

Committee Division Portfolio 

Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt 

Committee Date 17th July 2019 

Page 133

Agenda Item 9



2.4 These transitional arrangements become permanent from September 2020 subject 
to Schools Forum approval and a successful TUPE transfer process, as detailed in 
4.1 Table 1 Ref 3. 

 

3.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

 
3.1 In the Spring/Summer Term 2019 the following changes to the Scheme of 

Delegation were agreed with the Schools Forum.   
 

3.2 Excess Balance Thresholds 
 

3.2.1 Currently the regulatory thresholds of £50k/£100k are used to challenge schools with 
excess balances and for financial risk categorisation.  However, these balances do 
not take into account the relative size of each school or school sector.  Therefore 
these excess balances have been reviewed to consider a more appropriate 
prescribed limit across each school sector, which have been recommended as 
follows:  

 Primary - the greater of 5% or £50k 

 Secondary/Special - the greater of 4% or £100k 
 

3.2.2 The relevant polices; Schools Financial Monitoring, Scrutiny and Intervention Policy 
and the Direction of Schools Excess Balances & Clawback Policy (Appendices 1 & 
2) have been amended to reflect these revised prescribed limits. 
 

3.2.3 We are not advising that schools should hold balances to these amounts and the 
policies recommend that Primary school balances should range between 2% - 4% 
and Secondary/Special school balances should range between 2.5 % - 3.5%. 
Therefore, the recommended level of overall balances across the whole ISB should 
be circa 3% as is the case currently.  
 

3.2.4 Balances in excess of the prescribed limits will be subject to the regulations as set 
out in the above policies.   
 

3.3 Online Payment System for School Meals 
 

3.3.1 MTCBC are one of the few local authorities not to have the facility to allow parents to 
pay for school meals online.  Procurement of an online payments system for 
collection of School Meal Income for Primary schools and Secondary Schools will aid 
with the collection of school meals.  Improved automation and reminder prompts for 
payment should have the benefit of reducing arrears as well as easing demand on 
school clerks and reducing central administration support so that this time is used 
more efficiently to focus on ensuring schools apply the school meals arrears policy 
with parents more effectively.  
 

3.3.2 Indicative annual costs are approximately £24,000 which equates to 20% of the 
School Meals Administration funding within the schools’ formula funding.  Initially the 
first year costs circa £12k would be paid via the LMS Contingency Fund (which 
currently stands at £55k). This proposal has been approved via Procurement Board 
for Gateway 1 & 2.    
 

3.3.3 The online payment system will also have the option for schools to use the function 
for Private Fund income with no amendment to the original contract and no 
additional cost.  

Page 134



 
3.4 Additional Support Funding (formerly Enhanced Provision) 

 
3.4.1 The purpose of Enhanced Provision in schools is to provide pupils with additional 

support that is beyond what a school might reasonably be expected to provide 
through their delegated budgets.  This service is currently delivered by the local 
authority through allocating a set number of hours of Learning Support Assistant 
(LSA) support to pupils with various levels of SEN need; School Action, School 
Action + or Statemented; as agreed by the local authority’s Additional Learning 
Needs (ALN) Panel.  This budget is currently circa £1.5 million per annum. 
 

3.4.2 During the Summer Term 2018, following the local authority experiencing significant 
overspend pressure against this budget, it was decided to review the systems, 
processes and effectiveness of the Enhanced Provision service delivery during the 
Autumn and Spring Terms 2018/19.  A working group of local authority staff together 
with six Headteachers worked together to make visits to all schools and to consider 
the impact of the current Enhanced Provision delivered in schools and how the 
system could work together more effectively and make more efficient use of 
resources to benefit pupils, schools and the local authority.  
 

3.4.3 The review findings have been detailed in Appendix 3 and the key recommendations 
were as follows: 

 Local authority to retain overall control of the budget but to devolve responsibility 
to schools for service delivery including the employment, professional 
development/performance management and the effective deployment of learning 
support staff. 

 Local authority to provide schools with an income allocation per academic year so 
that each school can deliver a more bespoke enhanced support service and these 
allocations should not be based on hours allocated per child (unless the child is 
Statemented and has a statutory right to a certain level of service delivery).  

 This bespoke service should be resourced to meet each schools identified need 
whilst also providing schools with a more flexible approach to using staff 
resources so that they are better able to manage their own emerging needs as 
they arise during the year.  

 Local authority to hold a contingency from within the current budget allocation in 
order to meet statutory and acute/medical needs that arise during the year. 

 Income allocations to schools to be reviewed annually in accordance with the 
assessed resource requirement to meet pupil needs and to ensure that the local 
authority is able to manage the service delivery within budget. 

 The service delivery to be re-badged as Additional Support Funding instead of 
Enhanced Provision in order to emphasise the new approach and service delivery 
model and to give schools fresh impetus to manage service delivery differently 
and to meet the needs of their pupils more effectively. 
 

3.4.4 Further to the review findings and the sharing of these with the Headteacher Forums 
additional discussions with the SEN working group continued to ensure that the 
proposed new way of working was fully aligned to the methodology and expectation 
of the Behaviour & Outreach School Support Service including the graduated 
response to managing emerging behavioural issues.  

Page 135



 
3.4.5 Discussions were also held with the Schools Forum and its sub-working group to 

ensure all stakeholders were on board with delivering this change in the most 
effective way possible for pupils, schools and the local authority.  As a result the 
briefing paper shared with the Schools Forum and all schools (see Appendix 4) 
details the final proposals to devolve the responsibility for Additional Support 
Funding (formerly Enhanced Support) to schools from September 2019 initially for a 
one year transitional period subject to further review and decision making during 
2019/20. 
 

3.4.6 This position has been discussed with Trade Unions and they are in support of the 
proposals for the secondment period subject to formal consultation next year in 
support of a TUPE transfer process. 
 

4.0 LMS FAIR FUNDING SCHEME OF DELEGATION CHANGE 
PROPOSALS FOR 2019-20 

 
4.1 On the 24th June 2019, following detailed consideration by the working group, the 

Schools Forum recommended three proposals to change the LMS Fair Funding 
Scheme for the financial year 2019-2020.  See Table 1 below.  
 
Table 1: Schools Forum - LMS Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation Proposals 2019-20 

Ref. Proposal  Description 

1. 
Excess 
Balance 
Thresholds 

Regulatory thresholds of £50k/£100k are used to challenge schools 
with excess balances and for financial risk categorisation.  However, 
these balances do not take into account the relative size of each 
school or school sector. 
 
The Schools Forum has recommended the following revised excess 
balance criteria be effective for categorising schools in 2019/20: 

 Primary - the greater of 5% or £50k 

 Secondary/Special - the greater of 4% or £100k 

2. 
Online 
Payment 
System 

Procurement of an Online Payment system for the collection of School 
Meals Income, with the additional functionality to use for Schools 
Private Fund. This will be implemented October 2019 (half-term).   
 
To fund the proposal Schools Forum voted in favour of reducing school 
meal administration funding by 20% with effect from April 2020   
 
The deduction per school will range from £500 - £1,500  
(average deduction - Primary £750 and Secondary £1,200) depending 
of the level of cash that is collected 

3. 
Additional 
Support 
Funding 

To devolve the responsibility for delivering additional support to SEN 
and Statemented pupils to schools from September 2019, initially as a 
transitional measure for one academic year. This will include the 
secondment of current staff employed to deliver Enhanced Provision. 
 
The aim is to make these arrangements permanent from September 
2020 subject to further review, discussion and decision making in the 
Schools Forum during the Spring Term 2020 and a TUPE process with 
staff/unions from April 2020.   

 

Page 136



 

5.0 CONSULTATION ON SCHOOLS FORUM RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

5.1 The Schools Funding Regulations (2010) require the local authority to consult with 
the governing bodies of all maintained schools on any proposed changes to the 
formula funding for schools and on any changes to the Scheme of Delegation.  
 

5.2 Consultation with all schools took place between 24th June 2019 and the 7th July 
2019.  See Appendix 5 for the Consultation Questionnaire. 
 

5.3 At the end of the consultation period, all 27 completed questionnaires (100% of 
schools) were submitted to the local authority and the summary of the responses is: 

 93% supported the proposal to amend the excess balance thresholds, 7% had no 
strong feeling about the proposal. 

 100% supported the proposal to reduce Schools Meal Administration Funding by 
20% to support the procurement of an online payment system 

 92.6% supported the proposal to devolve the responsibility to schools to deliver 
additional support to SEN and Statemented pupils, 3.7% did not support the 
proposal, 3.7% had no strong feeling about the proposal 
 

6.0 NEXT STEPS 

 
6.1 Excess Balance Thresholds 

 
6.1.1 The changes to the excess balance thresholds will be applied to the Financial 

Monitoring Scrutiny and Intervention Policy and the Direction of Schools Excess 
Balances Clawback Policy from 1st April 2019. 
 

6.1.2 These revised balances will be used when categorising schools for financial risk 
during 2019/20. 
 

6.1.3 A Cabinet report advising of school balances at 31st March 2019 and their financial 
position and categorisation for 2019/20, and over the medium term, will be reported 
in September 2019. 
 

6.2 Online Payment System for School Meals 
 

6.2.1 If approved, the procurement of an online payment system for school meals will go 
out to tender by the end of July with contract award scheduled for September and 
implementation from October half term with full roll out being achieved by end of 
Autumn Term 2019.   
 

6.2.2 School Meals’ Administration Funding to be amended in schools’ formula allocations 
from April 2020. 
 

6.3 Additional Support Funding 
 

6.3.1 The local authority will engage with staff on 18th July to inform them of the proposed 
secondment /transitional arrangement that will be implemented from 1st September 
2019 and advise of the aim to TUPE transfer with effect from September 2020. 
 

Page 137



6.3.2 The responsibility for delivering the service including the secondment of staff will 
then be devolved to schools from 1st September 2019. As part of these 
arrangements, schools will also be provided with a financial allocation, in addition to 
any seconded staff, which they can use flexibly to support SEN needs within the 
school. 
 

6.3.3 The SEN working group will continue to meet to review the effectiveness of 
arrangements and processes over the period of transition and a further review and 
decision making will be taken by the Schools Forum in March 2020 to agree the 
position to be taken forward from September 2020. 
 

7.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 

7.1 If the online payment system is approved, then the LMS contingency will fund the 
initial costs in 2019/20 and the School Meals Administration element in the Schools’ 
Formula Funding will be reduced by 20% in April 2020. 
 

8.0 INTERGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
 1 of 4  0 of 4 3 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5   0 of 5  0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
2 of 10 0 of 10  8 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1  0 of 1  1 of 1 

Summary: 
Positive impacts have been identified against the Best Start to Life Well-being objectives, and 
against the long-term, prevention, integration, collaboration and involvement ways of working 
within the Sustainable Development Principle.  
Positive impacts on children and young people and disability protected characteristics. 
No negative impacts have been identified.  

 
 
 
SUE WALKER 
CHIEF OFFICER, LEARNING 

LISA MYTTON 
CABINET MEMBER FOR LEARNING 

 
 

Page 138



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

School Meals Online 
Payment System 
Gateway 1 & 2 
 
 

May/June 2019 
 
 
 
 

Learning Department 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SCHOOLS FINANCIAL MONITORING, SCRUTINY AND 

INTERVENTION POLICY 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Version 2.0 

Risk Assessing the Financial Sustainability of Schools 
 

Page 141



The local authority risk assesses the financial sustainability of its maintained schools with respect 
to their performance in delivering reasonable surplus balances over both the short and medium 
term. 
 
Schools must be effective, efficient and economical in their use of resources.  Good resource 
management in schools is the result of effective leadership and governance.  
 
This risk assessment incorporates consideration of the following: 

 Current level of school balances.  

 Estimated balances over the term of the school’s Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 Schools outturn position in previous financial years and their track record of delivering against 
budget ie. 
o Successfully delivering against their set budget. 
o Successfully delivering licensed deficit plans. 
o Closing the financial year with unplanned licensed deficits. 
o Successfully delivering against excess balance spending plans 

 

The risk assessment model 

Risk Level Judgement 

RED High risk of closing the current financial year in deficit and at high 
risk of on-going financial deficit. 

AMBER Medium risk of closing the current financial year in deficit and at 
medium to high risk of on-going financial deficit. 

 

OR 

 

High risk of excess balances held being subject to local authority 
direction and clawback  

YELLOW Low to medium risk of closing the current financial year in deficit 
and low to medium risk of on-going financial deficit. 

 

OR 

 

Medium risk of excess balances held being subject to local 
authority direction and clawback 

GREEN Low risk of running a deficit budget both in the current year and in 
the medium term. 

 

AND 

 

Low risk of surplus balances being above the regulatory 
thresholds 

 
 
 

Page 142



Formal Notice of Concern  
 
The local authority may issue a formal notice of concern to the governing body of any school it 
maintains where, in the opinion of the Section 151 officer (Chief Finance Officer) and Chief 
Education Officer (CEO), the school has failed to comply with any provisions of the scheme of 
delegation for financing schools, or where actions need to be taken to safeguard the financial 
position of the local authority or the school (see Annex A). 
 
Such a notice will set out the reasons and evidence for it being made and may place on the 
governing body restrictions, limitations or prohibitions in relation to the management of funds 
delegated to it. 
 
A formal notice of concern will provide a higher degree of monitoring, support and challenge to 
schools in order to ensure that the school is accountable for delivering sustainable financial 
budgets.  Schools with a formal notice of concern should consider how to build capacity within the 
school and governing body to manage finances more effectively. 
 
Criteria to assess risk  
 
The following table provides indicative criteria for the assessment of risk and the appropriate 
judgements. 

Financial 
Risk 

Category 

Criteria to assess risk 

 
RED 
High financial 
risk 
 

Financial Performance 
At least one of the following applies:  

 School ended the financial year in deficit  

 A track record of running a deficit budget  

 School applying for a planned licensed deficit in the new financial year.  

 School planning a marginal surplus budget i.e. <0.5% or <£10k whichever is lower 
 

Financial Sustainability 

 School considered at high risk of financial deficit in year 2 of the medium term financial 
plan. 

 

 
AMBER 
Medium to 
high financial 
risk 
 

Financial Performance 
At least one of the following applies: 

 A track record of running a deficit budget  

 School ended the financial year in surplus and planning a marginal surplus budget in 
the current year i.e. <1.0% or <£15k whichever is lower 

 Subject to direction or clawback of excess balances in line with the Direction of 
Schools Excess Balances & Clawback Policy i.e. holding a surplus balance the 
greater of 5% or £50k in Primary Schools and the greater of 4% or £100k in 
Secondary/Special Schools for at least two years.  

 
Financial Sustainability 

 School considered at medium to high risk of a financial deficit position over course of 
the medium term. 

 

YELLOW 
Low to 
medium 

Financial Performance 
At least one of the following applies: 

 School ended the financial year in surplus and planning a surplus budget in the 

Page 143



 
Monitoring 
 

 RED risk level schools will be issued with a formal notice of concern and a high level of 
monitoring (see below). 

 

 AMBER risk level schools will be provided with a statement of recommended practice for 
financial governance in schools.  This will act as an early warning tool for the school and local 
authority of the potential financial risks facing the school, provide an opportunity for best 
practice to be implemented and for a greater level of high level monitoring of the schools 
financial position to be undertaken.   

 

 YELLOW risk level schools will have low level of monitoring.   
 

 GREEN risk level schools will have no additional monitoring. 
 
Monitoring for Red and Amber Risk Levels 
 

Monitoring Requirements/Restrictions RED AMBER 

Relevant staff must undertake appropriate training to address any 
identified weaknesses in the financial management of the school. 

Y Strongly 
recommended 

The school must operate a separate standalone finance committee. Y Strongly 
recommended 

Where a separate finance committee is established then an 
appropriately trained/qualified person must chair the finance 

Y Strongly 
recommended 

financial risk current year i.e. <2.0% or <£20k whichever is lower. 

 School has been in a deficit budget position within the last 2 years 

 Subject to first year of an excess balances plan in line with the Direction of Schools 
Excess Balances & Clawback Policy i.e. holding a surplus balance the greater of 5% 
or £50k in Primary Schools and the greater of 4% or £100k in Secondary/Special 
Schools for one financial year.  
 
 

Financial Sustainability 

 School considered at low to medium risk of a financial deficit position over the medium 
term. 

 

 
GREEN 
Low financial 
risk 
 

Financial Performance  

 School ended the financial year with a surplus balance at least 2% but less than the 
prescribed limits in the Direction of Schools Excess Balances & Clawback Policy i.e. 
less £50k/5% for Primary schools and less than £100k/4% for Secondary/Special 
schools.  

 
And at least one of the following applies: 

 School planning a surplus budget in the current year i.e. >2.0% or >£20k whichever is 
lower. 

 A track record of running surplus balances between 2% and 5% 
 
Financial Sustainability 

 School considered at low risk of a financial deficit position over the medium term. 
 

Page 144



committee of the governing body and that Chair must be a different 
person to the Chair of Governors to ensure appropriate scrutiny and 
accountability of the finance committee and governing body. 

Regular finance committee meetings must take place. Half 
Termly  

Termly 

School to submit copy of finance committee reports to the local 
authority at least 2 working days prior to meetings and to provide any 
other finance or related information upon request.  

Half 
Termly  

 

Termly 

Any other officer as requested by the Chief Finance Officer (CFO) 
and/or Chief Education Officer (CEO) will attend the finance committee 
or full governing body meetings as appropriate in order to discuss the 
Schools Finances.  This may take place at short notice. 

Y Y 

Headteacher and Chair of Governors to meet with officers of the 
CFO/CEO. 

Once a 
term 

On request 

Other particular restrictions or limitations as appropriate based on the 
particular circumstances relevant to the schools financial predicament. 

Y Y 

Local Authority reports to Audit Committee quarterly. Y Y 

School reports to Audit Committee as required. Y N 

 
The CFO/CEO can approve amendments to the issued Formal Notice of Concern at the request of 
the Governing Body if this is considered appropriate in the circumstances.  These requests will be 
considered on a case by case basis. 
 
If in the judgement of the CFO/CEO the Governing Body is failing to comply with the Formal Notice 
of Concern and is placing the school and/or local authority at risk of not delivering their licensed 
deficit plan then the local authority will exercise its powers of intervention in one or more of the 
following ways as appropriate.  
 

Further Monitoring/Intervention RED AMBER 

Upgrade the risk level to RED. N Y 

Issue a revised formal notice of concern with additional requirements and/or 
restrictions. 

Y N 

Review the capacity and capability of the school’s leadership including the SLT 
and Governing Body. 

Y Y 

Issue a formal warning notice. Y N 

Remove the school’s delegated budget. Y N 

 
Monitoring for Amber Risk Level 
 

 The school should operate a separate standalone finance committee & meet at least termly. 

 All Governing Body finance papers must be submitted to the LA within 2 working days of the 
upcoming meeting accompanying minutes within 10/15 working days.  

 School to seek approval from CFO/CEO to undertake expenditure that will lead to the year-end 
position being less than the budgeted position (as is required in the scheme of delegation). 

Page 145



 Headteacher and Chair of Governors to meet with appropriate officers of the CFO and CEO 
upon request of the Local Authority. 

 
 
Timeline for Annual Risk Assessment Process 
 

DATE ACTION RESPONSIBLE 

Mid May Closure of Accounts for previous year. CFO 

31st May  Set annual budget. Governing Bodies 

30th June Agree MTFP for presentation to Governing Body Headteacher 

End Summer 
term 

Agree Financial risk and inform Chair of Governors and 
Headteacher. 

CFO/CEO 

1st Week of 
Autumn term 

Issue Notice of Concern to RED Schools and 
Statements of Recommended Practice to AMBER 
schools. 

CFO/CEO 

 
 

 
 

Page 146



Annex A 
 

Issuing Formal Notices of Concern (Financial Management) 
 
The local authority’s Scheme for Financing Schools outlines the financial relationship between the 
LA and the maintained schools that it funds in respect of financial management and associated 
issues that are binding on both the Authority and its schools. 
 
The scheme requires governing bodies to seek agreement of the Chief Education Officer and 
Chief Finance Officer prior to incurring any expenditure which is not in accordance with the 
scheme and also both Chief Officers can request their staff attend any meeting of the Governing 
Body to consider matters of financial probity etc.  
 
If the provisions of the scheme are substantially or persistently breached, a budget share has not 
been satisfactorily managed or intervention is exercised in accordance with sections 14 and 17 of 
the Schools Standards and Framework Act, then delegation may be suspended subject to a right 
of appeal to the Welsh Assembly Government.  
 
The issuing of a notice of concern is therefore to ensure that the Local Authority has a robust 
framework for monitoring, scrutiny and intervention and takes appropriate steps prior to the 
ultimate sanction of removing a school’s delegated budget. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer under Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 is responsible for 
the proper administration of the Authority’s financial affairs, under the general direction of the 
Council.  The scope of the duties of the Chief Finance Officer under Section 151 includes all 
aspects of the financial management undertaken by a governing body. 
 
The Association of Directors of Education Wales (ADEW) issued guidance in 2012 including 
recommended text for the Notice of Concern, but alternative wording and any additional 
conditions, prohibitions or limitations a local authority considers to be relevant in support of a 
notice of concern may be included as appropriate. 
 
Recommended text is provided below: 
 
LA Notice of Concern 
 
‘The Local Authority may issue a notice of concern to the governing body of any school it 
maintains where, in the opinion of the Section 151 officer (Chief Finance Officer) and Chief 
Education Officer, the school has failed to comply with any provisions of the scheme, or where 
actions need to be taken to safeguard the financial position of the local authority or the school.  
 
Such a notice will set out the reasons and evidence for it being made and may place on the 
governing body restrictions, limitations or prohibitions in relation to the management of funds 
delegated to it. 
 
These may include: 

 insisting that relevant staff undertake appropriate training to address any identified weaknesses 
in the financial management of the school; 

 insisting that an appropriately trained/qualified person chairs the finance committee of the 
governing body; 

Page 147



 placing more stringent restrictions or conditions on the day to day financial management of a 
school than the scheme requires for all schools – such as the provision of monthly accounts to 
the local authority; 

 insisting on regular financial monitoring meetings at the school attended by local authority 
officers; 

 requiring a governing body to buy into the local authority’s financial management systems; and 

 imposing restrictions or limitations on the manner in which a school manages extended school 
activity funded from within its delegated budget share – for example by requiring a school to 
submit income projections and/or financial monitoring reports on such activities.’ 
 

 

Page 148



Appendix 2 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

DIRECTION OF SCHOOLS EXCESS BALANCES  
& CLAWBACK POLICY 
 

Page 149



1. Introduction 
 
1.1 The Education Reform Act 1988 introduced Local Management of Schools and the 

requirement for schools to receive delegated budgets.  With this came the right for 
schools to carry forward balances from one financial year to the next.  The Council’s 
Fair Funding Scheme for Financing Schools is required to contain a statement to that 
effect.  The following is an extract from the Council’s Fair Funding Scheme: 

 
‘4.1 The Right to Carry Forward Surplus Balances 
 
Schools will be allowed to carry forward from one financial year to the next any 
underspend on its budget share for the year plus/minus any balance brought forward 
from the previous year.’ 

 
1.2 In September 2010 The School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010 came into force 

and gave Local Authorities powers to direct schools to spend surplus balances or to 
clawback surplus balances. 

  
1.3  The Council’s Fair Funding Scheme for Financing Schools is required to contain a 

statement outlining the Local Authority’s powers relating to surplus school balances.  
The following is an amended extract from the Council’s Fair Funding Scheme: 

 
‘4.2 Treatment Of Surplus Balances 

 
4.2.1 Reporting On The Intended Use Of Surplus Balances 
 
Governing bodies will be required to report to the Authority on the use which the 
school intends to make of surplus balances in cases where the total balance 
exceeds the locally prescribed limits set out in 4.2.3 below.  

 
4.2.2 Regulatory Thresholds 
 
In accordance with The School Funding (Wales) Regulations 2010 the local authority 
has the power to direct a governing body how to spend a surplus of £50,000 or more 
in the case of a nursery/primary school and £100,000 or more in a secondary school/ 
special school.  
 
Should the governing body fail to comply with the local authority direction then the 
amount of the surplus could be recovered and applied to the local authority’s Schools 
Budget.’ 
 
4.2.3  Locally Prescribed Limits  
 
In recognition that some schools may hold more than the £50k/£100k regulatory 
thresholds but less than a reasonable % balance the LA will exercise the powers of 
direction and clawback above the following prescribed limits: 
 
Primary Schools - the greater of 5% or £50k 
Secondary/Special school – the greater of 4% of 100k 

 

Page 150



1.4 It is prudent and recognised as good financial practice for schools to retain a 
contingency the level of which will vary school to school depending on size and 
circumstance. Primary schools are therefore recommended to hold balances of 
between 2% - 4% and Secondary/Special schools are recommended to hold 
balances of between 2.5% - 3.5%. 
 

1.5 The Local Authority recognises that actual balances at the end of the year may differ 
from that predicted for a host of reasons eg. late notification of grant funding, 
unexpected donation, lower energy bills than anticipated, lower staff costs resulting 
from staff turnover and/or maternity, delayed building works etc.  

 
1.6 Some schools may decide to ’earmark’ all or part of their balance.  Balances may 

only be classed as earmarked if the school provides evidence to show that they have 
been set aside for a specific purpose, will be spent within a defined timescale and 
have been approved by the governing body. 

 
1.7 Schools will be required to give reasons for the surplus balance but will be given the 

opportunity to spend it the following year; this would be reflected in the following 
year’s budget and predicted balance. 

 
2. Engaging & Challenging Schools with Surplus Balances  
 
2.1 All Nursery/Primary Schools with balances in excess of the prescribed limits in 1.3 

will be asked to complete and submit a pro-forma return in order to provide detailed 
plans for its use.   

 
2.2 The returned forms will be reviewed by the local authority and the school will be 

expected to plan to spend the additional balances on raising the standards of the 
school eg. Improving pupil outcomes, better quality teaching and learning 
environment, improved ALN provision etc.  

 
2.3 The planned expenditure should be scheduled to be within an appropriate time 

frame, which would usually be within the following years’ budget, and should be 
targeted to deliver clear outcomes where possible, in order to demonstrably provide 
value for money. 

 
2.4 Schools will need to be mindful when planning the use of the balance wherever 

possible not to spend it on recurrent expenditure eg. permanent staff, which might 
not be sustainable in the future and the intended use should be minuted by the 
finance committee and full governing body when approving the school’s budget for 
the financial year. 

 
2.5 For schools with balances in excess of the prescribed limits then the Chief Education 

Officer and Chief Finance Officer will be required to authorise the intended use of the 
balances. 

 
2.6 If a school does not have a specific plan within their budget to use their excess 

balances (above prescribed limits) then the local authority will direct the school to 
spend the surplus as approved by the Chief Education Officer and Chief Finance 
Officer. 

Page 151



 
2.7 If a school fails to successfully bring its level of balances back within the prescribed 

limits by the approved time period (usually by the following financial year end)  then 
the local authority will direct the school to spend the excess balances as part of the 
following year’s budget.  This direction will be approved by the Chief Education 
Officer & Chief Finance Officer.  

 
2.8 In considering a direction to spend the Local Authority will take into account the 

overall standards of the school and target school improvement through the use of the 
expenditure as per 2.2 above.  The direction should include a clear timeframe for the 
expenditure to be incurred and target clear outcomes so that value for money can be 
demonstrated in the use of excess school balances.  

 
2.9 If a school does not adhere to the direction of the Local Authority and/or fails to 

successfully bring the level of balances back within the prescribed limits by the end 
of the approved period, then the local authority will clawback the excess balance 
above the prescribed limits. 

 
2.10 Ordinarily the timeline will be as follows: 
 

o 1st Year of excess balance – School required to plan for use of their balance by 
end of financial year. 

o 2nd Year of excess balance – School directed to spend their excess balance by 
the local authority by end of financial year. 

o 3rd Year of excess balance – Funds are clawed back from the school and spent 
by the local authority on the wider Schools Budget ie. ISB + central schools 
budget. 

 
2.11 The decision to clawback surplus balances will be made by Cabinet following a 

recommendation from the Chief Education Officer and Chief Finance Officer. 
 
2.12 Cabinet’s decision to clawback excess balances will be the final decision and there 

will be no appeals process. 
 
3. How will the Clawback be used 
 
3.1  Any balances clawed back must be spent in the financial period that the clawback 

occurs and must be spent as part of the local authority’s overall Schools’ Budget 
which includes central monies spent on schools as well as the ISB.   

  
3.2  Amounts clawed back will not be used to write off on part or full any other school’s 

deficit.  Schools in a deficit position are required to agree and implement budget 
recovery plans as part of a Planned Licensed Deficit application. 

 
3.3  The school from which the balance is withdrawn may not necessarily benefit 

from the amount withdrawn. 
 
3.4  Cabinet will receive a recommendation from the Chief Education Officer regarding 

the planned use of the balance clawback, and this will also include a consideration of 

Page 152



the Schools Forums views regarding the appropriate use of monies clawed back 
from schools. 

 
3.5  The planned use of monies clawed back should be one-off in nature and targeted to 

deliver clear outcomes where possible, in order to demonstrably provide value for 
money.  Eg. improving standards of achievement, school buildings, invest-to-save 
schemes. 

  
3.6  The Schools Forum will be notified of all amounts clawed back and their use.   
 
4. Timescales 
 
4.1  This revised scheme will become effective immediately and will be applied to 

2018/19 year-end balances.   
 
4.2  Schools are required to receive notification of their Formula Allocation for each 

financial year by 31st March preceding the year in question, the Local Authority will 
make every effort to notify schools as soon as practicable.  Schools also receive a 
three year indicative budget. 

 
4.3  The Local Authority is required to close its accounts for each financial year by mid-

May of the following year. 
 
4.4  By 31st May all schools must set their budgets for the new financial year.  The 

school’s budget must include provision for all planned expenditure in the financial 
year and be ratified by the full governing body.   

 
4.5  Each school with an outturn balance in excess of the respective limits will receive a 

request and a pro-forma by the end of April of how the school plans to use its 
balance.  Schools may be required to provide documentary evidence eg. School 
Improvement Plan, governing body minutes, copy of quotes received and orders 
placed.  This information will be required by 31st May in line with the schools budget 
setting. 

 
4.6 Schools will be contacted by the local authority before the end of the Summer Term 

to clarify any matters and to confirm whether the plans to spend the excess balances 
are acceptable.   

 
4.7 If the plans submitted do not meet the criteria/do not indicate an appropriate spend 

the Head Teacher/Chair of Governors will be notified and reasons given.  The school 
will be asked to resubmit plans by the end of the Summer Term .   

 
4.8 Failure to return the completed pro-forma or to provide the required supporting 

documentation will result in a directive to spend the excess balance during the 
current financial year.  

 
4.9 Should the plan still not indicate an appropriate  spend then the Local Authority can, 

if it so wishes, direct the school to spend the excess balance during the current 
financial year. 

 

Page 153



4.10 The balances will be monitored during the year and if the excess balance remains 
unspent or uncommitted at the end of the financial year then the Local Authority will 
in the first instance direct the school to spend and to record this as part of their 
budget setting process by the end of Summer Term. 

 
4.11 If a school fails to bring its level of balances back within prescribed limits following a 

direction to spend the local authority will seek to clawback the excess balance by the 
end of the Summer Term.  

 
4.12 The planned use of this money will be reported to the Schools Forum in the first 

meeting of the Autumn Term and the money will be spent during the financial period. 
 
4.13 A monitoring report detailing the expenditure incurred from the monies clawed back 

will be reported to Cabinet and the Schools Forum at the financial year end. 
 
5. Contacts 
 
5.1 Any questions or clarification regarding this scheme should be directed in the first 

instance to the Local Management of Schools (LMS) Manager. 
 
6. Review 
 
6.1 This scheme will be reviewed as and when there are any changes to the Regulation 

and/or guidance whichever is the soonest. 
 
 

Page 154



1 
 

             Appendix 3 

Enhanced Provision Review – Information for Cabinet Report 

Context 

The purpose of enhanced provision is to provide pupils with additional support, which is beyond what a school 

might reasonably be expected to be able to provide. 

Earlier this acadmic year the LA decided to review the systems and processes for the allocation of enhanced 

provision. For this a working group of LA staff together with 6 Headteachers worked together to consider the 

impact of enhanced provision allocated to schools, review current systems and processes and make visits to all 

schools.  

The report from this work would then analyse findings, identify themes and propose recommendations 

informing the future allocation of enhanced provision. 

Overview of the review 

We are grateful to the following Head Teachers for their valuable contribution to the review: 
 
Darren Thomas  Pantyscallog Primary 
Jude Edwards  Abercanaid Primary School  
Karen Wathan    St Mary’s and St Illtyds RC Primary Federation 
Gwyndaf Jones      Ysgol Santes Tudfil 
Owen Morgan    Cyfarthfa Park Primary  
Keith Maher       Pen-y-Dre High School 
Vicly Jefferson   Greenfields Special School 
 
Head teachers were paired with the following LA staff: Alison Devereux, Lisa Beattie,  
Liz Heaven, Hayley Jeans, Bronwen Parry and Jill Watkins. 
 
Visits to schools took place over four weeks and lasted approximately two hours. The review team met with the 
Headteacher and ALNCo of each school. The review questionnaire was sent to all schools prior to the meeting. 

     22 out of 22 Primary schools and 3 out of 4 Secondary schools engaged in the review meeting. 
 
 
      
 
 
Findings  
 

1. The graduated response 
 

 Most schools report that they have a graduated response to meeting the needs of pupils with ALN. 

 Nearly all schools report that they use the documents supplied by the LA to guide their graduated 
response and a few schools have developed their own bespoke version to the school. 

 Pupils targeted for support have a range of additional learning needs and SEBD has become the 
major growth area for applications for enhanced provision. 

 All schools have an identified ALN Governor but this person is not necessarily active in their role. In 
some schools the ALN Governor is proactive and regularly meets with the ALNCo. 

 The amount of ALN designated management time allocated to ALNCos varies considerably.  

 Time taken to complete an enhanced support application is reported to vary between 3 hours and 
2.5 days 

 Many schools commented on the duplication of documents requested 

Page 155



2 
 

 
2.  Enhanced Provision 

 

 Schools expressed surprise at the variation in allocation of enhanced support across schools 

 Schools were unsurprised at the extent of SEBD enhanced support and advanced various theories as 
to the reasons. 

 Schools manage the allocated hours in a range of ways; many schools recognise that shared support 
is the most effective option 

 All schools agree that enhanced support should be allocated for a minimum of two terms before 
being reviewed 

 There is no objective and consistent mechanism for measuring the impact of enhanced support 

 The ratio of agency hours to LA payroll hours is approx. 2:1 

 Most schools recognised advantages in placing enhanced support staff on payroll, but found that the 
HR implications (because of the instability of hours) militated against using payroll staff 

 Most schools found the calibre of payroll staff higher than that of agency staff 

 Approximately 50% of enhanced support LSAs are included in the school’s performance management 
processes 

 Most enhanced support LSAs are included in the school’s training programme 

 A number of constructive suggestions were offered including: setting hours annually, allocating 
funding directly to the school budget 

 
3.  Nursery 

 

 The TAC meeting was seen as crucial in determining the child’s needs on entry to the Nursery 
provision 

 Many schools expressed concern at the quality of the information provided by pre-school settings, 
and the validity of the individual pupil assessment data 

 There continues to be an expectation by professionals and parents that enhanced support                     
will automatically follow the child from pre-school to Nursery 

 
 

 

Page 156



Appendix 4  
 
Additional Support Funding 
 
Proposal for Approval 

To devolve the responsibility for delivering additional support to SEN & Statemented 

pupils to schools from September 2019. 

This will include the management of staff currently employed to deliver enhanced 

support. 

The local authority proposes to devolve this responsibility to schools for one year 

initially as a transitional measure including the secondment of staff currently 

employed. 

The aim is to make these arrangements permanent from September 2020 subject to 

further review, discussion and decision making in the Schools Forum during the 

Spring Term 2020.   

 
Funding 
 
The financial allocation provided is to cover both statemented and non-statemented 
children. This allocation will be for an Academic Year  
 

 Statemented – this allocation is based on the hours of 1-1 support required to 
deliver the provision detailed in each child’s statement. This allocation is 
subject to annual review of each child’s statement. 

 

 Non-Statemented – this allocation is based on the hours of LSA support 
assessed as being required to support all ALN and behaviour needs as 
identified during the review process and as such is not attached to specific 
children. It is hoped that this will give schools increased flexibility to manage 
the needs of their pupils. 

 
The financial allocation for both statemented and non-statemented pupils has been 
based upon a LSA Level 2 (with on-costs) and where pupils have medical needs that 
require specialist support LSA Level 3/4 has been applied.  
 
A 3% uplift has also been included to provide cover for sickness insurance for Non 
Statemented Allocation. 
 
The Authority will provide sickness cover for Statemented Pupils (on a claims basis).  
 
Funding will be issued to the schools on a Financial Year basis (Autumn & Spring 
Terms in September 2019 and Summer Term in April 2020) 
 
This allocation will be reviewed annually in the Spring Term and a revision agreed for 
the following Autumn Term. 

Page 157



Communicating the Additional Support Allocations 

We are currently reviewing all allocations to ensure that they take into consideration 

all available information regarding Early Years pupils placed in Nursery classes from 

September 2019 and final allocations will be shared w/c 24th June.  

Schools will then be issued an email containing the following information: 

a) Financial Allocation for Autumn 2019 & Spring Term 2020 

b) Number of FTE LSAs allocated (equivalent of) for flexible additional support 

c) The named Nursery children transitioning from Early Years provisions that 

have been included within the school’s flexible additional support allocation  

d) Number of Statemented Hours for 1-1 support (inc. transitional hours where 

appropriate)  

e) Breakdown of Statemented Children and hours 

f) Breakdown of Staff and hours that will be charged to School Budget during 

19/20 

g) Additional financial allocation (over and above the staff currently employed) 

that the school can utilise as they see fit to provide flexible additional support 

to meet the needs of their pupils.  

Moving forward, the arrangements will be reviewed on an annual basis, in 

conjunction with the joint SEN Working Group, and allocations will be revised within 

the learning department budget.  

This annual process will be undertaken in the Spring Term taking into account new 

starters, leavers and current demands so that any adjustments to staffing or hours 

can be undertaken in the Summer Term in readiness for the Academic year ahead.  

 
In-Year Demand 
 

1. If there are emerging behavioural needs then this needs to be managed through 

the School Support Service (Outreach & Behaviour) as part of a graduated 

response. The School Support Service will be able to make referral to panel for 

additional allocation if considered appropriate. 

2. Should there be situations that arise during the year in relation to medical 

conditions, out of county children or CLA arriving in Merthyr Tydfil, or acute 

emergency needs arising, then schools could apply for consideration for 

additional funding via the weekly Clearing Panel, which meets on a Thursday.  

3. In order for the panel to have a clear understanding of the situation schools 

would need to provide as much information and evidence of interventions 

(where appropriate) to Danielle Jones for the panel to discuss. 

4. The SEN working group will review the current panel application process to 

streamline where possible 

Page 158



5. Statemented pupils with additional support will be reviewed annually and their 

support agreed and met by the local authority. 

Staff Transfers/HR Implications 

All schools will receive an additional support allocation on top of the existing staff 

contracts. 

Current staff will remain on their existing LA LSA contracts but will be seconded to 

schools for the transitional period September 2019 – August 2020. 

The local authority will engage with Unions and staff regarding these transitional 

arrangements and provide early notice of the intention to TUPE transfer to schools 

with effect from September 2020. 

HR have confirmed the process for transferring LSA contracts from the LA to school 

will require a TUPE transfer of staff.  

This will involve the following processes from March 2020 onwards; 

 LA to seek approval from the School’s Forum for transferring staff contracts to 

schools  

 LA to formally consult with Unions and staff involved  

 Governing bodies to request employee’s files from LA HR as part of TUPE 

transfer. For those schools that are not part of the LA HR SLA this would need 

to involve Judicium.   

 The transfer process involves a period of 45 days approximately  

 Additional DBS checks will not be required as part of the TUPE transfer 

process  

 

Next Steps 

1. The local authority will consult with all schools/governing bodies regarding the 

above proposal 

 

2. The local authority will engage with Unions and Staff w/c 1st July to inform 

them of the proposed secondment arrangements and advise of the aim to 

TUPE transfer with effect from September 2020. 

 

3. A report will be taken to Cabinet advising of Schools Forum approval and the 

school consultation outcomes, engagement with staff and requesting 

approval to implement the proposal from September 2019. 

 

 

4. FAQs to be developed to support the transitional arrangements  

 

Page 159



5. Transitional arrangement will be implemented from 1st September 2019 

 

6. SEN working group to continue to meet to review the effectiveness of 

arrangements and processes. 

 

7. Further discussions, review and decisions would need to be taken by the 

Schools Forum in March 2020 to agree arrangements to be taken forward 

from September 2020. 

 

8. If permanent arrangements agreed by Schools Forum then formal 

consultation with Unions and Staff required during Summer Term 2020 

including the TUPE transfer of staff with effect from September 2020. 

 

 

Recommendation: Schools Forum Members to approve the ‘Proposal for Approval’ 

detailed above to implement transitional arrangements during September 2019 and 

to seek permanent arrangements in time for September 2020. 

Page 160



    

Appendix 5 
 

MERTHYR TYDFIL COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PEOPLE & PERFORMANCE DIRECTORATE 

LEARNING DEPARTMENT 
 
 

LMS FAIR FUNDING SCHEME OF DELEGATION CONSULTATION 
QUESTIONNAIRE:  
 
MONDAY 24TH JUNE 2019 – SUNDAY 7th JULY 2019 
 

A. EXCESS BALANCE THRESHOLDS  
B. ON-LINE PAYMENT SYSTEM  
C. ADDITIONAL SUPPORT FUNDING 

 

 
Name  :        
 
Position :        
 
School :        

Please note that only 1 response per school is required. 

 
PLEASE REFER TO THE FOLLOWING SUPPORTING INFORMATION 
 

Appendix. Additional Support Funding (See Appendix 4 of Cabinet Report)
   

Page 161



    

 
A. EXCESS BALANCE THRESHOLDS 

 
 Regulatory thresholds of £50k/£100k are used to challenge schools with excess 

balances and for financial risk categorisation. 
 
 However, these balances do not take into account the relative size of each school or 

school sector. 
 
 The Schools Forum has recommended the following revised excess balance criteria be 

effective for categorising schools in 2019/20 : 
 
 Primary - the greater of 5% or £50k 
 Secondary/Special - the greater of 4% or £100k 
 
  

a) Do you support the Schools Forum recommendation to change the Excess 
Balance criteria? 
 

 
YES 

 
 
 

 
NO 

 NO  
STRONG  
FEELING 

 
 

 

  

 
b) Additional comments regarding the proposal? 

 
 
 

 

Page 162



    

 
B. ONLINE PAYMENT SYSTEM 

 
 Procurement of an Online Payment system for the collection of School Meals Income, 
 with the additional functionality to use for Schools Private Fund. This will be 
 implemented October 2019 (half-term).   
 
 To fund the proposal Schools Forum voted in favour of reducing school meal 
 administration funding by 20% with effect from April 2020   
 
 The deduction per school will range from £500 - £1,500  
 (Average Deduction - Primary £750 and Secondary £1,200) depending of the level of 
 cash that is collected  
 
  

a) Do you support the Schools Forum recommendation to top slice Schools 
Meals Administration funding within the S52 by 20%? 
 

 
YES 

 
 
 

 
NO 

 NO  
STRONG  
FEELING 

 
 

 

 
b) Additional comments regarding the proposal? 

 
 
 

 

Page 163



    

C. ADDITIONAL SUPPORT FUNDING 
 
 To devolve the responsibility for delivering additional support to SEN & Statemented 
 pupils to schools from September 2019, initially as a transitional measure for one 
 academic year. This will include the secondment of current staff employed to deliver 
 enhanced support. 

 
 The aim is to make these arrangements permanent from September 2020 subject to  
 further review, discussion and decision making in the Schools Forum during the Spring  
 Term 2020 and a TUPE process with staff/unions from April 2020.   
 
  

a) Do you support the Schools Forum recommendation to devolve additional 
support to schools as set out above? 
 

 
YES 

 
 
 

 
NO 

 NO  
STRONG  
FEELING 

 
 

 

 
b) Additional comments regarding the proposal? 

 
 
 

 

 
 

 

PLEASE RETURN TO:  

Joanna Lewis, LMS & Resources Manager, joanna.lewis@merthyr.gov.uk 

Page 164



 
 

Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 
Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 

 

 
 

CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 
 

Support to Special Guardians  
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
 
1.1 This report provides information about the improvements to our support to Special 

Guardians in line with the Code of Practice and our development of the Early Help 
Hub. 

 
 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1  Special Guardianship Orders (SGO) were introduced in England and Wales in 

December 2005 to provide, 'an alternative legal status for children that offers greater 
security than long term fostering but without the absolute legal severance from the 
birth family that stems from an Adoption Order’.  In 2018, Welsh Government 
published its Code of Practice for Special Guardianship under the Social Services 
and Wellbeing (Wales) Act 2014 and it includes an emphasis on Special 
Guardianship Orders providing a ‘firm foundation on which to build a lifelong 
permanent relationship between the child and their carer' (Special Guardianship 
(Wales) Regulations 2018: Guidance). 

 
2.2  Applications for a Special Guardianship Order can be made by any of the following 

identified in the list below but most often arise from the process of Care Proceedings 
during which the authority has identified and assessed a relative as based placed to 
meet a child’s permanent needs.  The Special Guardian will have Parental 
Responsibility (PR) for the child and will have responsibility for the day-to-day 

Date Written June 2019 

Report Author Annabel Lloyd 

Service Area Children’s Services  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non Exempt 

Committee Date 17th July 2019 

Page 165

Agenda Item 10



 
 

decisions about caring for the child to the exclusion of anyone else who might have 
PR (apart from another Special Guardian). 

 
2.3 Those who can apply for Special Guardianship: 

 Any guardian of the child; 

 Where the child is subject of a Care Order or an Interim Care Order, any person 
who has the consent of the Local Authority; 

 A Local Authority foster carer who is a relative of the child or with whom the child 
has lived for one year immediately preceding the application (even if the Local 
Authority does not consent) ; 

 Anyone who is named in a Child Arrangement Order as a person with whom the 
child is to live; 

 Anyone who has the consent of each person named in a Child Arrangements 
Order as a person with whom the child is to live; 

 Anyone with whom the child has lived for three out of the last five years providing 
that the child has not ceased to live with the proposed applicant for more than 3 
months before the making of the application; 

 Anyone who has the consent of all those with PR for the child; or  

 Any other person (including the child and other than a parent) may apply for a 
SGO if he/she has obtained the leave of the Court to make the application. 

 
2.4  Table 1 below provides information about the increasing number of Special 

Guardians known to Children’s Services. 
 
 Table 1 
   

Date  Number of Special Guardians Known to Children’s Services  

01.01.16 79 

01.01.17 90 

01.01.18 111 

01.01.19 127 

 

3.0  CHILDRENS SERVICES DUTIES TO SPECIAL GUARDIANS 
 
3.1  Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council will be responsible for providing the Special 

Guardianship support services for a period of 3 years to children who were looked 
after by the Council prior to the SGO being made, even if the child is no longer living 
in the Merthyr Tydfil County Borough Council area.  The Code of Practice sets out 
the following duties to local authorities.  The authority should develop a support 
services plan in consultation with the child, Special Guardian and health services 
(where a need is identified) and review that plan once per year. 

 

 To provide information to applicants. 

 To carry out assessments in line with Court Guidance. 

 To provide support including any of the following: 

 Information, advice and assistance; 
 Financial support; 
 SGO support groups and networks; 

Page 166



 
 

 Assistance with contact arrangements between child and parent, including 
training/support on managing this; 

 Therapeutic services for the child; 
 Assistance to maintain the relationship including parenting courses, managing 

behaviour, short breaks; 
 Mediation; and 
 Also consider support from mainstream services, including Health Services, 

including CAMHS, education provision, housing and being made aware of 
their entitlement to Social Security Benefits and Tax Credits as appropriate, 
as well as support that may be offered for children who have care and support 
needs, are looked after or who are adopted. 

 
3.2 Many Special Guardians do not ask for help, however some of the children looked 

after by Special Guardians have similar needs to looked after young people, albeit 
the advantage for their identity of being within the family or kinship network.  The rate 
of breakdown is as low as 2%. 

 
3.3 Given the publication of the Code of Practice, Children’s Services have developed 

Practice Guidance for practitioners in order to optimise and standardise our practice 
in this area. 

 
3.4 As part of a new development, we have located our support to Special Guardians 

within the Early Help Hub and await decision about an ICF bid that will fund a 
support worker post to support Special Guardians, carry out reviews and develop 
Information, Advice and Assistance for Special Guardians.  We are seeking to 
establish a relationship and networks for special guardians that would promote early 
identification of need and take up of relevant preventative services in a way that 
would avoid escalation of need and risk wherever possible.  

 
3.5 Children in special guardianship arrangements who have needs for care and support 

will access children’s services in the same way as any other child would.  
 

4.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
4.1  The Council’s current financial circumstances are well understood.  The objective of 

the support to special guardians is early identification and prevention.  Special 
Guardianship provides a positive alternative to being looked after and therefore is an 
efficiency in as much as it represents avoidance of increasing numbers in the care 
system.  

 
4.2  Financial support to special guardians is subject to means testing and is in line with 

Welsh Government published national minimum rates.  
 
4.3  The delivery of this work will be within existing budgets, Children’s Services will need 

to evaluate the effectiveness of grant investment prior to the 2 year lifetime of the 
grant in order to make a decision about whether existing resources will continue to 
provide that service and avoid exceeding budget limits.  

 

Page 167



 
 

 

5.0 STAFFING IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1  Once there is clarity about the ICF funding, recruitment to the post will commence.  
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 
6.1  

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
 4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10  10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1  0 of 1  1 of 1 

Summary: 
There are no negative impacts to the changes proposed, and therefore no further 
adjustments are suggested. 
 

 
 
LISA CURTIS JONES 
CHIEF OFFICER (SOCIAL SERVICES) 
 

COUNCILLOR CHRIS DAVIES 
                         CABINET MEMBER FOR 

SOCIAL SERVICES 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 

Report Title  Document(s) Date Document Location 

Cabinet Report: Children’s 
Services Re-configuration 
Cabinet Report: Early Help Hub 

June/July 2019 Council Website and Civic 
Offices  

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  

No 

 
Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 

of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  
 

Page 168



Civic Centre, Castle Street,  
Merthyr Tydfil    CF47 8AN 

 

Main Tel: 01685 725000 www.merthyr.gov.uk 
 

 

 
CABINET - INFORMATION REPORT 

 

 

 

 

To:   Chair, Ladies and Gentlemen 

Change and Well-being Programme – Quarter 4 
Progress 2018/2019 
 
 

1.0 SUMMARY OF THE REPORT 
  
1.1 This report provides an update on progress of the Change and Well-being 

Programme as of quarter four 2018/19.  The programme for 2018/19 has 
been developed and delivered through the following work-streams: Customer 
and Administrative Support Services; Outcome Focused Redesign (redesign 
of all our frontline services); and also the four well-being objectives which are, 
Best start to Life, Working Life, Environmental Well-being, Living Well.   

 
1.2 The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme is governed by the Change 

and Well-being Programme Board (CWPB).  The CWPB is chaired by the 
Deputy Chief Executive. The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme 
works alongside the Budget Board to address the financial requirements of 
MTCBC.  The operational delivery of identified change programmes and 
projects is monitored via the MTCBC Change and Well-being Steering Group 
(CWSG).   

 
1.3 It should be noted that the final position for 2018/19 shows that delivery is at 

96% of the anticipated savings this equates to a saving of £2,687,000 against 
a target for the programme of £2,786,000.  

 
1.4 The next steps regarding the Change and Well-being Programme will be to 

identify, then support delivery of, corporate priority work-streams for MTCBC.  
This will continue the work on the delivery of change for 2019/20 in line with 
budget planning through the medium term financial plan.  These proposals will 
follow the operating model design for MTCBC under the work-streams of the 

Date Written 4th  July 2019 

Report Author Matthew Rivers / Lorna Townsend 

Service Area Corporate Services  

Exempt/Non Exempt Non-Exempt 

Committee Date 17th July 2019 

Page 169

Agenda Item 11



11 newly identified priorities, these are: Children Looked After and Transition 
into Adulthood; Corporate Process Efficiency; Education; Engagement 
Programme; Governance; Income; Leisure Trust; Personnel; Poverty 
Programme; Programme of Change; Strategic Land Use; Corporate 
Sustainability.   

 
 

2.0 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 
 
2.1 Cabinet Members will be aware of the ‘Provisional Revenue Outturn 2018/19’ report 
 presented to Cabinet on the 19th June 2019.  The report outlines a provisional 
 balanced net revenue outturn following a further contribution of £560,000 from 
 budget reserve. 

 
2.2  To arrive at this position, address the financial pressures of 2018/19 and going 

 forward for MTCBC, three work-streams have been developed and will continue 
 within the programme.  These are: Customer and Administration Service; Outcome 
 Focused Redesign, and Social Services (redesign of our frontline services).   

 

2.3  Aligned with the statement of Well-being, the Council has four Well-being objectives 
 these are: 

 
2.3.1 Working Life: 

People feel supported to develop the skills required to meet needs of 
businesses, with a developing, safe infrastructure which makes Merthyr Tydfil 
an attractive destination 

 
2.3.2 Environmental Well-being: 

Communities protect, enhance and promote our environment and countryside 

 
2.3.3 Living Well 

People are empowered to live independently within their communities, where 
they are safe and enjoy good physical and mental health. 

 
2.3.4 Best Start to Life 

Children and young people get the best start to life and are equipped with the 
skills they need to be successful learners and confident individuals 

 
2.4  The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme is governed by the Change and 

 Well-being Programme Board (CWPB).  The Change and Well-being Programme 
 Board is chaired by the Deputy Chief Executive.  The Change and Well-being 
 Programme Board reviews change programmes and projects and has the authority 
 to call on service managers and/or programme/projects managers to challenge and 
 support them on the delivery of their programmes/projects.   

 

2.5  The MTCBC Change and Well-being Programme works alongside the Budget Board 
 to address the financial requirements of MTCBC.  As such this report supports the 

Page 170



 ‘Provisional Revenue Outturn 2018/19’ report presented to Cabinet on the 19th June 
 2019.   

 

2.6  The operational delivery of identified change programmes and projects is monitored 
 via the MTCBC Change and Well-being Steering Group (CWSG).  The CWSG 
 provides challenge and support to service managers and, in conjunction with the 
 CWPB, hold managers accountable for delivering proposed savings.  The group 
 comprises of MTCBC officers and is chaired by the Head of Strategic Support 
 Services and is made up of staff members from Business Change, Performance, 
 Legal, HR, Corporate Communications, Finance, Equalities and Risk, and Social 
 Services.  This approach allows the programme to maintain the pace required for 
 delivery in implementing the work-streams outlined above. 

 
 

3.0 PROGRESS – QUARTER FOUR  
 
3.1 To be able to manage the programme effectively, the work-streams have been 
 categorised as follows: 

 

Category Explanation 

Blue Project 100% complete and savings accrued 

Green Successful delivery of the project/programme to time, cost 
and quality appears highly likely and there are no major 
outstanding issues that at this stage appear to threaten 
delivery significantly 

Amber Successful delivery appears feasible but significant issues 
already exists requiring management attention. These 
appear resolvable at this stage and if addressed promptly, 
should not present a cost/schedule overrun 

Red Successful delivery of the project/programme appears to 
be unachievable. There are major issues on 
project/programme definition, schedule, budget required 
quality or benefits delivery, which at this stage does not 
appear to be manageable or resolvable. The 
Project/Programme may need re-baselining and/or overall 
viability re-assessed 

 
3.2  The work-streams outlined below are to address changes required for 2018/19.  The 

 current status of these work-streams is summarised in the table below:  
 

 
 

 

Page 171



 
 

3.3  The Change Programme has identified a saving of 93%, in financial terms this is a 
 saving of £1,291,000 against a target of £1,390,000.   

 
3.4  Progress has been made within the Customer and Administration Project.  The 

 introduction of more online forms for service requests, the introduction and evolution 
 of the new telephone system based on the feedback from the customer 
 questionnaire, further improvements and additions to the online offering are being 
 developed.  It is the timescales for deliver that means the status is red. 

 

3.5  Social Care projects remain red as options are currently being considered/ consulted 
 upon continuing into financial year 2019/20.  

 

3.6  The savings attributed to Adult Services for some projects have not been met. These 
 savings were significant in the allocation attributed to Social Care. 

 

 

4.0 Next Steps 
 
4.1 To work on delivery of change and well-being to meet the targets set for 2019/20.   

 
4.2  To develop options from the 11 priorities work-streams in the Change Programme.   
 
4.3 To continue to develop and support the implementation of proposals to meet the 
 financial pressures and well-being objectives.  These will be based on the operating 
 model design for services and align to the Change Programme, the 11 priorities for 
 the Change Programme have been mentioned above. There may be other 
 opportunities that will be identified as the year progresses and opportunities arise. 
 Work-stream delivery will be supported by the Business Change Team working with 
 key officers and departments from across the Council to implement the programme.  
 The Change and Well-being Steering Group will provide cross-Council support of 
 delivery. 

 

4.3  To continue to monitor, challenge and support the delivery of the change programme 
 via the Change and Well-being Steering Group and Change and Well-being 
 Programme Board. 

 
 

Page 172



5.0 FINANCIAL IMPLICATION(S) 
 
5.1 There are no financial implications relating to this report 

 
 
 

6.0 INTEGRATED IMPACT ASSESSMENT 
 

 Positive 
Impacts 

Negative 
Impacts 

Not 
Applicable  

1. Merthyr Tydfil Well-being 
Objectives 

  
4 of 4 0 of 4 0 of 4 

2. Sustainable Development 
Principles - How have you 
considered the five ways of 
working: 

 Long term 

 Prevention 

 Integration 

 Collaboration 

 Involvement 
 

5 of 5 0 of 5 0 of 5 

3. Protected Characteristics 
(including Welsh Language) 

 
0 of 10 0 of 10 10 of 10 

4. Biodiversity 
 

0 of 1 0 of 1 1 of 1 

Summary: 
 
The main positive impacts are against the well-being objectives and sustainable 
development principles.  Projects are aligned to meeting the well-being objectives. 
Forward plans and projects are to be delivered via the 5 ways of working.  
 
There are no negative impacts. 
 

 

 
ELLIS COOPER 
DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

COUNCILLOR ANDREW BARRY 
CABINET MEMBER FOR GOVERNANCE 

AND CORPORATE SERVICES 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 173



 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
Title of Document(s) Document(s) Date Document Location 

   
 

Does the report contain any issue that may impact the Council’s 
Constitution?  
 

No 

 
 

Consultation has been undertaken with the Corporate Management Team in respect 
of each proposal(s) and recommendation(s) set out in this report.  

 

Page 174



Document is Restricted

Page 175

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 181

By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 189

Agenda Item 13
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 195

Agenda Item 14
By virtue of paragraph(s) 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 2019/20 – Quarter 1
	4 Capital Budget Monitoring 2019/20 – Quarter 1
	5 Support To The Lord Lieutenants Office Of Mid Glamorgan
	6 Cwm Taf Carers Annual Report 2018-19
	Appendix 1

	7 Food Enforcement Service Plan 2019/20
	Appendix 1

	8 Changes To The Welsh Government Free Swimming Initiative And Grant
	9 LMS Fair Funding Scheme of Delegation 2019-20
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5

	10 Support to Special Guardians
	11 Change And Wellbeing Programme Quarter 4 Progress 2018/19
	12 Capita One - Hosting and Technical Support
	Appendix 1

	13 Cyfarthfa Heritage Area Masterplan – Appointment of Design-Led Team
	14 YMCA Re-Development

